

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of PhD at the University of Warwick

Permanent WRAP URL: http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/184753

Copyright and reuse:

This thesis is made available online and is protected by original copyright. Please scroll down to view the document itself. Please refer to the repository record for this item for information to help you to cite it. Our policy information is available from the repository home page.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk

Nanoscale Hafnium Oxide Passivation for Photovoltaic and Electronic Devices

Ailish Wratten



University of Warwick

Faculty of Science, Engineering and Medicine

School of Engineering

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering

May 2023

Table of Contents

List of Figures	7
List of Tables	
Publications	
Acknowledgements	
Declaration of Authorship	
Abstract	23
Chapter 1 Introduction	24
1.1 Motivation	
1.2 Thesis Outline	
Chapter 2 Background	
2.1 Semiconductors	
2.1.1 Semiconductor materials	
2.1.2 Metal-semiconductor interfaces	
2.1.3 Band bending	
2.1.4 Dielectrics	
2.2 Passivation	
2.2.1 Photovoltaic devices	
2.2.2 Barrier layers	
2.3 Film growth	
2.4 Hafnium oxide	
2.4.1 Development of HfO_2 thin films	
2.4.2 Etching and patterning of HfO ₂	
Chapter 3 Methodology	51

		ว เ
	3.1.1 Wafer cleaning	51
	3.2 Fabrication	52
	3.2.1 Atomic layer deposition	52
	3.2.2 Electron beam evaporation	56
	3.2.3 Photolithography	57
	3.3 Characterisation	59
	3.3.1 Spectral reflectance	59
	3.3.2 X-ray diffraction	61
	3.3.3 Photoconductance	63
	3.3.4 Kelvin probe	67
	3.3.5 Corona charging	70
	3.3.6 Expanded Cox and Strack method	72
Cł	napter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO2 Thin Films	74
Cł	apter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO2 Thin Films	74 74
Cł	 hapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO2 Thin Films 4.1 Motivation 4.2 Experimental details 	74 74 76
Cr	 4.1 Motivation 4.2 Experimental details 4.2.1 Sample Fabrication 	74 74 76 76
Cr	 Aapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO₂ Thin Films 4.1 Motivation 4.2 Experimental details 4.2.1 Sample Fabrication 4.2.2 Characterization 	74 74 76 76 77
Cr	 Aapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO₂ Thin Films	74 74 76 76 77 79
Cr	 Aapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO₂ Thin Films	74 74 76 76 77 79 79
Cr	 Aapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO₂ Thin Films	74 74 76 76 76 76 79 80
Cr	 Aapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO₂ Thin Films	74 74 76 76 76 76 79 79 80 82
Cr	 hapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO2 Thin Films	74 74 76 76 76 76 79 79 80 82 84
Cr	hapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO2 Thin Films	74 74 76 76 76 76 79 79 80 82 84 85
Cr	 hapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO2 Thin Films	74 74 76 76 76 76 76 79 79 80 80 82 85 85

4.4.3 Si/Al ₂ O ₃ /HfO ₂ vs Si/HfO ₂ /Al ₂ O ₃	89
4.4.4 Thickness vs density	90
4.5. Case Study	93
4.5.1 Lifetime control	93
4.6 Conclusions	95
4.7 Future Work: Localised annealing	
4.7.1 Laser annealing	96
4.7.2 Stamp annealing	100
4.7.3 Heat-gun annealing	101
4.8 Contributions	103
Chapter 5 Mechanisms of Silicon Surface Passivation by HfO ₂ Thin Films	104
5.1 Motivation	105
5.2 Experimental details	106
5.2.1 Sample fabrication	106
5.2.2 Characterisation	108
5.3 Optimisation of activation annealing conditions	110
5.3.1 Annealing ambient	110
5.3.2 Annealing time	110
5.3.3 Annealing temperature	111
5.4 Distinguishing between surface and bulk effects	112
5.4.1 Superacid re-passivation	112
5.5 Physical characteristics	115
5.5.1 Film crystallinity	115
5.6 Electrical characteristics	116
5.6.1 Contact potential difference	117
5.6.2 Surface photovoltage	117

5.6.3 Field-effect vs chemical passivation	119
5.7 Conclusions	121
5.8 Future Work: Passivation enhancement	122
5.8.1 Annealing Ambient	123
5.9 Contributions	124
Chapter 6 The Potential of HfO2 Thin Films as Passivating Contacts	
6.1 Motivation	125
6.2 Experimental Details	127
6.2.1 Dielectric layer deposition	127
6.2.2 Film characterisation	128
6.2.3 Contact fabrication	129
6.3 Characterisation of ultra-thin HfO ₂ films	131
6.3.1 Passivation potential	131
6.3.2 Film crystallinity	133
6.4 Contact optimisation	135
6.5 Variations of the HfO_2 layer	136
6.5.1 Film thickness	137
6.5.2 Annealing Temperature	139
6.6 Enhancing carrier transport	141
6.6.1 Thin stacks	141
6.6.2 Micro-PERC	142
6.7 Conclusion	145
6.8 Contributions	146
Chapter 7 Conclusion	147
7.1 Key findings	147
7.2 Research outlook	149

Ref	erences	152
	7.2.4 Zirconium	150
	7.2.3 Micro-PERC	150
	7.2.2 Wafer patterning	149
	7.2.1 Protective barrier layers	149

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Schematic of a pn junction, where an n-type and p-type material come into
contact, forming a depletion region between the two materials that produces an
internal electric field
Figure 2.2: Current-voltage (IV) characteristics of (a) an Ohmic contact, and (b) a
Schottky contact
Figure 2.3: Band diagrams of metal-semiconductor contacts, depicting band bending
when (a) the metal work function is greater than the semiconductor work function,
and (b) vice versa. E_{vac} is the vacuum energy, φ is the work function, E_F is the Fermi
level, and E_v and E_c are the valance and conduction band energies, respectively, This
figure has been adapted from [32]
Figure 2.4: Band diagrams of n-type semiconductors with accumulation, depletion, or
inversion layers. The orange box highlights the space charge region for each structure.
This figure has been adapted from [32]
Figure 2.5: Schematic of electric polarisation within a dielectric material, resulting from
the application of an external electric field, E
Figure 2.6: Schematics of (a) an AI-BSF cell, (b) a PERC cell, (c) a TOPCon cell, and (d)
a HJT cell. Structures include anti-reflective coatings (ARC), back surface fields (BSF),
electron transport layers (ETL), and transparent conductive oxides (TCO)
Figure 2.7: Schematic to illustrate the three main stages involved in the formation of
a thin film structure: (a) nucleation, (b) crystal growth, (c) grain formation, and (d) grain
boundaries as they would be seen through a microscope. This figure has been
adapted from Mehl et al. [54]
Figure 3.1: Schematic comparing light reflection on flat and textured surfaces. Arrows
indicate the direction of light rays, with each interaction at the surface allowing for
further absorption into the substrate. This image has been adapted from [91] 53
Figure 3.2: Depiction of the stages involved in a standard ALD cycle: (a) prepared
substrate, (b) precursor A reacts with surface, (c) by-products are purged using carrier
gas, (d) precursor B reacts with surface, (e) by-products purged using carrier gas, (f)
cycle repeats. This figure has been adapted from Ref. [92]

bar is the initial measured thickness before immersion in TMAH. The blue section highlights the measured thickness after the sample is immersed in a 10% HF solution Figure 4.4: Thickness of HfO₂ films deposited at 200 °C on (a) silicon and (b) ~20 nm of Al₂O₃ on silicon, annealed at different temperatures, measured via reflectometry, as a function of time spent in a 10% HF solution. This data set is produced from averaging results across up to six repeated experiments. The orange shaded bands Figure 4.5: GI-XRD patterns, using a Cu K- α source, taken from samples of ~26 nm (200 cycles) of HfO₂ deposited (a) directly onto polished silicon, and (b) on polished silicon samples with a ~20 nm (160 cycles) Al₂O₃ interlayer. Samples were annealed in air for 30 min at temperatures ranging from as-deposited (200 °C) to 400 °C. Patterns have been vertically offset for clarity and the main crystallographic planes indexed at Figure 4.6: Thickness of HfO₂ films, deposited on top of either a ~20 nm thick Al₂O₃ layer or directly onto silicon, annealed at 400 °C in air for 30 min, as a function of time in a 10% HF solution. Samples scratched with a diamond scribe are compared to unscratched samples. A diagram of the method of scratching, and measurement Figure 4.7: (a) An optical microscope image of a stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ sample

annealed at 400 °C, after 1 hour in a 25% TMAGH solution. (b) An illustration of the etch pits apparent in the structure, with the dashed lines representing some form of channel through the structure. (c) An AFM scan of a single etch pit in the annealed Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ sample. (d) The depth profile of the etch pit in (c), with the data collected along the white arrow. The dashed section in (d) does not correspond to the physical profile of the base of the etch pit and results from limitations of the AFM tip dimensions.

Figure 4.8: Thickness measurements and optical micrographs of a specific region on a stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ sample, annealed at 350 °C, during immersion in a 10% HF solution. Each micrograph corresponds to a specific data point on the thickness plot. The black dots on each image highlight the reflectometry measurement point....... 88 **Figure 4.12:** (a) A process sequence involving the use of a rear HfO₂ protective layer to fabricate a patterned front-side passivated THz photomodulator. The HfO₂ layer provides protection against etching for the rear Al₂O₃ passivation, whilst the front is patterned and etched through a combination of photolithography and immersion in a 2% TMAH solution. (b) Photoluminescence images acquired with the same exposure conditions (1 Sun, 5 s) of samples with different filling fractions on the front Al₂O₃ surface, producing samples with tuneable carrier lifetimes. The optical micrographs show the patterned passivation structures with Al₂O₃ having been removed from the lighter-coloured periodic features.

Figure 4.14: PL images acquired with the same exposure conditions (1 Sun, 5 s) of (a) a silicon wafer with ~12 nm amorphous HfO_2 , (b) the same sample after a laser

annealing process, and (c) a control wafer annealed in a furnace at 400 °C. (d) A microscope image of laser damage to the silicon wafer, showing the frequency of the laser pulsing, with (e) a close-up image of the damage caused by a single pulse..... 99 Figure 4.15: (a) A photograph of the ceramic washer used for the stamp annealing process, placed atop a Si wafer cut to approximately 1 x1 cm. (b) A photograph of a sample after the stamp annealing process, with a ring of particulates on the surface, left by the washer. (c) A PL image of the same sample......100 Figure 4.16: (a) A schematic of a localised annealing setup, composed of a heat gun with a small nozzle, positioned over a double sided HfO₂ Si sample on a hotplate (turned off). (b) A photograph of a sample after the annealing process, with the red crosses depicting Filmetrics measurement points. (c) Filmetrics data of the sample in Figure 5.1: Lifetime curves for 6 wafers, immediately after cleaning (diamonds), with either a final 2% HF dip, a 1% HF 1% HCl dip, or a DI water rinse. Lifetimes of the same samples, once coated with HfO₂ annealed at 475 °C for 30 minutes, are also shown Figure 5.2: (a) Lifetime curves for 120 μm thick 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si wafers coated with HfO₂ and Al₂O₃ films annealed in various ambients at 475 °C for 30 minutes. (b) Effective lifetimes at an excess carrier density of 5×10^{14} cm⁻³ for each annealing time Figure 5.3: (a) Lifetime curves for 120 μm thick 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si wafers coated with ~12 nm HfO₂ films annealed at 475 °C for different lengths of time. (b) Effective lifetimes at an excess carrier density of 5×10^{14} cm⁻³ for each annealing time in (a), Figure 5.4: (a) Lifetime curves for ~12 nm (100 cycles) of ALD deposited HfO₂ films on 120 μm 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si wafers, annealed at various temperatures (300-475 °C) for 30 min. (b) Lifetime curves of the same type of samples annealed at higher temperatures (500-625 °C) for 30 min. (c) Effective lifetimes at an excess carrier density of 5 \times 10¹⁴ cm⁻³ for each annealing time (d) Upper limit SRV values calculated using equation (31) at an excess carrier density of 5 \times 10¹⁴ cm⁻³, and single sided J₀ values

Figure 5.5: (a) Lifetime curves for select HfO ₂ passivated samples (circles) activated at
the temperatures shown, together with lifetime curves for the same samples after
HfO2 removal and superacid re-passivation (diamonds). The intrinsic limit of Niewelt
et al. [152] is also plotted. (b) Comparison between effective lifetimes measured on
120 μm thick 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si samples passivated with ~12 nm (100 cycles) of ALD-
deposited HfO ₂ versus a TFSA superacid solution, taken at an excess carrier density of
$5 \times 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-3}$
Figure 5.6: GI-XRD measurements, using Cu $K_{\alpha 1/2}$, taken from polished silicon wafers
coated with ~12 nm (100 cycles) of hafnium oxide grown via ALD, annealing in air for
30 min at temperatures ranging from as-deposited (200 °C) to 625 °C. The main
crystallographic planes present are labelled at the top. Spectra are vertically offset for
clarity116
Figure 5.7: (a) Effective work functions of ~12 nm HfO ₂ films deposited on 120 μm
thick 5 Ω cm n-type Cz-Si wafers and annealed for 30 min at different temperatures,
as determined from Kelvin probe measurements, with the dashed curve providing a
guide to the eye. (b) Contact potential different (CPD) data measured under dark and
light conditions for an ALD HfO_2 film annealed at 475 °C, an ALD Al_2O_3 film annealed
at 460 °C, and a PECVD SiN film
Figure 5.8: Corona charging curves showing effective lifetime, extracted at an excess
carrier density of 1 \times 10 15 cm $^{-3}$, of ~12 nm HfO $_2$ passivated 150 μm 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-
Si samples as positive corona charge is increased, at a range of selected activation
temperatures
Figure 5.9: (a) The positive corona charge required to minimize the effective lifetime
(i.e. neutralize the negative field-effect passivation), as a function of activation
temperature. (b) The minimum lifetime reached during corona charging as a function
of annealing temperature, which is indicative of the level of chemical passivation. The
dashed curves in (a) and (b) provide a guide to the eye121
Figure 5.10: Comparison of HfO ₂ films annealed in air, N ₂ , and Ar ambients. (a) Initial
effective lifetime values, extracted at 1 \times 10 ¹⁵ cm ⁻³ . (b) Minimum lifetime values,
extract at 1 \times 10 ¹⁵ cm ⁻³ , achieved from corona charging. (c) Corona charge

Figure 6.11: A schematic of the production of a micro-PERC structure. (a) Initial
pinhole formation, where the exact form of these pinholes is still unknown. (b) The
intentional expansion of pinholes through immersion in an etching solution. (c) Metal
deposition, potentially aided with a heat treatment to allow metal through the
channels to the Si surface143
Figure 6.12: IV measurements of a structure with ~20 nm AI_2O_3 and ~25 nm HfO_2
dielectric interlayers after immersion in a 25% TMAH solution heated to 80 C for (a) 0
min, (b) 30 min, (c) 60 min, and (d) 90 min

List of Tables

Publications

Journal publications

A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, D. Walker, A. B. Renz, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Mechanisms of Silicon Surface Passivation by Negatively Charged Hafnium Oxide Thin Films", *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 13(1), p. 40-47, 2023

A. Wratten, D. Walker, E. Khorani, B. F. M. Healy, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Hafnium oxide: a thin film dielectric with controllable etch resistance for semiconductor device fabrication", *AIP Advances*, vol. 13(1), p. 065113, 2023

A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, A. Yadav, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, L. Black, G. Bartholazzi, D. Walker, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Exploring hafnium oxide's potential for passivating contacts for silicon solar cells", *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, (invited), vol. 259(1), p. 112457, 2023

S. L. Pain, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, **A. Wratten**, G. J. Paez Fajardo, B. P. Winfield, R. S. Bonilla, M. Walker, L. F. J. Piper, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Electronic Characteristics of Ultra-Thin Passivation Layers for Silicon Photovoltaics", *Advanced Materials Interfaces*, vol. 9(28), p. 2201339, 2022

S. L. Pain, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, **A. Wratten**, M. Walker, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Stable chemical enhancement of passivating nanolayer structures grown by atomic layer deposition on silicon", *Nanoscale*, 2023 (under review)

I. R. Hooper, L. E. Barr, S. Saxena, E. Hendry, E. Khorani, X. Romain, T. Niewelt, A. Wratten, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Engineering the carrier lifetime and switching speed in Si-based mm-wave photomodulators", *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 132, p. 233102, 2023

E. Khorani, C. A. Messmer, S. L. Pain, T. Niewelt, B. F. M. Healy, **A. Wratten**, M. Walker, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Electronic Band Offset Determination of Oxides Grown by Atomic Layer Deposition on Silicon", *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, 2023 (under review)

Conferences

A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, N. E. Grant, D. Walker, A. B. Renz, O. Vavasour, J. D. Murphy, "Understanding Hafnium Oxide Passivation for Silicon Solar Cells", *12th SiliconPV 2022*, Konstanz, Germany, March 28th – April 1st, 2022 (poster)

A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, D. Walker, A. B. Renz, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, O. Vavasour, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Understanding Hafnium Oxide Passivation for Silicon Solar Cells", *MRS Spring 2022, EN01 Silicon for Photovoltaics*, Hawaii, USA, 9th May, 2022 (oral)

A. Wratten, D. Walker, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Demonstrating the Robustness of Hafnium Oxide Thin Films", *MRS Spring 2022, EQ06 Surfaces and Interfaces in Electronics and Photonics*, Hawaii, USA 10th May, 2022 (oral)

A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, D. Walker, A. B. Renz, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Understanding Hafnium Oxide Passivation for Silicon Solar Cells", *SuperSolar Annual Conference*, Online, 20th September, 2022 (oral)

A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, A. Yadav, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, L. Black, G. Bartholazzi, D. Walker, N. E. Grant, J. D. Murphy, "Exploring Hafnium Oxide's Potential for Passivating Contacts" *13th SiliconPV 2023*, Delft, The Netherlands, 11th April, 2023 (oral)

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors John D. Murphy and Nicholas E. Grant for all the support they have given me throughout this project. The guidance they have provided has been invaluable. I'd also like to give my thanks to my fellow research group members for providing a such friendly atmosphere and always being on hand to help. I extend my thanks to my other colleagues within the School of Engineering, as well as the external collaborators who have helped bring this work together.

I would like to thank the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) who provided the funding for this PhD project. I am also grateful to the Science City Cleanroom, which provided much of the equipment I used throughout this project, and its members who taught me many of the skills I needed. I'd also like to extend this thanks to the X-ray Diffraction Research Technology Platform (RTP).

I'd like to give particular thanks to Sophie Pain, who has been working alongside me throughout this entire journey. Our campus walks and coffee breaks have been an absolutely critical aspect of this experience, and I would have definitely struggled without her unending support and friendship. I am very much indebted to her (quite literally, she bought me so many chai lattes!)

Thank you to all of my friends, old and new, who have shown me so much kindness throughout my time as a student. I am grateful for everyone who kept in touch whilst I shut myself away in the lab, who helped raise my spirits when things were difficult, and who provided me with so many laughs along the way. In particular, I'd like to thank the wonderful people of Warwick Mountains, who regularly coaxed me from the lab to go and get some fresh air in the great outdoors. They have brought me on so many incredible adventures, and I have made so many wonderful memories that I will remember for a lifetime. Most importantly, I'd like to thank my parents and other family members, who have supported me from the very beginning. Without their limitless love and encouragement I would never have had this opportunity.

Thank you all.

Declaration of Authorship

DECLARATION AND STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

I have not impersonated, or allowed myself to be impersonated by any person for the purposes of this assessment.

This assessment is my original work and no part of it has been copied from any other source except where due acknowledgement is made.

No part of this assessment has been written for me by any other person.

I have not previously submitted this work for this or any other course/module.

I give permission for my assessment response to be reproduced, communicated, compared and archived for plagiarism detection, benchmarking or educational purposes.

I understand that: Plagiarism is the presentation of the work, idea or creation of another person as though it is your own. It is a form of cheating and is a very serious academic offence that may lead to exclusion from the University. Plagiarised material can be drawn from, and presented in, written, graphic and visual form, including electronic data and oral presentations. Plagiarism occurs when the origin of the material used is not appropriately cited.

Ailish Wratten

May 2023

Abstract

This thesis presents a collection of work investigating the application of hafnium oxide (HfO₂) thin films as both wet-chemical and surface-state passivation layers for photovoltaic (PV) and electronic devices. Surface-state passivation layers are an essential aspect of silicon (Si) based PV devices, preventing carrier recombination that would otherwise occur for direct metal-Si contacts; thus increasing conversion efficiency. Such layers – often dielectric thin films – can either be used as 'passivation layers' whereby the films are regionally etched to allow direct metal-Si contact, as in the case of Passivated Emitter and Rear Contact (PERC) cells, or 'passivation interlayers' where the dielectric is kept in place between the metal and Si in a passivating contact structure, with the Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contact (TOPCon) cell.

HfO₂ is shown to have excellent potential as a passivation layer, producing surface recombination velocities (SRVs) <1 cm/s with just 2.5 nm of material, which is competitive with current commercially used dielectric passivation layers. However, the conflicting annealing temperature dependence of passivation and conductance suggests that the use of HfO₂ as a passivating interlayer is limited. A novel form of passivating contact structure is introduced, that utilises dielectric stacks with HfO₂, which could provide a low-temperature alternative to the current silicon dioxide (SiO_x)/poly-Si passivating contact structure used in TOPCon.

This novel structure relies upon the unique etching characteristics of HfO₂ when combined with an aluminium oxide (Al₂O₃) layer, which results in pinhole formation. HfO₂ is found to be highly resistant to HF etching when crystallised, but etches rapidly whilst in an amorphous state. This varying etch resistance could potentially provide a route to wafer patterning, through a combination of laser annealing and a simple HF dip. This technique is more easily scaled-up for industrial application than existing photolithography processes. This strong etch resistance suggests great potential for HfO₂ thin films to be utilised as protective barrier layers in complex device fabrication for both electronic and photovoltaic applications.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Global temperatures are rising significantly, with data showing a rate of increase of 0.0014–0.0018 °C per year since the 1970's [1, 2]. This temperature increase can be attributed to human activity, specifically the burning of fossil fuels [3]. Fossil fuels are essentially large stores of carbon which, when burned, release so called 'greenhouse gases' (GHGs), such as carbon dioxide (CO₂) and methane (CH₄). These gases, when released into the Earth's atmosphere, trap heat by preventing reflected solar radiation from escaping into space, similar to the role of the glass in a greenhouse. This global temperature increase can have devastating consequences on the ecosystem, increasing the risk of extreme weather events, such as flooding and drought, negatively impacting biodiversity, crop yields, and the general health of the population [4-6]. We must reduce our reliance on fossil fuels and expand our use of renewable energy resources if we are to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5 °C above pre-industry levels, and mitigate the impacts of climate change, in line with the Paris Agreement [7].

Solar photovoltaic (PV) technologies convert sunlight into electricity. This is a clean and renewable form of energy that does not rely upon the consumption of limited fossil fuel sources, and does not produce harmful greenhouse gases, beyond what is produced during the creation of the PV devices. Solar energy is currently the fastest growing energy resource, with almost half of additional renewable energy coming from solar additions in 2021 [8]. Based on the increasing rate of PV energy generation, it is estimated that we reached 1TW of global PV capacity in 2022. This rapid growth in the PV sector can be at least partially attributed to the massive decrease in costs.

Introduction

In the last 10 years there has been a 60-80% decrease in PV system costs (inflation adjusted), for residential to utility scale PV [9].

Devices based upon crystalline silicon (c-Si) dominate the PV market, with estimates of 70-95% market share [10, 11]. This will likely remain the case, largely due to the availability of Si, being the second most abundant element on earth. Within the sector of c-Si PV there are several different cell designs on the market, including passivated emitter and rear contact (PERC) cells and tunnel oxide passivated contact (TOPCon) cells. Current data indicates that PERC cells currently dominate the Si PV market, with almost an 80% market share. However, this is set to shift substantially with projections of 60% market share for TOPCon cells by 2033 [12]. As such, both research on cell types will play an important role over the next 10 years in determining the future of PV.

Note that both of these cell designs include an aspect of 'passivation'. In the case of PERC cells the passivation comes in the form of a dielectric passivating layer on the rear of the cell. TOPCon designs usually include a passivating layer at the front and a passivating contact interlayer at the rear. A passivation layer is designed to minimise the recombination of charge carriers at the Si surface and is often locally removed to allow for a direct interface between the Si and the metal contact. A passivating contact interlayer, on the other hand, is kept in place between the metal and Si, and must therefore also have high conductance. The inclusion of such layers is essential for improving the conversion efficiencies of c-Si solar cells.

The development of passivating contact structures has led to substantial efficiency gains within the last few years, with improvements to device efficiency within the last 4 years equivalent to the previous 25 years [13, 14]. However, the challenge of industrial-scale application remains. The simplest and most cost-effective approach to this is to address the recombination losses at the hole-collecting contact, via upgrades that build upon existing industrial processes [13].

Introduction

The passivating contact structure of current TOPCon cells includes a thin SiO_x layer and a thicker poly-Si layer, which enables carrier transport through both tunnelling and pinhole mechanisms, thus maintaining high conductivity [15, 16]. However, the thermal budget to produce such a device is very high, with temperatures 800-900 °C required to create the tunnelling structure [17, 18]. Reaching higher processing temperatures requires more energy, resulting in higher operational costs and carbon emissions. Additionally, the band alignment of SiO_x compared to Si shows quite strong favourability towards electron transport [19]. Whilst this makes SiO_x a strong electron selective layer, it is not so suitable for hole-transport. Selectivity for both electrons and holes is a necessary step for improving solar cell efficiencies, as it would allow for increased conversion efficiency at both the front and rear of the cell. Thus, this leaves the need for the development of a lower temperature passivating contact structure, with the potential of hole-selectivity.

Hafnium oxide (HfO₂) is an interesting candidate to investigate for this, due to the lower barrier height for hole transport, compared to more commonly used dielectrics like SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ [19]. Additionally, the variable charge polarity of the material could potentially lend itself to either electron or hole transport, depending on the deposition parameters [20-26]. This material has also shown promise as an anti-reflective coating (ARC) [27, 28], meaning a single HfO₂ layer could potentially be implemented as a multi-use film, providing multiple benefits to the solar cell device whilst also decreasing the process complexity.

Furthermore, HfO₂ has demonstrated remarkable robustness, having been investigated for applications as protective barrier layers in varying extreme environments [27, 29, 30]. This may be of great benefit in the harsh conditions often utilised in PV device manufacturing, with the potential for HfO₂ to either replace the much more sensitive dielectrics currently in use, such as Al₂O₃, or to shield these dielectrics during the manufacturing process. The application of this could extend beyond PV to the manufacturing of other semiconductor devices.

For HfO₂ to be an effective layer in PV device structures it must demonstrate both good passivation and high conductance. This work shall investigate these parameters, as well as the stability of the material in typical Si processing conditions, with the aim of developing multi-use passivation interlayers for both photovoltaic and electronic applications.

1.2 Thesis Outline

This thesis investigates physical and electrical properties of HfO₂, both as a single layer, and incorporated into dielectric stacks, for intended applications in photovoltaic and electronic devices, with particular focus on implementation as a passivating interlayer.

The three main objectives of this work are as follows:

- Study the etch resistance of HfO₂ to chemical solutions commonly used in Si processing, comparing single layer HfO₂ films to Al₂O₃/HfO₂ dielectric stacks, and utilise this within a device fabrication process.
- Optimise the post-deposition conditions of HfO₂ films grown *via* atomic layer deposition (ALD) to maximise passivation quality, and investigate the material properties to better understand the passivation mechanisms.
- Investigate the performance of HfO₂ films incorporated into metal contact structures to better understand the potential of this material for passivating contact structures, and expand upon this to consider more complex dielectric structures.

These three main objectives will be split into three separate research chapters, each containing an introduction, methodology, and conclusion section, as well as several sections reporting and discussing various results. These chapters will be preceded by individual introductory and background chapters that will detail the necessary theory, methodology, and literature relevant to this work. This thesis will then be summarised

in an overall concluding chapter that will also discuss the future outlook of this area of research.

Chapter 2 covers the existing literature and important background theory needed to understand the context of this research, such as an explanation of semiconductor materials and a literature review on the development and investigation of ALD grown HfO₂.

Chapter 3 provides details of the methodologies used within this work, both in terms of experimental apparatus/processes, and data analysis. This chapter includes descriptions and schematics of general processes, but does not detail any specific pieces of equipment or recipes. These details are instead included in the individual results chapters where the methodologies are utilized. Examples of methodologies detailed in this section include atomic layer deposition, X-ray diffraction, and the Expanded Cox and Strack method.

Chapter 4 is the first of the results chapters, focusing on the etching mechanisms of HfO₂ to solutions used in Si processing. Single layer HfO₂ films are compared to layers incorporated into dielectric stacks. The post-deposition annealing temperatures are varied and a correlation between the etch resistance and physical parameters, such as film crystallinity and pinhole formation, is identified. An example is given of HfO₂ being utilised as a protective barrier layer in a device fabrication process. Attempts are made to locally anneal HfO₂ films in order to make use of the varied etch resistance of the material, and produce a patterned dielectric layer.

Chapter 5 focuses on investigating the passivation quality of HfO₂ films on Si. Postdeposition annealing conditions are varied, including annealing time, ambient, and temperature. The variations in measured carrier lifetime, representative of surface passivation, are distinguished from contributions of the bulk Si material using a superacid re-passivation technique. Material parameters such as film crystallinity and dielectric charge are studied for various annealing conditions. The results of this are

Introduction

used to distinguish between the contributions of chemical and field-effect passivation mechanisms that are provided by the HfO₂ layer.

Chapter 6 is the final results chapter, which starts with a continuation of the investigations in the previous chapter, this time instead focusing on decreasing the film thickness, for intended applications in a passivating contact structure. A preliminary investigation is made by incorporating HfO₂ into a simple and low thermal budget Si-dielectric-metal stack, and the IV characteristics are measured. The final experiment brings all three results chapters together by utilising the pinhole formation discovered in Chapter 4 to create a novel contact structure, coined 'Micro-PERC'.

Chapter 7 summarises the work reported in this thesis and discusses the outlook of the research presented here.

Chapter 2 Background

This chapter covers the foundational knowledge necessary to grasp the context of the research that has been conducted in this work. The fundamental theories of several key concepts are introduced, as well as the central materials and their applications, including existing literature on the topic.

2.1 Semiconductors

In the section the basic properties of semiconductor devices are explained, including the approaches that are used to describe such materials. A description of dielectric materials is also included, since they are often utilised alongside semiconductor materials.

2.1.1 Semiconductor materials

Semiconductor materials have properties that fall somewhere between that of conducting and insulating materials [31]. In semiconductors, energy is required to free electrons from the bonds they form with the material structure. These free electrons are what enable current flow. The bonds in semiconductors are typically stronger than those in conductors, which instead have a very large number of weakly bonded electrons.

The energy of electrons within a material can be described by the materials band structure. Based upon the different types of bonds that can be formed within a material, electrons can have discrete amounts of energy. A band structure is made up of the energy levels that electrons may have, and energy band gaps, which are the

Background

range of energies that electrons cannot have. The valance band (VB) of a material is the highest energy band that electrons can occupy whilst in orbit around an atom of that material. If a valence electron breaks free from its orbit, it becomes a conduction electron, or free electron, and is able to conduct current through the material. The lowest energy band occupied by free electrons is called the conduction band (CB).

Between the VB and CB is a band gap, which is the energy barrier that electrons need to overcome to break their valance bonds and move from the VB up to the CB. Insulators have a very large band gap, which prohibits the transfer of electrons from VB to CB. In conductors the VB and CB may actually overlap, meaning that all electrons within the material behave as free electrons. Semiconductors are somewhere in between. They have a small enough band gap that movement of electrons from the VB to CB is still a prominent occurrence.

Electrons are not the only charge carriers within semiconductor materials. The vacancy caused by the freeing of an electron creates a positively charged vacancy called a 'hole'. Holes move when an electron from elsewhere in the structure occupies the vacancy, thus creating a vacancy in the original location of the electron. Therefore holes travel in the opposite direction to electrons. Carrier mobility is much higher for electrons than holes as each time a hole moves an electron much break its covalent bonds with the material, whereas the free electrons can already move freely. This carrier transport mechanism becomes apparent under the application of an applied external electric field, thus the net flow of current in a semiconductor flows in the direction of the external field. When a free electron may occupy the space, and the two charge carriers are lost. This is called carrier recombination, and results in a reduced current flow.

The number of free electrons available in a semiconductor material at any given temperature is called the intrinsic concentration, n_i , with an equivalent number of holes, p_i . Doping is a process by which impurities are implanted into a material in

order to introduce either more electrons or holes. These impurities, called dopants, are either donors or acceptors, depending on whether they provide electrons or holes. The level of doping is such that the carriers provided by the dopant are significantly higher than the intrinsic concentration ($n \gg n_i$ or $p \gg p_i$). Semiconductors with electrons as the majority carriers are called *n*-type semiconductors, and those with majority holes are called *p*-type.

When a *p*-type and *n*-type semiconductor are brought together, they create a *pn* junction. In the area immediately surrounding the interface between these two materials a space is created where the charge carriers from each material come into contact with each other and recombine, leaving almost no free charge carriers; this is called the depletion region. In this region only the carriers bonded to the material are present. The *n*-type material in this region is therefore positively charged, and the *p*-type material is negatively charged. This separation of charge gives rise to an electric field pointing from the *n*- to the *p*- side; this is called the contact potential. A schematic of a *pn* junction can be seen in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of a pn junction, where an n-type and p-type material come into contact, forming a depletion region between the two materials that produces an internal electric field.

Carriers tend to diffuse from areas of high carrier concentration to low. So a hole will tend to diffuse from the *p*-type material, which has majority hole carriers, to the *n*-type material. This creates a so-called diffusion current that is aided by an applied external voltage.

Background

Semiconductor materials do not have only one type of charge carrier. Previous discussion has focused on majority charge carriers, but there also exist oppositely charged minority charge carriers. In *n*-type semiconductors, holes are the minority carriers, and *vice versa* for *p*-type. Some minority carriers will drift into the depletion region and are pushed across the junction by the existing electric field. The net effect of the drifting of the two minority carrier types creates a small reverse saturation current. This current is determined via thermal carrier generation, rather than the junction voltage, and flows in the opposite direction to the diffusion current.

2.1.2 Metal-semiconductor interfaces

When contact is made between a metal and a semiconductor there is a transfer of free electrons, caused by the difference in work function between the two materials [32]. The work function of a material is the energy required to free an electron from the bonds of a material. If the work function of the metal is higher than the semiconductor, then the electrons will flow from the semiconductor to the metal. This flow will continue until the Fermi levels of the materials are aligned. The Fermi level can be considered as a hypothetical energy level, existing within the bandgap, at which the most probable state of a level changes from occupied to unoccupied.

The concentration of free carriers in a semiconductor is comparatively much lower than in a metal, resulting in the free charge carriers near the surface of the semiconductor being depleted compared to the bulk; this is called a space charge region. In this case, the space charge region is equivalent to the depletion region that was previously discussed. In the case that the semiconductor work function is greater than the metal then electrons instead flow from the metal to the semiconductor and accumulate in the space charge region, thus creating an accumulation layer. If a space charge region is heavily depleted, such that the majority carrier concentration falls below the intrinsic concentration, the material can change to p-type (or vice versa for p-type to n-type). This is called an inversion layer.

Metal-semiconductor interfaces can generally result in two different types of contact. If the metal work function is less than the semiconductor, then the contact produced is Ohmic. If the metal work function is greater than the semiconductor, then a Schottky barrier is produced. Figure 2.2 shows the current-voltage (IV) characteristics of the two types of contact.



Figure 2.2: Current-voltage (IV) characteristics of (a) an Ohmic contact, and (b) a Schottky contact.

2.1.3 Band bending

In the space charge region, the electric field produced by the charge transfer between materials results in shifts within the energy bands of the semiconductor. This is called band bending. Bands will bend upwards when the metal work function is greater than the semiconductor (Figure 2.3(a)), and bend downwards when the opposite is true (Figure 2.3(b)). The degree of band bending is equivalent to the difference in work function between the two materials. Figure 2.4 shows the difference in band structures for accumulation, depletion, and inversion layers, for an *n*-type semiconductor.

Bend bending can also be induced by the application of an external field. This is known as field-effect-induced band bending. When a positive voltage is applied to bands, that were initially flat in the absence of applied voltage, an accumulation region is formed near the semiconductor surface, causing downward band bending. The opposite occurs for a negative applied voltage.

Background

Band bending can also be induced by surface states. When a surface is terminated, many bonds at the surface of the material are left broken. These are known as dangling bonds. These bonds can form additional electronic states within the band gap of the semiconductor. In an *n*-type semiconductor electrons travel from the bulk to the surface, causing the Fermi level of the bulk to decrease and the Fermi level of the surface to increase. As these levels reach equilibrium the bands bend upward. In a *p*-type material the equivalent process results in downwards band bending. The density of surface states is usually much larger than the number of dopant states in the bulk, thus the Fermi level of a semiconductor is mostly determined by the surface states. The impact of surface-state-induced band bending can be controlled through surface passivation, which reduces the number of surface states that can act as recombination centres for carriers.



Figure 2.3: Band diagrams of metal-semiconductor contacts, depicting band bending when (a) the metal work function is greater than the semiconductor work function, and (b) vice versa. E_{vac} is the vacuum energy, φ is the work function, E_F is the Fermi level, and E_V and E_C are the valance and conduction band energies, respectively, This figure has been adapted from [32].


Figure 2.4: Band diagrams of n-type semiconductors with accumulation, depletion, or inversion layers. The orange box highlights the space charge region for each structure. This figure has been adapted from [32].

2.1.4 Dielectrics

Dielectrics are insulating materials, meaning no current flows through them in the presence of an electric field. However, unlike a standard insulator, dielectrics are capable of electric polarisation. This means that, in the presence of an external electric field, charge carriers can be slightly displaced in the direction of the field, as depicted in Figure 2.5. In this figure charges are depicted as dipoles, representing electron and hole pairs that are created simultaneously. This polarisation creates an internal electric field which reduces the influence of the external field.

Dielectrics are often incorporated into semiconductor devices due to their abilities to 'passivate' the semiconductor materials by mitigating surface-state recombination mechanisms.



Figure 2.5: Schematic of electric polarisation within a dielectric material, resulting from the application of an external electric field, E.

2.2 Passivation

This section discusses the different forms of passivation required in the formation of different electronic and photovoltaic devices. The term 'passivation' is used to describe the process by which a surface is made inert in some form. This can be used to describe electronic surface-passivation layers, as is often the case with photovoltaic devices, and also protective layers, as is more common in electronics.

2.2.1 Photovoltaic devices

Termination of a semiconductor material surface creates discontinuities in the crystal lattice structure, leaving dangling bonds [33]. This means that the band structure is disrupted, and additional states can appear within the bandgap. These bandgap states are points of recombination for charge carriers; known as Shockley-read-Hall (SRH) recombination [34-37].

Measured carrier lifetimes, known as effective lifetimes, are a reflection of the length of time charge carriers typically exist before recombining, and are a contribution of the various recombination mechanisms within both the bulk and the surface material. Within the bulk material, lifetimes are limited by Auger-Meitner and radiative recombination mechanisms [38, 39]. It is also possible for SRH recombination to occur due to bulk impurities. However, bulk recombination mechanisms are usually negligible when compared to the contributions from the surface region. The lifetime of carriers at the surface can be determined by the difference between effective lifetime and the contribution of bulk mechanisms

$$\frac{1}{\tau_s} = \frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} - \frac{1}{\tau_{rad}} - \frac{1}{\tau_{Aug}} - \frac{1}{\tau_{SRH}}.$$
 (1)

The speed at which high charge carriers recombine within the surface region of a material, otherwise known as the effective surface recombination velocity (SRV) is given by:

Background

$$S_{eff} = \frac{1}{\Delta n_d} \frac{n_s p_s - n_i^2}{\left(\frac{n_s + n_i}{S_{p0}}\right) + \left(\frac{p_s + n_i}{S_{n0}}\right)},$$
(2)

where $S_{n0} = v_{th}D_{it}\sigma_n$ is electron recombination velocity, defined by the thermal velocity, v_{th} , the capture cross section, σ_n , and the density of states, D_{it} . S_{p0} is the equivalent capture velocity for holes. n_s and p_s are the steady state carrier concentrations, n_i is the intrinsic carrier concentration, and Δn_d is the excess minority carrier concentration, which is dependent upon the width of charge space region, d.

From this equation it can be seen that reducing S_{n0} and S_{p0} results in a smaller SRV, S_{eff} . This can be done by decreasing the rate of carrier capture by the interface states, by occupying the dangling bonds; this is known as 'chemical passivation'. It is also possible to change the ratio between p_s and n_s , by reducing the number of one type of carrier. Generally, minority carriers are what determine rate of recombination, so a lower p_s/n_s ratio is required for *n*-type silicon. Physically, this involves the formation of a fixed charge density, Q_f , at the surface, which will produce an electric field that penetrates into the semiconductor surface region, resulting in a change in carrier concentration. This is known as 'field-effect passivation'. This form of passivation can also be achieved through the implantation of dopants into the semiconductor surface in a high concentration, thus producing a carrier gradient. In this case, the dopants are known as emitters.

The SRV can be mathematically approximated as an integral of decaying exponents, describing the variation in carrier lifetime throughout the material as a result of spatial variations in carrier concentrations and carrier diffusion. A carrier generated in the bulk must diffuse to the surface before it can recombine, and carriers generated at the surface can either recombine immediate or may diffuse into the bulk, thus creating these spatial variations. The dominant term of this mathematical approximation is:

$$S_{eff} = \sqrt{D\left(\frac{1}{\tau_s}\right)} \tan\left(\frac{W}{2}\sqrt{\frac{1}{D}\left(\frac{1}{\tau_s}\right)}\right),\tag{3}$$

where W is the sample width, and D is the carrier diffusion coefficient. For a sufficiently low SRV, this equation can be simplified further to

$$S_{eff} = \frac{W}{2} \left(\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} - \frac{1}{\tau_{bulk}} \right).$$
(4)

This SRV is considered to be an effective SRV, S_{eff} , since this definition is formed through mathematical approximations which result in the recombination current actually being calculated for a virtual surface within the space charge region, rather than at the real surface.

Some alternative metrics used to evaluate surface recombination, and compare the passivation quality achieved from different dielectrics, are the saturation current density, J_0 , and the implied open-circuit voltage iV_{ac} .

Surface passivation through dielectrics has become an essential field of research for the development of crystalline silicon (c-Si) photovoltaic devices [13]. Current cell performance has been limited by surface recombination, resulting from the direct metal-Si contacts in most existing cell architectures.

Three of the most prominent cell architectures in today's market are passivated emitter and rear contact (PERC) cells [12, 40, 41], tunnel oxide passivated contact (TOPCon) cells [12, 42, 43], and silicon heterojunction (HTJ or SHJ) cells [12, 44, 45]. Before the development of the PERC cell, a typical solar cell consisted of a full area aluminium contact on the rear, known as an aluminium back surface field (AI-BSF) cell. This cell design is depicted in Figure 2.6(a). The direct metal-Si contact interface caused high recombination losses in the cell. Additionally, much of the longer wavelength light, with energies below the silicon bandgap, would pass through the silicon, unable to generate electron-hole pairs, and be absorbed by the Al layer, causing the cell to heat up [46]. The high recombination, loss of light energy, and thermal instability meant that these cells were limited to an efficiency of ~20%. The development of the PERC cell introduced a passivation layer to the rear of the cell,

which prevents recombination and also reflects photons back into the silicon layer, thus increasing the efficiency limit. This passivation layer is then capped with an insulating dielectric, and localised regions of the passivation layer are etched away so that the silicon can be contacted. A schematic of an example PERC cell can be seen in Figure 2.6(b).



Figure 2.6: Schematics of (a) an AI-BSF cell, (b) a PERC cell, (c) a TOPCon cell, and (d) a HJT cell. Structures include anti-reflective coatings (ARC), back surface fields (BSF), electron transport layers (ETL), and transparent conductive oxides (TCO).

TOPCon cells have a somewhat similar structure to PERC, in terms of industrial processing, but include a doped conductive poly-Si layer and thin dielectric (SiO₂) passivating interlayer, as can be seen in Figure 2.6(c). HTJ cells consist of stacks of crystalline and amorphous silicon (c-Si and a-Si), doped in various ways, designed to absorb more wavelengths of light. This can be seen in Figure 2.6(d). This cell design can result in even higher efficiencies, and thus far has lead the way in tandem cell research with record breaking results, largely due the lateral charge carrier movement within these cell structures [47]. However, production of these cells requires restructuring of industrial processes, which significantly increases the capital expenditure (CapEx) compared to other cell designs.

As can be seen in the schematic of the TOPCon structure, the metal contacts on the rear to not directly interact with the Si wafer. Instead, the metal terminates within the conductive poly-Si layer, and there is a thin SiO_x layer between the metal and the Si. This is an example of a passivating contact structure. Unlike with regular passivating layers, which are locally etched to allow for direct metal contacts, in a passivating contact there is a thin passivating interlayer between the metal and Si. This interlayer further reduces recombination at the surface in the regions surrounding the metal contacts. However, charge carriers must still be able to travel from the bulk material to the metal, meaning the passivating interlayer must have high conductivity.

There are two main mechanisms for carrier transport in passivating contact structures: tunnelling and pinholes. The probability of a carrier tunnelling through the layer is related to the thickness of the layer, as determined by the following equation [48]

$$P_{T} = \exp\left(\frac{-2}{\hbar}t \cdot \sqrt{2m^{*} \cdot q \cdot \Delta\phi_{b}}\right)$$
(5)

where \hbar is given by Planck's constant, t Is the dielectric film thickness, m^* is the effective mass, q is charge, and $\Delta \phi_b$ is the barrier height in eV. Thus, the passivating dielectric must be kept as thin as possible, to facilitate carrier transport across the interlayer. However, in the case of pinhole transport, this thickness limitation is not as rigorous. An example of such carrier transport can be seen in the formation of pinholes in SiO_x/poly-Si structures [15, 16].

This work investigates dielectric materials for potential applications in photovoltaic devices as both passivating layers, as in the case of the PERC cell design, and passivating contact interlayers, as in the case of the TOPCon cell.

2.2.2 Barrier layers

As mentioned previously, passivation can also refer to the protection of a surface from external damage, including etching, corrosion, water, *etc*. This passivation layer essentially forms a protective barrier from environmental factors.

Background

For example, in the research of photoelectrochemical (PEC) devices, as well as the passivation mechanisms mentioned in the above section, passivating films can also be used to stabilise the surface of a material by acting as a coating where there is no electrocatalytic activity, thus protecting the bulk material from oxidation [49, 50]. Similar processes are also used in the fields of metals and ceramics, where materials are often utilized in extreme environments, and for extended periods of time [51-53].

As electronic devices continue to increase in complexity, the processes for developing them also become more difficult. Going forward, having protective layers that can be deposited and removed at different stages of the production process may become an essential part of device development. This work will investigate the application of dielectric materials as protective layers that can protect against processing solutions commonly used in Si semiconductor device fabrication.

2.3 Film growth

Thin film structures are formed in a self-organising manner, driven by thermodynamic processes. This growth occurs in three main stages: nucleation, crystal growth, and grain growth. Nucleation involves the diffusion of atoms across a surface, clustering to form a lattice structure, at which point crystal growth begins. The combination of multiple crystal lattice structures during crystal growth is known as coalescence.

Grain boundaries occur due to sections of crystal structure within the material having different orientations. These grain boundaries are associated with an increase in energy; thus the overall energy of the system is lowered by movement of the grain boundaries in order to increase the grain size. This is the final stage of the growth process. Diagrams of these processes can be found in Figure 2.7, which has been adapted from [54].

There are three degrees of crystallinity a thin film can have: monocrystalline, polycrystalline, or amorphous. Monocrystalline films are typically grown on a single

seed crystal and, as such, consist of a single continuous crystal lattice; this is known as epitaxial growth. These are typically the most difficult thin films to produce. By contrast, an amorphous film is categorised by its complete lack of crystal structure and thus lack of long-range order. Polycrystalline films consist of several different crystals of varying size and orientation, separated by grain boundaries. Each type of film has advantages and disadvantages, and are suitable for different applications.



Figure 2.7: Schematic to illustrate the three main stages involved in the formation of a thin film structure: (a) nucleation, (b) crystal growth, (c) grain formation, and (d) grain boundaries as they would be seen through a microscope. This figure has been adapted from Mehl et al. [54].

Deposition of thin films onto a substrate can be done chemically or physically. Physical Vapour Deposition (PVD) methods, such as sputtering and evaporation, involve conversion of a material into a vapour phase and then reversion back to a condensed state in the presence of a substrate. With Chemical Vapour Deposition (CVD) the substrate is exposed to a gas precursor and the chemical reaction between the two produces the desired deposit on top of the substrate. There also exist methods of chemical deposition which do not fit under the umbrella of CVD, such as spin coating and electroplating.

Different deposition methods produce films of varying quality and, as such, are suitable for different applications. There are two main factors to consider in terms of

Background

film quality: uniformity and conformality. Uniformity relates to how evenly a film is deposited across the entire expanse of a surface. A non-uniform surface may be very rough or have build-up in certain areas. Conformality is how well the film is able to coat all areas of a substrate. This is relevant for more complex structures where films may need to be deposited into trenches or around 3D objects. Film thickness is also an important aspect to consider when determining appropriate deposition methods.

For some applications, films several micrometres thick may be required, and so a deposition method with a rate on the order of nanometres per hour would be impractical. By contrast, some applications may require very fine control of the film thickness at a monolayer scale, thus a method which deposits dozens of nanometres of film in a very short space of time would not be suitable for this purpose. As an example of this, metal contacts for PV devices are usually on the order of 100 nm thick. A thermal or electron-beam evaporation system is able to deposit this much material within a few hours. However, the same evaporation system cannot be used to deposit the dielectric passivation interlayers that go beneath the metal contacts, as these layers are typically on the order of 1 nm thick. The evaporation system is not able to produce such thin films with a high degree of uniformity.

The focus of this work will be on thin films grown via atomic layer deposition (ALD), which is a form of chemical vapour deposition, capable of producing high-quality thin films, with the ability to control film thickness at the nanometre-scale. This deposition method is ideal for the dielectric passivation layers mentioned above.

2.4 Hafnium oxide

This sections covers the existing literature on hafnium oxide, which is the focal material of this thesis. This literature review includes the development of deposition processes, conflicting reports on material properties, and post-deposition processes, such as etching and patterning.

2.4.1 Development of HfO₂ thin films

Hafnium oxide (HfO₂) is a dielectric material with a bandgap of 5.6 eV and a dielectric constant of 16-18 (for undoped, monoclinic HfO₂) [55-57]. This material has been extensively researched in the field of electronics, for utilization in transistors and capacitors. This report considers the physical properties of HfO₂ films, which may prove useful within semiconductor device processing. Additionally, investigations are conducted into whether the physical and electrical properties of HfO₂ thin films lend themselves to photovoltaic application.

The first evidence that growing HfO₂ via ALD was possible came from a paper published by Kattelus *et al.* in 1992, on tantalum based oxide films [58]. To do this they used a glass substrate and HfCl₄ and H₂O precursors. Unfortunately, they were unable to find a constant growth per cycle (GPC) that did not depend upon temperature. The first paper which actually focused on the growth and characterisation of HfO₂ via ALD was published in 1994 by Ritala *et al.* [59]. Using the same substrate and precursors as Kattelus *et al.* they were able to grow a HfO₂ film at a constant rate of 0.5 Å/cycle. They discovered that the HfO₂ deposition began as an amorphous film, followed by a monoclinic polycrystalline HfO₂ layer, with roughness increasing as the thickness increased.

In the following years, many reports were published on optimising the growth of HfO₂ films. It was found that defects and surface roughness could be reduced by using lower deposition temperatures, to prevent crystal growth [59-62]. Unfortunately, low temperature deposition may result in an increase in chlorine and hydrogen impurities, depending on the precursors used [63, 64]. Growing amorphous films allows for the option of controlling material properties through post-deposition annealing.

Zhang *et al.* published a paper in 2019 on post-deposition annealing temperatures of HfO₂ films grown via ALD [65]. They found that at temperatures below 400 °C there is an amorphous interfacial layer consisting of SiO₂ and HfO₂, which forms due to the

Background

diffusion of oxygen impurities from the HfO₂ towards the Si interface. Above 400 °C both the film and interfacial layer begin to crystallise, and by 550 °C the polycrystalline HfO₂ film becomes dominated by one phase, and the interfacial layer becomes crystallised SiO₂.

In 2020, Lo Nigro *et al.* compared the deposition of HfO_2 using plasma-enhanced ALD (PE-ALD) and thermal ALD [66], finding PE-ALD resulted in a faster deposition rate, a thinner interface layer, and a higher dielectric constant. Interestingly, the optimal deposition temperature was found to be ~250 °C for both deposition methods.

In 2006, Sreenivasan *et al.* investigated the effect of changing precursors on HfO₂ films and their fixed charge [20]. The precursors were tetrakis(diethylamido)hafium (TDEAH) and HfCl₄, and with H₂O used as the co-reactant in both cases. It was found that the chloride-based films had a positive shift in the flat band voltage, which indicates a negative fixed charge. They then postulate that impurities within the film may contribute to this fixed charge, as the chloride-based HfO₂ film had a large build-up of Cl impurities at the substrate interface. However, the full story relating to the charge polarity of HfO₂ seems to be more complex.

As mentioned, Sreenivasan *et al.* found that using chloride-based precursors results in a negative charge polarity. This result is supported by Aubriet *et al.* but is contradicted by Wang *et al.* who found their chloride-based HfO₂ films were positively charged [26, 67]. The discrepancies only continue when other precursors and deposition methods are considered.

The most frequently reported precursor is tetrakis(methylethylamide)hafnium (TEMAH). The majority of such reports suggest that using TEMAH in a thermal ALD process results in positive charge polarity, but this is not necessarily true for PE-ALD processes, or for unannealed samples [21-23, 68, 69]. Some literature suggests that use of an N₂ annealing ambient, on samples created with TEMAH, creates a negative charge polarity, but this is conflicted by others who have reported positive charges

under the exact same conditions [23, 68]. Current literature suggests that, generally, trimethylhafnium (TMHf) and tetrakis(dimethylamido)hafnium (TDMAH) precursors produce negatively charged films, whilst tetrakis(diethylamido)hafnium (TDEAH) results in positive charge polarity [20, 24, 25].

A summary of various reports on HfO_2 charge polarity can be found in Table 2.1. This table details the factors which have the potential to influence the charge. It should be considered that the metal contacting used for some measurement approaches may influence the resulting charge, and so have also been included in the table.

First author	Precursor	Substrate	Deposition	Ambient	Measurement	Polarity	q/cm²
Singh [69]	TEMAH ^a	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Plasma (O ₂)	N_2	CV	Positive	10 ¹²
Singh [69]	TEMAH	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Plasma (O ₂)	N_2	CV	Negative	10 ¹²
Gope [68]	TEMAH	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	N_2	CV	Positive	10 ¹²
Tomer [23]	TEMAH	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	N_2	CV	Negative	<10 ¹¹
Tomer [23]	TEMAH	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	H ₂	CV	Positive	10 ¹²
Tomer [23]	TEMAH	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	None	CV	Negative	10 ¹²
Cui [21]	TEMAH	<i>p-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	H_2/N_2	Corona/CV	Positive	10 ¹¹
Gougam [22]	TEMAH	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	Air	CV	Positive	10 ¹²
Wang [26]	HfCl ₄ ^b	<i>n-</i> type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	None	CV	Positive	10 ¹²
Aubriet [67]	HfCl ₄	<i>n-</i> type Cz	Thermal	N_2	KP/COCOS	Negative	10 ¹¹
Sreenivasan [20]	$HfCl_4$	<i>p-</i> type	Thermal (H ₂ O)	H_2/N_2	CV	Negative	10 ¹²
Sreenivasan [20]	TDEAH	<i>p-</i> type	Thermal (H ₂ O)	H_2/N_2	CV	Positive	10 ¹¹
Lin [25]	TMHf ^d	<i>n</i> -type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	N ₂	CV	Negative	10 ¹²
Lin [25]	TMHf	<i>p</i> -type FZ	Thermal (H ₂ O)	N ₂	CV	Negative	10 ¹²
Cheng [24]	TDMAH ^e	<i>n-</i> type Cz	Thermal (H ₂ O)	-	COCOS	Negative	10 ¹¹
Wratten [70]	TDMAH	<i>n-</i> type Cz	Plasma (O ₂)	Air	Corona	Negative	10 ¹²
Pain [71]	TDMAH	<i>n-</i> type Cz	Plasma (O ₂)	Air	Corona	Negative	10 ¹²

(a) tetrakis(ethylmethylamido)hafnium, (b) hafnium tetrachloride, (c) tetrakis(diethylamido)hafnium, (d) trimethylhafnium, (e) tetrakis(dimethylamido)hafnium

Table 2.1: Existing literature reporting on the charge polarity of HfO2 thin films. This table includes deposition, post-deposition, and measurement variables that have the potential to influence the resulting measured charge of a sample.

It is not just the charge polarity of HfO_2 that has been challenging to determine. There are also many conflicting reports about the optimal postdeposition annealing conditions for HfO_2 films. It should be noted that this report focuses on the optimal conditions specifically to maximise surface passivation quality, as described in Chapter 5. Table 2.2 includes examples of existing literature on HfO_2 passivation, including the post deposition annealing conditions used and the minority carrier lifetime, τ_{eff} , achieved.

Author	Publication	Annealing	Annealing	Wafer Type	τ _{eff} (cm/s)
	Year	Temperature (°C)	Ambient	(Ωcm)	
Lin [25]	2012	440	N ₂	3.3 (n-type FZ)	24
Cui [21]	2017	350	N_2/H_2	1 (n-type FZ)	3.3
Cheng [24]	2017	450	-	1.0 (n-type (Cz)	11
Gougam [22]	2019	400	Air	1-5 (n-type FZ)	1.2
Tomer [23]	2020	400	H ₂	5.0 (n-type FZ)	5

Table 2.2: A chronological report of some of the existing literature on HfO_2 passivating films. The postdeposition annealing conditions used in each publication are highlighted alongside the minority carrier lifetime, τ_{eff} .

2.4.2 Etching and patterning of HfO₂

In addition to its ability to passivate silicon, HfO₂, particularly crystalline HfO₂, is notoriously difficult to degrade. This has been demonstrated in its application as a protective layer against oxidisation, copper corrosion, and general weathering [27, 29, 30]. Understanding and controlling the etching behaviour of HfO₂ could prove very useful for integration into semiconductor devices, as both a protective barrier layer, utilising its strong etch resistance, and, potentially, as a patterned dielectric (should the etch resistance prove controllable). It should be noted that the etching rates of HfO₂ can vary substantially depending on the deposition methods utilised [72-75]. The existing literature on etching that is discussed in this section, and the experimental results presented later in this project, will focus solely on HfO₂ produced *via* atomic layer deposition.

Background

Saenger *et al.* published a paper in 2002 on the etching of crystalline HfO₂ films using HF-based solutions [76]. Crystalline HfO₂ is very difficult to etch using wet chemical methods. However, through use of ion bombardment, the time taken for films to degrade from hydrophobic to hydrophilic was less than half that of a standard crystalline HfO₂ film. The degradation was performed *via* a wet etch, using a 5 % HF solution. In 2004, Lowalekar and Raghavan distinguished between as-deposited as heat-treated HfO₂ [77]. They found very low etch rates for heat-treated HfO₂, of <0.1 Å/min, which is supported by the results of Saenger *et al.* However, the as-deposited HfO₂ films, and other similar Hf-based films, could easily and quickly be etched in relatively low concentrations of HF.

In 2015, Lee *et al.* published a paper on the atomic layer etching (ALEt) of HfO₂ using HF and Sn(acac)₂ [78]. Not only did this allow for the linear and controllable etching of the HfO₂ films, but it also resulted in a decrease in surface roughness. This was supported by Murdzek and George in 2019, when they demonstrated ALEt of HfO₂ using HF and dimethylaluminium chloride (DMAC) [79]. They achieved etch rates of 0.08 Å/cycle and 0.68 Å/cycle for crystalline and amorphous HfO₂ respectively, and put forward the idea of creating high-quality ultra-thin films by etching back thicker crystalline films. The benefit of ALEt for etching films is that it uses an ALD system meaning that, theoretically, deposition and etching can be done using the same device.

If the etching of HfO₂ can be combined with a method of localised annealing, it may lead to a novel approach of creating patterned films. In 2013, Larkin *et al.* demonstrated that localised annealing of HfO₂ was possible, by irradiating the film using an e-beam with an electron dose of 106 e/nm² [80, 81]. During irradiation, the film slowing transitioned from amorphous to crystalline. In 2020, results published by Toshiyuki Tabata indicated that HfO₂ can be annealed via UV pulsed laser annealing [82]. From simulations, the temperatures reached in this process were ~1250 °C, which is much higher than the standard crystallisation temperature of HfO₂. However, the

Background

aim of Tabata's paper was to produce cubic, rather than monoclinic, HfO_2 which may explain the need for such high temperatures.

A section of this work will attempt to investigate different approaches to producing localised regions of crystallised monoclinic HfO₂, in order to utilise both its etching characteristics and passivation properties to create patterned dielectrics for potential electronic and photovoltaic device applications.

Chapter 3 Methodology

This chapter details the various techniques that have been implemented throughout this project, including descriptions of the relevant systems and processes, as well as the theoretical principals behind them. Specific information relating to exact apparatus and recipes can be found within the relevant results chapters in which the techniques have been applied.

3.1 Sample processing

3.1.1 Wafer cleaning

For thin films to be deposited effectively onto a substrate the surface must first be appropriately prepared. Different substrates have different cleaning requirements and thus different cleaning recipes. There have been many different approaches to Si wafer cleaning, but one of the most common methods today is the RCA clean [83, 84].

RCA stands for 'Radio Corporation of America' and is a cleaning method that was developed by Werner Kern in the 1960's [85]. It is also sometimes called the standard clean (SC). An RCA1 solution is composed of de-ionised (DI) H₂O, NH₄OH, and H₂O₂, and is used to remove organic residue from wafers. RCA2 is composed of DI H₂O, HCl, and H₂O₂, and removes metal ions from the silicon. For most applications it is necessary to use both RCA solutions in a cleaning process.

Since both of these solutions leave a thin oxide layer on the surface, it is good practice to perform a dip in hydrofluoric acid (HF) after each step. HF is a colourless, odourless,

corrosive acid that is commonly used in silicon processing. Dilute HF solutions are able to etch native oxide layers on silicon via the following reaction [86, 87]:

$$SiO_{2(solid)} + 6HF_{(aq)} \rightarrow SiF_{6(aq)}^{2-} + 2H_{(aq)}^{+} + 2H_2O_{(aq)}.$$
 (6)

This reaction leaves a hydrophobic hydrogen-terminated Si surface that provides temporary chemical surface passivation of the wafer [88].

Tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) is a salt with the chemical formula:

$$N(CH_3)_4^+ OH^-.$$
 (7)

Solutions of TMAH in water are a common approach for the anisotropic etching of Si wafers. Substrates of Si(100) can be etched to form square based pyramid patterns, as the TMAH will etch along the Si(111) planes. Etching rates and roughness of the Si surface can be controlled through the solution temperature and TMAH concentration, respectively. This etching step is often utilized to remove saw damage and smoothen the Si surface prior to surface passivation [89].

In addition to surface cleaning, it may be beneficial to texture a substrate before thin film deposition. Similarly to TMAH etching, random texturing of the Si surface can be achieved via wet or dry processing, such as KOH chemical etching and Reactive Ion Etching (RIE), respectively [90], though the resultant textures often vary in scale compared to the pyramids produced with TMAH. This randomised texturing increases the amount of light absorbed into the substrate, seen in Figure 3.1 [91], thus increasing generation of carriers. However, increasing surface area also increases the number of surface-state traps, thus passivation becomes even more important.

3.2 Fabrication

3.2.1 Atomic layer deposition

Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD) is a form of chemical deposition with a relatively slow growth rate, that is capable of producing ultrathin films of excellent uniformity and



Figure 3.1: Schematic comparing light reflection on flat and textured surfaces. Arrows indicate the direction of light rays, with each interaction at the surface allowing for further absorption into the substrate. This image has been adapted from [91].

conformality, which can be performed at relatively low temperatures, especially if using an energy enhanced method such as plasma enhanced ALD (PE-ALD) [92-94]. This makes it a very attractive method for thin film growth, particularly in the fields of electronics and photovoltaics where high film quality is essential.

The rate of film growth can be split into two sections: a brief initial nucleation period (dependent on the film type and substrate), followed by a steady-state period. During the steady-state period the growth rate will typically be constant, however, this may differ in the initial stages of growth due to nucleation inhibition or enhancement [95]. The growth of thin films *via* ALD is therefore mainly controlled through the number of cycles completed. A cycle consists of sequential pulses and purges of each gas precursor. During each pulse the precursor reacts with the substrate until there are no reactive sites left on the surface, at which point the reaction terminates. This self-limiting behaviour produces a standard growth rate per cycle (GPC) and is what allows for excellent control over the film thickness. After each cycle there is a purge step which serves two purposes: to prevent the precursor substrate reaction from the chamber.

Typically the first precursor will be a type of metal whilst the second precursor, also known as the co-reactant, will be a non-metal such as oxygen or nitrogen. In order to maintain self-limiting growth it is essential that the chosen precursors are reactive

Methodology

with the surface and leave reactive surface groups, but do not react with themselves, or with the surface groups they create.

The deposition temperature must also be carefully selected in order to avoid additional processes occurring, such as decomposition, which may interfere with the steady self-limiting growth. The ideal temperature window for deposition is the range at which the GPC shows no temperature dependence [93].

As previously mentioned, the films produced by ALD show high uniformity and conformality. This is due to the self-limiting behaviour of the reactions. As long as there is sufficient flux into the reaction chamber, the precursor will interact with all available surface sites, creating an even thickness of film across the entire substrate, no matter the shape of the surface. If there is not sufficient flux the surface sites will not be saturated and the uniformity and conformality will become flux controlled.

The process of a single ALD cycle can be understood through these equations [93]:

$$s: Y + AX_2 \to s: AX + XY, \tag{8}$$

$$s: AX + BY_2 \to s: ABY + XY, \tag{9}$$

where *s* is the substrate with surface groups *Y*, *A* is the precursor with two ligands *X*, and *B* is the co-reactant with two ligands *Y*. *XY* is the reaction product. The process described in these equations is depicted in Figure 3.2 [92]. This is the simplest form of an ALD cycle. Including materials with more ligands or additional precursors can lead to more complex reactions on the surface. Examples of these multistep cycles and supercycles can be seen in Figure 3.3 [93].

Ligand exchange is not the only reaction type capable of facilitating ALD growth. Association is when a precursor remains intact and bonds with the surface without release of ligands. By contrast, dissociation involves the precursor being adsorbed to the surface in several smaller pieces. Combustion is the replacement of surface groups with an oxidised surface; similarly with nitridation and nitride surfaces. Often a mixture of several different mechanisms will be involved in the ALD process.



Figure 3.2: Depiction of the stages involved in a standard ALD cycle: (a) prepared substrate, (b) precursor A reacts with surface, (c) by-products are purged using carrier gas, (d) precursor B reacts with surface, (e) by-products purged using carrier gas, (f) cycle repeats. This figure has been adapted from Ref. [92].



Figure 3.3: Depiction of various types of cycles possible through atomic layer deposition: (a) a standard cycle involving only two precursors, (b) a multistep cycle where more than two precursors are needed, and (c) a supercycle where a number of cycles involving one pair of precursors is followed by another set of cycles involving different precursors. This image has been adapted from Ref. [93].

3.2.2 Electron beam evaporation

Electron beam, or e-beam, evaporation is a form of physical vapour deposition in which electron bombardment is used to evaporate a target material under vacuum [96, 97]. The gaseous material will then precipitate and coat the entire surrounding area with a thin film, including any substrate placed within the chamber. Figure 3.4 shows a schematic of a typical e-beam evaporation system [98].



Figure 3.4: A schematic of a typical e-beam evaporation system, including a heated filament, e-beam path (as directed by magnetic field), target material, resultant vapour, and sample wafer, all within a vacuum sealed chamber [96, 98].

The electron beam is produced through use of a hot filament, usually tungsten, which causes the thermionic emission of electronics. The resultant e-beam is then directed, through use of a magnetic field, to the target material. The use of a magnetic field allows for the filament and source material to be kept physically separate from each other, helping prevent cross-contamination. The energy from the e-beam can then be directly transferred to the target, enabling evaporation of materials with high melting points. As such, e-beam evaporation can be considered a thermal evaporation process, despite no heat being applied to the rest of the crucible. The lack of heating to the chamber and, by extension, the substrate can reduce the possibility of heat damage to the substrate. However, it should be noted that e-beam evaporation can

instead cause ion implantation into the substrate which may reduce device performance.

Beneficially, e-beam evaporation has a high deposition rate and material utilization, which is particularly important when depositing rare and expensive materials such as gold (Au) [97].

3.2.3 Photolithography

Photolithography is a process by which light can be utilised to produced patterned thin films [99, 100]. This process relies upon the use of an optical mask containing a desired pattern. A photoresist will be spin coated onto a substrate, and then exposed to light (typically UV light) through the optical mask. Depending on whether the resist is 'positive' or negative' it will either harden or breakdown when exposed to the light. A developer can then be used to remove un-hardened areas of the resist. Depending on the photoresist used, heat-treatment may be required before or after light exposure; these are referred to as soft-bakes and hard-bakes, respectively.

There are two approaches to patterning thin films using photolithography. In the first approach the photolithography step is conducted straight onto the substrate. Once the patterned photoresist layer is in place, a deposition method, such as e-beam evaporation, can be used to deposit a thin film layer over the entire substrate. A solvent-based solution can then be used to remove the resist, and thereby lift off the thin film deposited directly over it. The second approach involves having a thin film layer already in place on the substrate. Once the patterned photoresist layer is in place, an etching solution can be used to selectively etch areas of the film not protected by the photoresist. The remaining photoresist can then be stripped away. A schematic of a typical photoresist process, using the second approach, can be seen in Figure 3.5.

Methodology



Figure 3.5: A schematic depicting a standard photolithography process, using UV light exposure. A comparison is made between the use of positive and negative photoresists. In this process a thin film layer is already in place and an etching solution is used to selectively etch back this film around the remaining photoresist, as determined by the pattern of the optical mask. This figure has been adapted from [100, 101].

Photolithography is particularly beneficial for its versatility, being compatible with most substrate materials, and allowing for patterning on scales differing by orders of magnitude. This process can be used for patterning with lateral resolutions as low as 1 μ m [99]. However, although photolithography is highly valuable in a research environment, it does not necessarily translate well to an industrial scale due to the complexity and speed of the process, and the cost of equipment and materials.

3.3 Characterisation

3.3.1 Spectral reflectance

The thickness of thin films can be assessed using either a physical approach, such as a stylus technique, or an optical approach, such as reflectometry or ellipsometry. Optical approaches are generally preferred as they are simple processes, not requiring any sample preparation, and are non-destructive, as there is no direct contact with the sample [102].

Spectral reflectance is the simplest optical measurement technique. Light is shone perpendicular to a sample, over a range of different wavelengths, and the reflected light is measured and used to calculate certain material properties. Ellipsometry takes this a step further by measuring light with non-normal incidence, using two polarizations. As a consequence, ellipsometry is a more complex and expensive process. For the purposes of this project, reflectometry is sufficient in most cases.

When light crosses an interface between different materials, there are three possibilities that may occur: the light may be reflected, transmitted, or absorbed. In reality, there is usually a mixture of all three. It has long since been established that the angle that a ray of light will reflect off of a surface will be equal to the incident angle. This is known as the Law of Reflection, and can be described mathematically, through the following equation:

$$\varphi_r = \varphi_1. \tag{10}$$

Snell's Law instead considers what will occur to light that is refracted:

$$n_1 \sin \varphi_1 = n_2 \sin \varphi_2 \,, \tag{11}$$

where the refractive index n provides a ratio of the speed of light in a vacuum to the speed of light in a given material. In this case n_1 is the refractive index of the medium, and thus φ_1 is the angle of incidence, where as n_2 and φ_2 denote the refractive index of the target material and the angle of refraction, respectively. This can be seen in Figure 3.6.



Figure 3.6: A visual representation of light interacting with the interface between two different mediums, according to Snell's Law and the Law of Reflectance.

Reflected wavelengths may combine either constructively or destructively, depending on the phase difference. The principal of linear superposition was first proposed by Thomas Young in 1801 [103]. This interference behaviour is possible due to the periodicity of electromagnetic waves, whereby there exists points in space and time where the waves appear identical. The distance between successive identical points is called the wavelength, λ . The Fresnel equations consider the resultant amplitudes of light rays that have been either reflected or transmitted. The coefficients relating to the reflected light are as follows:

$$r_{s} = \frac{n_{1}\cos\theta_{i} - n_{2}\cos\theta_{t}}{n_{1}\cos\theta_{i} + n_{2}\cos\theta_{t}},$$
(12)

$$r_{p} = \frac{n_{2}\cos\theta_{i} - n_{1}\cos\theta_{i}}{n_{2}\cos\theta_{i} + n_{1}\cos\theta_{i}},$$
(13)

where *n* is the refractive index for each material at the interface, θ_i is the angle of incidence, and θ_t is the angle of transmission. The reflectance coefficients r_s and r_p consider the electric and magnetic components of the wave, respectively. These equations can be derived from first principals using both macroscopic and microscopic approaches [104-106].

Reflectance can be defined as:

$$R = \frac{A + B\cos\left(\left(\frac{4\pi}{\lambda}\right)nd + \Phi\right)}{C + B\cos\left(\left(\frac{4\pi}{\lambda}\right)nd + \Phi\right)},$$
(14)

Methodology

where *n* is the refractive index of the thin film material, *d* is the thickness of the layer, and Φ is the phase shift, which is dependent upon light absorption in the material. The factors *A*, *B*, and *C* are all some combination of Fresnel reflectance coefficients for the medium, the thin film, and the substrate [107, 108].

In practice, this equation should be evaluated for a range of wavelengths, as the refractive index of a material is often wavelength dependent; this is known as dispersion. A films material properties can be extracted through application of a mathematical model, whereby the reflectance spectra for a range of wavelengths is calculated based upon trial values, which are then adjusted until the measured and calculated reflectance values align. The adjustable parameters may include the film thickness, the refractive index, and the extinction coefficient, which provides information on the amount of light absorbed by the material.

There are some limitations to the use of spectral reflectance. If a film is very thin, such that there is less than one reflectance oscillation, there will be less information available to determine the adjustable model parameters. Generally, the minimum single-layer thickness that can be measured using spectral reflectance is in the range of 1 nm to 30 nm, depending upon material, wavelength range, and number the of adjustable parameters in the model. This thickness limitation increases further when addition films are incorporated into the measurement. Most films discussed in this work have thicknesses in the range of 10-30 nm, and appear either as a single layer or as a two-layer stack; thus spectral reflectometry is sufficient to determine accurate values of film thickness.

3.3.2 X-ray diffraction

A crystallised material is composed of unit structures that are repeated across three dimensions in a periodic manner, creating a lattice structure with long-range order. Each unit cell contains all the atoms and chemical bonds necessary to describe the full structure, and has dimensions a, b, and c along the x, y, and z axes. No two

materials have exactly the same unit cell dimensions, and so the angles at which light diffracts off of every crystal structure is unique.

Diffraction occurs most strongly when wavelengths are of a similar magnitude to the physical structure they interact with; for crystals structures, x-ray radiation is most appropriate. X-ray diffraction (XRD) techniques rely on cathode ray tubes to create monochromatic x-ray radiation, which is then collimated and directed towards a crystallised sample [109]. A schematic of a typical XRD setup can be seen in Figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7: A schematic of a typically x-ray diffractometer, including a cathode ray tube x-ray source, x-ray detector, and a sample around which the source and detector will rotate with scattering angle 20.

XRD produces unique intensity patterns, generated by the interactions between incident x-ray beams and atoms within a lattice [110, 111]. When an x-ray interacts with electrons in a target atom, energy is transferred, and the electron moves to a higher energy level. As higher energy electrons then move to fill the vacancies created by the excited electrons, they emit photons with the energy equivalent to the energy transition in the levels. These energy levels are finite and are unique to for each material. The emitted photons behave like spherical waves, diffracting off of the crystal structure and interfering with each other, creating peaks in intensity in certain directions where the waves interfere constructively. This constructive interference is called Bragg reflection, and occurs when the phase difference between two waves, i.e. the distance between two scattering points or planes, is equal to an integer number of wavelengths. This can be described mathematically through the Bragg equation:

$$n\lambda = 2d\sin\varphi \tag{15}$$

where *n* is an integer, λ is the wavelength, *d* is the distance between planes, and φ is the angle between the lattice place and the incident beam. The amplitude of the resultant wave varies with the scattering angle 2θ .

There are several different approaches to XRD. The Laue method involves applying incident x-ray beams with a continuous range of wavelengths, which can provide information about the symmetry and orientation of a crystal. For the crystal rotation method, a sample will be rotated about one of the crystallographic axes. The technique that has been described in this work is called the powder method, and is one of the most commonly used forms of XRD today due to its ability to detect crystals with incredibly small grain sizes [112].

3.3.3 Photoconductance

Photoconductance measurements detect the change in conductivity of a material under illumination. A typical device setup, as depicted in Figure 3.8 [113], will include a light source directed at a target sample. A reference sample will be used to determine the illumination of the light source and a metal coil beneath the target sample measures its conductance.

When a semiconductor is exposed to a light source, the electrons in the bulk material become excited and transition from the valance band to the conduction band, creating electron-hole pairs; this is known as generation. Contrastingly, recombination is the process by which an excited electron moves to an unoccupied state in the valance band, eliminating electron-hole pairs. The generation rate, G(t), within a sample, given as a function of time, t, can be calculated *via*.



Figure 3.8: Schematic of a typical photoconductance decay measurement device, including a light source, metal coil, and reference sample [113].

$$G(t) = \frac{I(t)f_{abs}N_{ph}^{\odot}}{W},$$
(16)

where I(t) is the illumination intensity, W is the thickness of the sample, f_{abs} is the fraction of incident photons absorbed by the sample, and N_{ph}^{\odot} is the flux of photons with an irradiance of 1 sun (1000 W/m²) which generate electron-hole pairs. The average density of the excess carriers generated, $\Delta n(t)$, is given by:

$$\Delta n(t) = \frac{\Delta \sigma(t)}{q(\mu_n + \mu_p)W},$$
(17)

where $\Delta\sigma(t)$ is the excess photoconductance of the sample, and μ_n and μ_p are the electron and hole mobilities, respectively.

The effective lifetime, τ_{eff} , of a sample indicates how long generated carriers will typically last before recombining, and is described mathematically through the following continuity equation:

$$\tau_{eff}(\Delta n) = \frac{\Delta n(t)}{G(t) - \frac{\partial \Delta n(t)}{\partial t}}.$$
(18)

However, this differential equation is very challenging to solve. There are two main approaches to simplifying this problem: quasi-steady-state (QSS) and transient measurement modes.

In transient mode a very short flash is used, such that the vast majority of the photoconductance measurement is taken in the dark. As such, it can be assumed that no generation processes are occurring during the measurement, and the G(t) term is negligible. This approach is fast and simple, relying on fewer variables. As a result of this, however, these measurements are strongly impacted by lateral inhomogeneity in the sample. Typical measurement uncertainties for transient measurements, with $\Delta n \sim O(10^{15})$, are $\pm 8 \%$ [114].

With QSS measurements it is assumed that there is no time dependence to the excess carrier density of the sample, justified by the application of a prolonged "slow" flash. The $\partial \Delta n(t)/\partial t$ term can this be eliminated from the above equation. However, this approach still requires the calculation of the generation rate which, by extension, requires f_{abs} . In practice, this value is typically determined through an iterative process, whereby lifetime curves resulting from "fast" and "slow" flashes are compared, and f_{abs} altered until the curves match. Measurement uncertainties for this approach, with $\Delta n \sim O(10^{15})$, are around $\pm 11 \%$ [114]. Figure 3.9 shows a comparison between transient and QSS mode measurements [113].

There are several different mechanisms through which carriers may recombine, either through intrinsic processes involving band-to-band transitions, or extrinsic processes that that occur due to defect centres within the bandgap. In radiative recombination processes, the excess energy resulting from an excited electron transitioning from the conduction to valance band will be released in the form of a photon. With Auger-Meitner recombination, previously known as Auger recombination [38], this excess energy is instead transferred to another carrier. These are both examples of intrinsic mechanisms, though an extrinsic variant of Auger-Meitner recombination is possible, known as trap-assisted Auger-Meitner recombination. The process of recombination



Figure 3.9: A comparison between illumination and photoconductance intensities for (a) transient) and (b) quasi-steady-state modes of photoconductance decay measurements. This figure has been adapted from Ref. [113].

via intermediate energy levels in the band gap is known as Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) recombination. Such recombination affects are a result of impurities and lattice defects within the bulk crystal structure, as well as surface recombination states resulting from dangling bonds at the wafer surface.

Defect levels within the bandgap can interact with carriers in the conduction and valance bands in several different manners. In some cases an electron from the conduction band and a hole from the valance band will be captured by the defect level and mutually annihilate; this is known as a recombination centre. The inverse of this is called a generation centre. In the case of a trap centre, a carrier is captured by the defect by the defect centre and then returned to its original state. Such states will interact solely with either the conduction band or valance band carriers.

The effective lifetime of a material can thus be considered as a combination of affects from the various recombination processes within the surface and bulk material.

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} = \frac{1}{\tau_{bulk}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{surface}} = \frac{1}{\tau_{rad}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{Aug}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{SRH}} + \frac{2S}{W},$$
 (19)

Methodology

where the final term on the right accounts for surface recombination affects, considering the sample thickness, W (cm), and the surface recombination velocity of carriers, S (cm/s). The τ_{rad} , τ_{Aug} , and τ_{SRH} terms correspond to contributions from radiative, Auger-Meitner, and Shockley-Read-Hall recombination, respectively.

3.3.4 Kelvin probe

Kelvin probe is a non-contact method of measuring the work function of metals and semiconductor materials to a micron-scale resolution. This approach relies on creating a parallel plate capacitor though the suspension of an oscillating measurement tip above a sample, thus forming two electrodes. Electrical contact is made between the two electrodes, resulting in a potential gradient known as the contact potential, V_c . A backing potential, V_b , is then applied. Figure 3.10 shows a schematic of this [115].

Traditionally this backing potential is set such that $V_b = -V_c$, to produce a null output signal. However, null measurements are often heavily influenced by noise, and so many modern Kelvin probe setups intentionally take off-null measurements, and then extrapolate from this using the Baikie method [116].



Figure 3.10: (a) An energy band diagram of two materials, representing a measurement tip and a sample, with ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 being the respective work functions of each material. (b) Electrical contact made between the materials, with potential gradient V_c . (c) A backing potential, V_b , applied to the circuit. This image has been adapted from Ref. [115].

For semiconductor materials, the work function (WF) of a sample can be determined by measuring the contact potential difference (CPD) and then performing a linear translation, using the work function of the measurement tip.

$$WF_{sample} = WF_{tip} + CPD$$
 (20)

In the case of stacked materials, such as a dielectric thin film deposited on top of a semiconductor substrate, the resultant 'effective' work function can be obtained by considering the setup as a series of parallel plate capacitors [117].

$$CPD = \varphi_{metal} - \varphi_{insulator} - \varphi_{semiconductor} , \qquad (21)$$

where φ_{metal} , $\varphi_{insulator}$, and $\varphi_{semiconductor}$ are the potentials across the metal measurement probe tip, the dielectric, and the semiconductor, respectively. A band diagram depicting a semiconductor and positively charge dielectric can be seen in Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.11: Band diagram of a semiconductor and positively charged dielectric stack, alongside a metal probe tip. Potentials across each region are labelled, as well as conduction and valance bands, and the Fermi energy.

The potential of the metal probe tip is equivalent to the work function of the probe material:

$$\varphi_{metal} = \Phi_m. \tag{22}$$

In the semiconductor, a surface charge region (SCR) is generated at the interface between the semiconductor and dielectric, resulting from charge carriers in the semiconductor mirroring the opposing charge carriers within the dielectric layer. Thus, the potential in the semiconductor is equal to the combined potential across the bulk and the surface charge region, with the bulk potential being equal to the work function of the semiconductor:

$$\varphi_{semiconductor} = \varphi_{bulk} + \varphi_{SCR} = \Phi_s + \varphi_{SCR} \,. \tag{23}$$

The potential across the insulator, or dielectric, is equivalent to the voltage difference across a parallel plate capacitor with a dielectric layer:

$$\varphi_{insulator} = \Delta V_i = \frac{x_c Q_f}{\kappa_i \varepsilon_0}, \qquad (24)$$

where κ_i is the dielectric constant, also known as the relative permittivity of the dielectric, ε_0 is the permittivity of free space, and the charge distribution is approximated using a Dirac-delta function where the effective charge density, Q_f , is located at a distance, x_c , from the interface. Thus the contact potential difference reveals information on both the work function of the semiconductor, and the fixed charge within the dielectric layer:

$$CPD = \Phi_m - \Phi_s - \varphi_{SCR} - \frac{x_c Q_f}{\kappa_i \varepsilon_0}.$$
 (25)

It is important to take into consideration that the dielectric constant of a material is not always fixed. Shifts in 'effective' work function may be due to changes in the charge of the dielectric layer, but may also result from structural changes which influence the dielectric constant.

Contact potential difference measurements are typically taken in the dark, thus eliminating photoexcitation mechanisms. Under illumination the number of free charge carriers increases, thus altering the potential across the SCR. Surface photovoltage (SPV) considers the difference in contact potential difference between measurements in darkness and under illumination, which can reveal information on barrier heights [118] and interface defects [119].

3.3.5 Corona charging

Corona charging involves the ionization of air around an electrode through application of a voltage. In a typical corona charging setup a point electrode, held at a fixed voltage, will be suspended a distance above a sample which has been grounded using a plate electrode. The ions generated in the immediate area around the point electrode will then drift, following the electrical field lines, downwards and are deposited onto the surface of the sample, as shown in Figure 3.12. The average corona charge deposited onto the surface over time can be approximated via

$$Q_{Cavg} = \frac{1}{A_C} \int_0^{t'} I_C dt = \frac{1}{A_C} I_C t', \qquad (26)$$

where I_c is the current, and A_c is the effective area where the ions will land, approximated using Warburg's law [120].



Figure 3.12: Schematic of an example corona charging setup, whereby a voltage applied to an electrode, results in the generation of charged ions which are then deposited onto the surface below.

In the field of dielectrics, corona charging can be used to enhance field effect passivation, assuming the extrinsic corona charge and intrinsic dielectric charge have the same polarity [121, 122]. With opposite charge polarities the field effect can instead be negated [123, 124].

As opposing extrinsic charge is deposited onto the surface of the dielectric it neutralises the charge within the dielectric layer and the field effect reduces. By extension, the effective lifetime is also reduced. The lifetime will continue to decrease until the field effect is fully neutralised, and will then start to increase again as further charge is added. The amount of charge required to reach this minimum lifetime point provides a qualitative indication of the amount of charge initially present within the dielectric. Figure 3.13 shows this affect occurring, using simulated SRV measurements of positive corona charge deposited onto a negatively charged Al₂O₃ layer [124]. Considering that there are no field-effect passivation mechanisms occurring at this point, the minimum lifetime, or maximum SRV, reached is an indication of the chemical passivation provided by the dielectric. Though this cannot provide a quantitative description, it can highlight relative changes in chemical passivation quality between samples.



Figure 3.13: Simulated SRV values, S_{eff}, for positive corona charge deposited onto a sample consisting of a negatively charged dielectric layer deposited onto an n-type crystalline silicon wafer, adapted from Ref. [124].

The combination of a corona charging setup with in-situ kelvin probe measurements can be used to investigate Flatband voltages, dielectric capacitance, and interface state densities; this is known as the COCOS method [125].
3.3.6 Expanded Cox and Strack method

The Cox and Strack method (CSM) is an approach used to calculate the contact resistance of thin films [126]. Contact resistance considers the total resistance resulting from interfaces between a device and the point where electrical contact is made to the rest of the circuit. This method has become particularly prominent in the field of photovoltaics, where device structures consist of numerous thin film architectures [127].

The necessary device structure to conduct CSM consists of a full coverage rear contact and circular front contacts, varying in size. The exact material used for these contacts will depend upon the device itself.

In CSM, total resistance of a device and contact structure, R_T , is defined as

$$R_T = R_C + R_S + R_0, \qquad (27)$$

where R_c is contact resistance, R_s is spreading resistance within the substrate, and R_0 is residual resistance from the full coverage rear contact, which is presumed negligible. Spreading resistance is defined by

$$R_{S} = \frac{\rho}{d\pi} \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{4t}{d}\right), \qquad (28)$$

where ρ is substrate resistivity, t is substrate thickness, and d is contact, or diode, diameter. Contact resistance is defined by

$$R_c = \frac{\rho_c}{\pi \left(\frac{d^2}{4}\right)},\tag{29}$$

where the contact resistivity, ρ_c , is the desired output.

Traditional CSM applies to Ohmic contact structures. However, for photovoltaic devices in particular, a Schottky heterojunction is more common. To account for this, Cheung's method of calculating resistance for Schottky contacts can be applied [128, 129]. Following Cheung's method

Methodology

$$\frac{d(V)}{d(\ln I)} = R_T I + \frac{nq}{kT},$$
(30)

where *n* is an ideality factor, *q* is the charge of an electron, *k* is the Boltzmann constant, and *T* is temperature. Thus R_T is the gradient of a plot with d(V)/d(lnI) on the *y*-axis and *I* on the *x*-axis. Combining these two methods gives the Expanded Cox and Strack (ECSM) method, where ρ_c is the gradient of the plot of $R_T - R_S$ by 1/S, where the diode area $S = \pi d^2/4$.

To apply this method a region of data after the threshold voltage should be selected, for example, the dashed black box in Figure 3.14(a). From there, a linear fit should be made of $d(V)/d(\ln I)$, to obtain values for R_T . This step will likely require smoothing of the original data, as small fluctuations become greatly magnified as can be seen in Figure 3.14(b). The gradients of each of these linear fits should then be plotted on a graph of $R_T - R_S$ vs 1/S as previously described. The gradient of the linear fit of these data points, as visualised in Figure 3.14(c), will give the contact resistivity of the measured sample. It should be noted that Figure 3.14 only provides a visual representation of the process, and the data and fitting provided should not be considered accurate.



Figure 3.14: Examples of graphs used in the application of the ECSM. (a) Raw current-voltage data, with a dashed black box highlighting the range of data used for further steps in the process. (b) Linear fits over the raw data of $d(V)/d(\ln I)$ vs I, resulting in values for R_T . It should be noted that while data smoothing has not been visualised in this figure, it was still applied before data fitting. This is necessary due to the high levels of noise in the data (this is particularly true for the blue and green fits). (c) A plot of $R_T - R_S$ vs 1/S, with the gradient of the linear fit providing the final contact resistivity value.

Chapter 4 Controllable Etch Resistance in HfO₂ Thin Films

Thin film dielectrics are ubiquitous in the manufacture of electronic devices and are frequently deposited and etched away at various stages of device fabrication. This chapter demonstrates that hafnium oxide (HfO₂) thin films grown via ALD on silicon, and silicon pre-coated with aluminium oxide (Al₂O₃) have etch resistance properties which can be tuned simply by changing the post-deposition annealing temperature. The etching rates of films in hydrofluoric acid (HF) solutions were found to be dependent upon annealing temperature, with the etch rate decreasing with increasing temperature. A transition region in the etch rate was identified between 300 and 350 °C, corresponding to the crystallisation of the HfO₂ films, as identified via X-ray diffraction. HfO₂ films deposited directly onto silicon annealed above 350 °C were resistant to 10% HF solutions over the course of several hours. In the case of Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacks, closer inspection reveals the existence of channels which reduces etch resistance to HF, as evidenced by TMAH etching of the silicon substrate. Crystallized HfO₂ can be used to protect other dielectrics in device processing, and this chapter demonstrates its use in single-sided fabrication of patterned structures of Al₂O₃ which can control the effective charge-carrier lifetime in silicon wafers for use in modulating THz and mm-wave radiation.

4.1 Motivation

The manufacturing of semiconductor devices often requires the deposition and selective removal of thin-film dielectric layers. As such, it is vital to have a portfolio of

dielectrics available with different etch resistances. Hafnium oxide (HfO₂) is a versatile material with applications in areas ranging from the high-temperature extreme environments of refractory ceramics [29] to sensitive structures for microelectronics [130]. As a high-*k* dielectric [131], it has been well established that HfO₂ is capable of enhancing the performance of transistors [132] and capacitors [133] and, beyond this, has been found to have useful anti-reflective [134] and surface passivating properties [70]·[71]. Interestingly, HfO₂ is also remarkably robust, having demonstrated resistance to oxidation [29], copper corrosion [30], and general weathering [27]. Understanding and controlling the robustness of HfO₂ would enable the utilization of these films as protective barrier layers in semiconductor processing. It may also be possible to create smooth and uniform ultrathin (~ 1 nm) films by etching back thicker films without incurring the surface roughness and nucleation defects issues which occur in the direct growth of films at the single nanometre scale [135].

This chapter determines the conditions under which HfO₂ grown by ALD has etch resistance. ALD is a low temperature process that allows for precise control and conformality of thin films [92-94]. The potential for low thermal budget depositions, combined with the compatibility with existing industrial processes makes ALD an attractive approach for thin film deposition. ALD systems can also be used for the selective removal of thin films, known as atomic layer etching (ALE). ALE allows for fine control over etching rates, but has the potential to result in surface damage, as with the case of plasma-etching [136], or requires a higher temperature operating window, as with thermal-ALE [137]. As such, this chapter instead focuses on investigating the wet chemical etching behaviour of HfO₂ films, as a less destructive, lower temperature alternative. Utilizing plasma-enhanced ALD and low/room temperature wet chemical etching could provide a low-thermal budget approach to ultrathin film growth.

The primary aim of this chapter is to demonstrate the capabilities of HfO_2 as a controllable protective layer for electronic and photovoltaic device processing. As such, several solutions commonly used in silicon processing are investigated as

potential etchants. This includes standard clean 1 (SC1 or RCA1), standard clean 2 (SC2 or RCA2), tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH), and hydrofluoric acid (HF). Where previous works have focused solely on HfO₂ layers deposited directly onto silicon [77, 79], this chapter also investigates the etch resistance of HfO₂ that has been incorporated into Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacks. It is important to establish whether, in addition to protecting silicon, HfO₂ is also able to protect other sensitive dielectrics. This diversifies the ways in which HfO₂ protective layers may be incorporated into complex electronic device structures.

The results of this investigation have already proven useful in the development of devices for the modulation of THz and mm-wave radiation. HfO_2 films have been utilized to protect passivating Al_2O_3 layers on the rear of samples as they undergo patterning processes necessary for modulation [138]. A case study for the use of HfO_2 's etch resistance is provided at the end of the chapter in section 4.5.

4.2 Experimental details

This section reports specific details detailing to the apparatus and experimental processes utilised within this chapter. For general information relating to methodology and theory, please refer to Chapter 3.

4.2.1 Sample Fabrication

Si/HfO₂ and Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacked layers were deposited onto mirror polished silicon (100) wafers, cut to 5 × 5 cm squares, *via* plasma-enhanced ALD (PE-ALD) using a Veeco Fiji G2 system. Before deposition, the silicon wafers were cleaned using established processes [89], starting with immersion in an RCA1 solution, consisting of de-ionized (DI) H₂O, NH₄OH (30 %), H₂O₂ (30 %) in a 5:1:1 ratio. This was then followed by an RCA2 solution: DI H₂O, HCl (37 %), H₂O₂ (30 %) in a 5:1:1 ratio. Both solutions were heated in a water bath to approximately 80 °C, with the H₂O₂ only added immediately before sample immersion. The samples spent 10 minutes in each

solution, preceded by a DI water rinse and a 60 s 1 % HF dip each time. The clean was completed with a final DI water rinse and 2 % HF dip. Each sample was individually dipped until it could be pulled dry from the HF solution, and was then immediately transferred to the ALD stage.

Depositions were performed at 200 °C, using O₂ plasma as the co-reactant, and argon as the inert carrier gas. To produce HfO₂ films, a tetrakis(dimethylamido)hafnium (TDMAH) precursor was pulsed for 0.25 s, followed by 6 s of O₂ plasma at 300 W, with a 5 s purge step before and after each. Al₂O₃ films were produced by pulsing a trimethylaluminium (TMA) precursor for 0.06 s and O₂ plasma for 6 s at 300 W, purging for 4 s between each step. For single layer samples, 200 process cycles of HfO₂ were deposited on each side of the wafer. This was preceded by 160 cycles of Al₂O₃ for the Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ samples. Samples were then either left in their as-deposited state, or annealed *ex-situ* in air for 30 minutes using a quartz tube furnace at temperatures ranging from 250 °C to 400 °C.

4.2.2 Characterization

The etch resistance of the single and stacked samples was investigated through measurement of HfO_2 film thickness, using a Filmetrics F40 reflectometry tool. Point measurements were taken at five different locations on a sample, and the results averaged. Figure 4.1 shows an example of the five measured data points for eight nominally identical HfO_2 samples, measured separately. The scatter in the data for each sample provides an indication of sample uniformity, as well as measurement error. The variation in thickness from sample to sample highlights the limitations of this measurement setup in terms of reproducibility, despite the controlled environment. The results of these eight samples provides an average thickness of 27.6 with a standard deviation of \pm 1 nm. However, when reproducibility and the advertised uncertainty of the Filmetrics F40 system are taken into account, an error margin of \pm 3 nm is used. Conclusively, the initial HfO₂ and Al₂O₃ film thicknesses were measured to be approximately 27 nm \pm 3 nm and 21 nm \pm 3 nm, respectively.

It should be considered that the mathematical model implemented in the Filmetrics system assumes a constant density; it is therefore possible that measurement variations attributed to film thickness may also be influenced by changes in film density or surface roughness. This is discussed further in section 4.4.4.



Figure 4.1: Data acquired from a Filmetrics F40 reflectometry system, measuring the thickness of HfO₂ films deposited on silicon. The results of eight different samples (colour coded) are compared, with five data points taken across each sample.

Samples were then submersed in one of the following solutions: RCA1, RCA2, 25 % TMAH, or 10 % HF. These are all solutions commonly used in the processing of silicon wafers. The RCA solutions were prepared as described for the initial cleaning process, the TMAH solution was heated to 80 °C, and the HF solution was kept at room temperature. At regular intervals the samples would be removed from solution and rinsed with DI water to pause the etching process, and the film thickness was measured.

Film crystallinity was investigated with grazing incidence X-ray diffraction (GI-XRD), using a 3rd generation Malvern Panalytical Empyrean XRD diffractometer, equipped with a Pixcel3D detector and multicore (iCore, iCore) optics providing Cu K $\alpha_{1/2}$ radiation. The sample surface was aligned to the direct beam to ensure that it was at the centre of rotation of the goniometer and the incident angle was set to 0.5°. 20 measurements were made in the range 15° - 70° 20. The data was fitted using the Malvern Panalytical HighScore Plus data analysis software.

Atomic force microscopy (AFM) was performed on certain etched samples using a Bruker Dimension Icon microscope in PeakForce Tapping Mode, with a ScanAsyst-Air tip [139]. The resulting images were processed using Gwyddion 2.60.

4.2.3 Case study

To demonstrate the utility of HfO₂ in device processing, a case study of patterned surface passivation is provided. Samples were produced with Al₂O₃ on both the front and the rear of the Si substrate. HfO₂ was then applied to the back side only, to protect the rear Al₂O₃ layer from etching during the patterning of the front Al₂O₃ layer. In this part of the work photolithography was performed using a custom-made photomask. The mask consisted of 9 distinct 2.5×2.5 cm regions, with different filling fractions of periodic square holes. S1818 photoresist was spin-coated at 5000 rpm for 30 s, followed by a soft bake at 115 °C for 1 minute. The photoresist was then exposed for 3 s (equivalent to a dose of ~130 mJ/cm²) in soft contact mode with 100 μ m maskwafer separation, using a Suss MicroTec BA8 Gen3 mask aligner. Following exposure, the photoresist was developed in an MF319 solution for 45 s, followed by a rinse in DI water. To protect the photoresist during wet chemical etching, a hard bake at 130 °C for 5 minutes was conducted following development. The resulting structure was then etched in a 2 % TMAH solution at room temperature for 25 minutes. Photoluminescence images were taken using a BT Imaging iLS-L1, with an exposure of 1 Sun (~1000 Wm⁻²) for 5 s.

4.3 Wet chemical etching behaviour

This section investigates and compares the wet chemical etch resistance of HfO₂ films deposited directly onto silicon wafers (referred to as Si/HfO₂), and HfO₂ films deposited over an Al₂O₃ layer (referred to as Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂), to various solutions commonly utilized in silicon processing.

4.3.1 HfO₂ and HfO₂/Al₂O₃ Chemical etch resistance

The wet chemical etch resistance of Si/HfO₂ samples kept in their as-deposited state (at 200 °C) are compared to samples annealed at 400 °C in air for 30 minutes. Figure 4.2 shows how the film thickness of HfO₂, as measured *via* reflectometry, varies with time spent in each of the solutions. As seen in Figure 4.2(a), (b), and (c), excellent resistance is demonstrated for samples in RCA1, RCA2, and TMAH solutions, with no change in film thickness observed after 1 hour, for both as-deposited and annealed samples. Remarkably, annealed Si/HfO₂ layers also shows no change in film thickness, even after 1 hour in a 10% HF solution (Figure 4.2(d)) This outperforms both SiO₂, which has an etch rate of 1 nm/s with the same HF concentration [140], and Al₂O₃ which has an etch rate of 0.8 nm/s in only 1% HF [141]. For a wet chemical etching approach to create ultrathin crystalline HfO₂ films to be viable, the use of higher concentrations of HF could be considered.

In contrast, rapid etching is seen in the as-deposited sample, as can be seen in the inset of Figure 4.2(d). This result is supported by the works of Murdzek *et al.* [79] and Lowalekar and Raghavan [77], who also noticed a significantly more rapid etch rate for as-deposited Si/HfO₂ samples compared to ones that had been heat-treated. The fact that it is possible to control the chemical etch resistance with a simple anneal treatment is investigated further in section 4.3.2.

Considering an intended application of this HfO₂ layer is to protect other dielectric layers from being etched, the wet chemical etch resistance of Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacks was also studied. As such, Figure 4.2 also shows the variation in thickness of HfO₂ films, deposited on Al₂O₃, during immersion in RCA1, RCA2, TMAH or HF solutions. In the first three solutions (Figure 4.2(a), (b), and (c)), stacked samples show a similar response to single layer HfO₂ films, in both the as-deposited and annealed cases. This would indicate that the integrity of the HfO₂ etch resistance to these solutions is not influenced by a layer beneath. Looking at the etch resistance to HF in Figure 4.2(d), similar etch rates between as-deposited single layer and stacked samples can be seen,

with rapid, linear etching in under 2 minutes. However, it is apparent that, once annealed, the inclusion of an Al₂O₃ layer reduces the etch resistance of the HfO₂ film to HF, with the Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ etching slowly over the course of several hours. The etching of the annealed Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ sample is much slower, less linear, and less uniform than in the as-deposited case, indicating that a different etching mechanism is responsible. It should be noted that, although reduced, the stacked sample still demonstrates a substantially increased etch resistance compared to an Al₂O₃ layer alone, and thus would provide sufficient protection in most chemical processing scenarios.



Figure 4.2: Measured thickness of HfO₂ films deposited on silicon and Al_2O_3 on silicon, as modelled via Filmetrics reflectometry, assuming a fixed thickness of Al_2O_3 beneath. Results are plotted as a function of time spent in a (a) RCA1, (b) RCA2, (c) TMAH (25%), or (d) HF (10%) solution. The inset in (d) shows the first 1.5 min of etching. As-deposited Si/HfO₂ (red diamond) and Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ (yellow pentagon) films are compared to samples annealed at 400 °C for 30 min in air (dark blue triangles, and light blue circles for single layers and stacks, respectively). It should be noted that these measurements may be influenced by limitations in the measurement setup, particularly the assumed fixed density and thickness of the Al_2O_3 layer.

It should be noted that for some samples, particularly the samples immersed in a TMAH solution, the thickness can be seen gradually increasing over time. This is, most likely, not a true description of the dielectric film thickness, but instead the result of residue on the surface. TMAH, in particular, is a very viscous solution. Figure 4.3 shows a close up of the HfO₂ film thickness of an annealed sample as it is immersed in a 25% TMAH solution. Film thickness appears to increase from around 26 nm to almost 30 nm. However, after a 10 s dip in a 10% HF solution, the film thickness then returns to its original value. It is likely that a DI water rinse was not enough to fully remove the TMAH, and so a residue was building up on the surface. The HF solution was then able to remove this residue, without etching any of the annealed HfO₂ film.



Figure 4.3: Thickness measurements of HfO₂ films deposited on silicon, measured via reflectometry, as a function of time spent in a 25% TMAH solution. The dark orange bar is the initial measured thickness before immersion in TMAH. The blue section highlights the measured thickness after the sample is immersed in a 10% HF solution for 10 s, following 60 min in TMAH.

4.3.2 Temperature dependence of HF etching

From Figure 4.2, it is clear that a post deposition annealing treatment substantially changes the wet chemical etching behaviour of the single- and double-layer dielectric films. Therefore, to investigate this dependence further, the etch resistance of Si/HfO₂ and Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ samples annealed at temperatures between 250 - 400 °C for 30 minutes is examined. In Figure 4.4 the results of this investigation, averaged across several repeated experiments, are plotted. For the Si/HfO₂ samples, Figure 4.4(a) demonstrates that etching occurs on three different time scales. Samples annealed

above 350 °C typically show no measurable sign of etching after 3 hours in a 10% HF solution, whilst samples annealed below 300 °C etch rapidly, being fully removed within a few minutes. Between these two temperatures there is a transition region, highlighted by the orange band, where samples etch slowly over the course of several hours. To the best of the authors' knowledge, this is the first time such a transition period has been identified in the wet chemical etch resistance of HfO₂ films. Etching of films annealed within this temperature region may provide a route to high-quality, non-amorphous, ultrathin HfO₂ layers, without the need for higher HF concentrations.



Figure 4.4: Thickness of HfO_2 films deposited at 200 °C on (a) silicon and (b) ~20 nm of Al_2O_3 on silicon, annealed at different temperatures, measured via reflectometry, as a function of time spent in a 10% HF solution. This data set is produced from averaging results across up to six repeated experiments. The orange shaded bands highlight areas of interest discussed in the main text.

Figure 4.4(b) shows the annealing temperature dependence of the etch resistance of stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ samples to HF. A low-temperature region can again be identified, where films etch rapidly, as well as a transition region, between 300 and 350 °C, where films etch more slowly, similar to the single layer HfO₂ films shown in Figure 4.4(a). However, looking at the temperatures \geq 350 °C, very slow etching of the stacked samples can be seen, as highlighted by the orange band. At these temperatures, where the single layer HfO₂ films showed complete resistance to etching, the corresponding Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacked layers in Figure 4.4(b) do not. From

this, it can be inferred that the dependence of the underlayer on the etch resistance (in HF solutions) only becomes apparent once annealed at temperatures \geq 350 °C.

4.3.3 Film crystallinity

To investigate any potential correlation between the etch resistance of the single or stacked samples and the crystallinity of the HfO₂ layer, GI-XRD is applied to samples that are annealed between 250 - 400 °C, with the patterns presented in Figure 4.5. From Figure 4.5(a), it can be identified that ~26 nm thick HfO₂ films on silicon crystallise between 300 and 350 °C. Below this temperature range, the HfO₂ films are primarily in an amorphous state, whilst above 350 °C clear peaks can be seen that correspond to a distinct crystal structure. These peaks have been indexed according to a monoclinic HfO₂ crystal structure [142].



Figure 4.5: GI-XRD patterns, using a Cu K- α source, taken from samples of ~26 nm (200 cycles) of HfO₂ deposited (a) directly onto polished silicon, and (b) on polished silicon samples with a ~20 nm (160 cycles) Al₂O₃ interlayer. Samples were annealed in air for 30 min at temperatures ranging from asdeposited (200 °C) to 400 °C. Patterns have been vertically offset for clarity and the main crystallographic planes indexed at the top. The different regimes of etching are labelled on the right.

The variation in crystal structure with annealing temperature corresponds closely to the three stages of HF etch resistance observed in Figure 4.4, with amorphous samples etching quickly, crystallised samples showing no evidence of etching, and samples around the crystallisation region etching at an intermediate time scale. In contrast however, no notable distinction is seen in the crystal structure of HfO₂ on Al₂O₃ compared to HfO₂ on silicon, as shown in Figure 4.5(b). Thus, the etch resistance of the 400 °C annealed stacked samples is not related to differences in the crystallised structure of the HfO₂ layer itself.

4.4 Etching mechanisms

4.4.1 Physical damage

To investigate potential causes for variations in etching rates, it was first necessary to ensure that this difference in behaviour was not a matter of physical damage to the samples which could occur during handling. To examine this, a scratch test was conducted, whereby a sample of each type was scratched diagonally from corner to corner and placed alongside unscratched samples in a HF solution. The result of this investigation can be seen in Figure 4.6, which also includes a schematic of the scratch and approximate measurement points. Measurements were taken at varying distances from the scratch, but not directly over it. It is apparent that this degree of physical damage has no influence upon the etching behaviour of either the single layer Si/HfO₂ or the stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ films. This demonstrates that the protective capabilities of HfO₂ are remarkably unimpeded by physical damage. It also implies that there must be other mechanisms responsible for the reduced etch resistance of high temperature stacked samples.

4.4.2 Pinholes

The possibility that the etching solutions are, in some way, travelling through the overlaying films to the underlying substrate is next considered. It has been well established that TMAH etching solutions create distinct square-based pyramid etch



Figure 4.6: Thickness of HfO_2 films, deposited on top of either a ~20 nm thick Al_2O_3 layer or directly onto silicon, annealed at 400 °C in air for 30 min, as a function of time in a 10% HF solution. Samples scratched with a diamond scribe are compared to unscratched samples. A diagram of the method of scratching, and measurement locations, is shown within the figure.

pits in Si(100) [143][·][144]. Si/HfO₂ and Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ samples in their as-deposited and annealed states are compared after 1 hour in a 25% TMAH solution at 80 °C. In the case of single layer Si/HfO₂ samples, no evidence of TMAH etching can be seen under an optical microscope; this is also the case for the as-deposited stacked samples. However, once annealed, the stacked sample shows extensive etching of the underlying silicon substrate across the entire sample, despite having already established there is no change in measured film thickness.

A close-up optical microscope image of the annealed and TMAH-etched stacked sample can be seen in Figure 4.7(a), which clearly shows the distinct square shape of the etch pits. This implies that the annealing of Si/HfO₂/Al₂O₃ stacked samples creates channels throughout the entire structure, through which the TMAH can pass through to the underlying silicon, as depicted in Figure 4.7(b).

Through application of AFM, the shape of these channels after the etching process was imaged. An image of a single etch pit, as well as the corresponding depth profile, can be seen in Figure 4.7(c) and (d). Note that the dimensions of the AFM tip prevent measurement of the full depth of the etch pit, with the value obtained here cutting

off at around $-0.8 \,\mu$ m. These results would suggest that the dielectrics directly over the etch pits become undermined, and are thus removed by the solution, leaving a channel through the entire structure that is the size and shape of the etch pit below. The initial form of these channels before etching has not yet been identified, though there is the potential for them to take the form of pinholes. If controlled, pinholes can behave as a beneficial charge carrier transport mechanism, acting as an alternative tunnelling process through thin film structures. In particular, this may prove useful in the field of photovoltaics, for applications in passivating contacts [145]. These channels do not appear to be present in the as-deposited case or in the single layer Si/HfO₂ samples.



Figure 4.7: (a) An optical microscope image of a stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ sample annealed at 400 °C, after 1 hour in a 25% TMAGH solution. (b) An illustration of the etch pits apparent in the structure, with the dashed lines representing some form of channel through the structure. (c) An AFM scan of a single etch pit in the annealed Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ sample. (d) The depth profile of the etch pit in (c), with the data collected along the white arrow. The dashed section in (d) does not correspond to the physical profile of the etch pit and results from limitations of the AFM tip dimensions.

The same behaviour can be seen in annealed stacked samples during immersion in HF, as depicted in Figure 4.8. Visible channels appear in the stacked structure after around 20 minutes, which then expand over time. This is likely due to the HF passing through channels in the HfO₂ layer to the Al₂O₃ layer beneath, which will then etch more quickly in localised regions. The HfO₂ is eventually undermined and will delaminate, as can be seen in the final micrograph. This apparent channel structure may be responsible for the change in etching behaviour that we see in annealed stacked samples, compared to the other sample variations that have been investigated. However, it is not yet clear why these channels are not present in either single layer Si/HfO₂ samples, or as-deposited stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ samples. A possible explanation would be the diffusion of hydrogen, or other elements, through the layers in the sample, which occurs during the post-deposition annealing stage. Blistering, resulting from high temperature anneals, may also be a potential factor [146]-[147].



Figure 4.8: Thickness measurements and optical micrographs of a specific region on a stacked *Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂* sample, annealed at 350 °C, during immersion in a 10% HF solution. Each micrograph corresponds to a specific data point on the thickness plot. The black dots on each image highlight the reflectometry measurement point.

4.4.3 Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ vs Si/HfO₂/Al₂O₃

As discussed in section 4.4.2, the existence of channels within a Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ structure has been established. This section investigates whether these channels are unique to this particular stack, or whether they can be found in other film structures. As previously mentioned, no evidence of these channels was found in Si/HfO2 samples, and it is difficult to examine Si/Al₂O₃ samples due to the etch rates of Al₂O₃. However, it is possible to investigate Si/HfO₂/Al₂O₃ samples, which is the inverse of the initial Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stack structure.

The thickness of the combined dielectric layer of Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ samples was measured using a Filmetrics F40 system, by assuming a fixed Al₂O₃ film thickness of 20 nm, and a variable HfO₂ film thickness. This was compared to Si/HfO₂/Al₂O₃ samples, where a fixed HfO₂ film thickness of 25 nm was assumed, with a variable Al₂O₃ film thickness. The results of this can be seen in Figure 4.9, with fixed and variable thicknesses depicted by solid and patterned sections, respectively.

After 1 hour in a 25% TMAH solution at 80 °C, the Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ films show no change in film thickness, as was established in section 4.3.1. For the Si/HfO₂/Al₂O₃ samples, the Al₂O₃ layer became thinner than could be accurately detected by the Filmetrics system. However, these samples could be accurately modelled using a single layer variable HfO₂ model, with a thickness that is slightly higher than the initially assumed 25 nm. It is, therefore, likely that the Al₂O₃ layer was fully removed, whilst the HfO₂ remained unetched.

Analysing these samples under a microscope, etch pits were seen in the annealed Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂, as seen in Figure 4.7(a). However, no evidence of etching was found in Si/HfO₂/Al₂O₃ stacks, annealed or as-deposited. If pinhole formations do exist within this stack structure, they exist in such a way that solutions are unable to widen and travel through them to the silicon substrate below.



Figure 4.9: Thickness of (a),(b) $Si/Al_2O_3/HfO_2$ stacks and (c),(d) $Si/HfO_2/Al_2O_3$ stacks, measured via reflectometry, before and after 1 hour in a 25% TMAH solution at 80 °C. Both as-deposited samples and samples annealed at 400 °C are included. In the reflectometry model the bottom layer of the stack is set to a fixed thickness (solid), and the upper layer thickness is variable (patterned).

4.4.4 Thickness vs density

As previously discussed, the Filmetrics modelling system used in this work assumes a fixed film density. However, this is not the case for the Malvern Panalytical AMAS software, which considers film thickness and density to be variable.

Figure 4.10(a) shows the Filmetrics measurement results for three samples after immersion in a 10% HF solution. Two of these samples were annealed at approximately 300 °C, and the final sample, annealed at a higher temperature above the crystallisation region, was used as a control. As expected, the measured thickness

of the control sample does not vary after 1 hour in the HF solution, whilst the 300°C annealed samples get thinner with longer immersion times (as the HfO₂ films etch), consistent with the data presented in Figure 4.4. These samples were kept in solution for 2 min and 4 min, denoted as 2 min HF and 4 min HF, respectively. Figure 4.10(b) shows x-ray reflectivity (XRR) data of the same samples, after immersion in HF. The reflectivity curves of the control sample and the 4 min HF sample have the same frequency, indicating similar film thickness. The frequency of the 2 min HF sample reflectivity curve, however, is approximately half that of the other two samples, suggesting a thinner film. The results of these two figures are summarised in Table 4.1.



Figure 4.10: (*a*) Thickness of HfO₂ films deposited on silicon, measured via reflectometry, as a function of time spent in a 10% HF solution. Samples include: one sample annealed at approximately 300 °C, immersed in HF for 2 min, a nominally identical sample immersed for 4 min, and a control sample which has been annealed at a higher temperature.

As seen from the results in Table 4.1, the XRR model suggest that the HfO₂ films are initially getting thinner whilst maintaining a relatively consistent density, but with continued immersion in HF, the samples return to their initial thickness with a significantly lower density. This does not make physical sense, indicating there must be a limitation within the model.

Samala	Filmetrics	X-ray Reflectivity			
Sample	Thickness (nm)	Thickness (nm)	Density (g/cm ³)		
control	26.23	21.54	8.81		
2 min HF	18.45	10.88	9.68		
4 min HF	3.97	23.42	2.70		

Table 4.1: A comparison between measured results of HfO_2 film thickness, from a Filmetrics F40 reflectometry system and x-ray reflectometry data fitted using the Panalytical AMAS software. The Filmetrics system assumes a fixed film density, whilst the AMAS software considers both film thickness and film density to be variable.

To elucidate the inconsistency between film thickness and density via XRR, we perform a Fourier thickness analysis, derived from the XRR measurements. Figure 4.11(a)-(c) shows thickness analysis Fourier plots for the three samples, with the raw data in blue and the model in red. The raw data for the 2 min HF sample in Figure 4.11(b) still shows a peak at ~20 nm, which could not be fit by the model. This indicates that the thickness of 10.88 nm in Table 4.1, as suggested by the model, is not accurate. Figure 4.11(d) shows a density plot of this sample. The top of the HfO₂ film appears to have a low density of around 2 g/cm³, which is similar to the 2.70 g/cm³ density of the 4 min HF sample film. At a thickness of around 11 nm there is a transition, where the density increases up to almost 10 g/cm³, which then remains consistent throughout the bottom section of the film. This lower region is what was modelled by the AMAS software, resulting in the appearance of a reduced film thickness.

With this exception accounted for, the overall results from the XRR data suggest film density, rather than film thickness, is decreasing with increased etch time. Additionally, film density does not appear to decrease uniformly throughout the film, but instead decreases from the top downwards. This data is not enough to conclusively state which model is more accurately depicting the real physical changes within the HfO₂ films, but it is important to consider how film thickness and density are integrated into such models for future studies.



Figure 4.11: Film thickness Fourier analysis of XRR data for samples consisting of HfO₂ films deposited onto silicon, with the data plotted in blue and the model fit in red. These samples include: (a) a control sample, which remains unetched after immersion in HF, (b) a sample annealed at approximately 300 °C after 2 min in a 10% HF solution, (c) a nominally identical sample after 4 min in HF. (d) A density profile of the 2 min HF sample from (b).

4.5. Case Study

4.5.1 Lifetime control

The benefits of the etch resistance of HfO₂ films are shown in the following example of a fabrication process used to produce patterned passivation layer to control carrier lifetime in semiconductor devices. Such lifetime control is needed in the fabrication of mm-wave or THz modulation devices. Such devices are particularly useful for quality-control and security imaging purposes, enabling for non-invasive screening of stacked or concealed materials, like dielectric, plastics, and textiles [148].

To achieve a suitable trade-off between modulation and switching speed in THz photomodulators, it is necessary to control the effective lifetime in the device [149]. The carrier lifetime level required often lies in between the value required given by two well passivated surfaces and a completely unpassivated wafer (e.g. 10µs to 10ms). One way of achieving such an intermediate lifetime is to pattern the surface passivation on one side, which was the approach used in a recent study by Hooper *et*

al. [138]. The production of such a photomodulator was enabled by the use of etch-resistant HfO₂ layer on the rear, as described in this section.

A schematic of the fabrication process can be seen in Figure 4.12(a). Both sides of a high lifetime silicon wafer were passivated by Al_2O_3 films. A HfO_2 layer is then deposited over the Al_2O_3 on the rear. The sample is then annealed at 450 °C, with the temperature required for optimal Al_2O_3 passivation being above the crystallisation temperature of the HfO_2 layer. The crystallised HfO_2 becomes strongly resistant to wet chemical etching, in comparison to the exposed Al_2O_3 layer on the front. Photolithography is then used to pattern the front Al_2O_3 layer, and immersion in a 2% TMAH solution at room temperature results in the front Al_2O_3 etching according to the photolithography pattern, whilst the rear Al_2O_3 is protected by the HfO_2.



Figure 4.12: (a) A process sequence involving the use of a rear HfO₂ protective layer to fabricate a patterned front-side passivated THz photomodulator. The HfO₂ layer provides protection against etching for the rear Al₂O₃ passivation, whilst the front is patterned and etched through a combination of photolithography and immersion in a 2% TMAH solution. (b) Photoluminescence images acquired with the same exposure conditions (1 Sun, 5 s) of samples with different filling fractions on the front Al₂O₃ surface, producing samples with tuneable carrier lifetimes. The optical micrographs show the patterned passivation structures with Al₂O₃ having been removed from the lighter-coloured periodic features.

Importantly, stacking the Al₂O₃ and HfO₂ does not result in any substantial decline in passivation quality. Consistent and high-quality passivation is essential, so that the carrier lifetime of each device can then be carefully controlled through the patterning process on the front side. Each pattern has a different filling fraction, with an increased filling fraction indicating the increasing size of holes within the passivation layer, corresponding to a decrease in carrier lifetime. Examples of samples with patterns of increasing filling fraction, and thus decreasing passivation, can be seen in Figure 4.12(b). This example illustrates the potential of using HfO₂ protective films in the fabrication of semiconductor devices.

4.6 Conclusions

This chapter has studied the etch resistance of single layer Si/HfO₂ and stacked Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ structures to solutions commonly used in silicon processing. HfO₂ deposited directly onto Si has been demonstrated to have excellent etch resistance to RCA1, RCA2, and TMAH, showing no indication of variation in film thickness after 1 hour in each solution. Si/HfO₂ samples annealed above 350 °C also show no sign of etching after 1 hour in a 10% HF solution, though etch rates increase dramatically with lower temperature anneals. A direct correlation between the etch rates of HfO₂ films in HF to the HfO₂ film crystallinity was identified, with amorphous films annealed <300 °C etching quickly, crystallised films annealed \geq 350 °C not etching within the timeframe, and a transition period between these temperatures where the film begins to crystallise.

In the case of annealed Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacked samples, a reduction in etch resistance was identified, compared to the single layer counterparts. It has been established that this reduced etch resistance is not a consequence of changes in the HfO₂ crystallised structure, and is not likely to be related to handling damage of the samples. By investigating the TMAH etching of stacked samples, evidence for channels has been found within the annealed Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ structure, which allow chemical solutions to penetrate down to the silicon below. In the case of TMAH, the HfO₂ and Al₂O₃ films

themselves are not etched, as there is no change in measured film thickness. However, in a 10% HF solution the Al_2O_3 layer beneath the HfO_2 does appear to etch away, resulting in undermining and delamination of the HfO_2 film.

Different interlayers may influence chemical etch resistance, as with the Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stack, due to the formation of channels within the sample structure. However, the etch resistance of the stack is still significantly greater than in the case of an exposed Al_2O_3 layer.

The excellent etch resistance of HfO₂ films, as demonstrated in this chapter, suggests a promising potential for applications as protective barrier layers in silicon-based electronic and photovoltaic device structures. The use of HfO₂ thin films as a protective barrier has already proved useful in the research of THz and mm-wave modulation, and has the potential to be applied to a variety of different stacked structures. This work will become even more important as device structures and silicon processing techniques continue to develop in complexity.

4.7 Future Work: Localised annealing

This section details initial investigations into utilising the controllable etch resistance of HfO2 demonstrated in this chapter. Though these investigations have not been pursued to completion, they provide insight into potential routes for further work.

4.7.1 Laser annealing

As mentioned in this chapter, the patterning of thin film dielectrics can be useful for the fabrication of semiconductor devices, such as THz modulators. Current patterning methods require photolithography, which is a time-consuming process that is not easily expanded to an industrial scale. This section investigates using the unique etching characteristics of HfO₂ films to develop an alternative approach to wafer patterning. As demonstrated throughout this chapter, the etch rate of HfO₂ films can be controlled through a simple heat-treatment of the sample. Amorphous HfO₂ will etch rapidly in HF, whilst fully crystallised HfO₂ has strong resistance to HF etching. If a HfO₂ thin film can be locally crystallised through an annealing process, then a pattern can be produced through a simple HF dip.

T. Tabata demonstrated the localised annealing of HfO₂ through the application of a UV pulsed laser [82]. However, this resulted in a cubic structure, rather than monoclinic. This may have been due to the increased cooling rate compared to conventional furnace annealing, which prevented relaxation of the structure into a monoclinic form. The etching characteristics of cubic HfO₂ have not yet been investigated.

Similarly, Larkin *et al.* used a condensed e-beam, with an electron dose of 10^6 e/nm^2 , to produce a slow transition from amorphous to crystallised HfO₂, with a resolution of 10 nm [80, 81]. The crystallisation of the HfO₂ is visible through a TEM microscope, though the exact crystallised structure was not determined.

To investigate the potential of laser annealing on HfO₂ films, a Universal Laser Systems 50 W CO₂ laser setup was utilized. A grid pattern was designed, to be annealed onto a 10 cm silicon wafer, with approximately 27 nm of HfO₂ deposited on both sides. This grid was made up of 0.5×0.5 cm squares, 6 squares across and 6 squares down, as seen in Figure 4.13. Speed, power, and points per inch (PPI) were all varied across the grid pattern. Initially, speed was varied between 100% - 5%, with power and PPI at maximum, then power was varied from 10% - 60%, with speed at 5% and PPI at maximum, and finally PPI was varied between 50 – 200 PPI, with power at maximum, and speed also varying from 5% - 40%. Every other row, the settings would be repeated, with the anneal conducted on both sides of the wafer, rather than the top side only. These settings are summarised in Table 4.2, with each box corresponding to a square on the grid pattern.



Figure 4.13: A schematic of a laser pattern on a 10 cm wafer, consisting of a grid of 0.5×0.5 cm squares, 6 across and 6 down. The laser settings are varied in each square, in attempt to locally anneal the HfO₂ film on the sample, without damage to the Si wafer.

peq	100%	80%	60%	40%	20%	5%	
Spe	100%	80%	60%	40%	20%	5%	double sided
ver	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	
Pov	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	double sided
	50	50	50	100	100	200	
-	(5%)	(10%)	(20%)	(20%)	(40%)	(40%)	
Ч	50	50	50	100	100	200	double
	(5%)	(10%)	(20%)	(20%)	(40%)	(40%)	sided

Table 4.2: A table showing the laser settings that were varied throughout the initial laser annealing investigation, with each box corresponding to a square on the grid in Figure 4.13. As speed was varied, power and PPI were set to maximum. When power was varied, PPI was at maximum and speed was at 5%. When PPI was varied, power was at maximum and speed was varied as shown by the numbers in brackets.

Figure 4.14(a)-(c) compares PL imaging of the sample before and after the localised annealing process, alongside a control sample annealed in a furnace at 400 °C. Crystallised monoclinic HfO₂ is known to passivate silicon, resulting in higher carrier

lifetimes than amorphous HfO_2 [21, 22, 24, 70, 71], and the variation in carrier lifetime can be detected through PL imaging. However, there is no change in PL intensity between the wafer before and after the laser process, indicating that no crystallised monoclinic HfO_2 is present on the surface. Figure 4.14(d) and (e) show microscope images of the laser damage that is present in some of the squares on the pattern. This occurs should the speed of the laser be too low, or the power or PPI be too high.

From these initial results, it is clear that laser annealing of HfO₂ films is a very involved process. Initial experiments with this particular set-up proved unsuccessful, though more success may be had through use of a different laser, as demonstrated by Tabata [82].



Figure 4.14: PL images acquired with the same exposure conditions (1 Sun, 5 s) of (a) a silicon wafer with ~12 nm amorphous HfO_2 , (b) the same sample after a laser annealing process, and (c) a control wafer annealed in a furnace at 400 °C. (d) A microscope image of laser damage to the silicon wafer, showing the frequency of the laser pulsing, with (e) a close-up image of the damage caused by a single pulse.

4.7.2 Stamp annealing

A simpler approach to localised annealing is to use a stamp method. For this process a ceramic washer, heated in a furnace to around 600 °C (well above the crystallisation temperature of HfO₂) was stamped onto Si samples, as demonstrated in Figure 4.15(a). A Si sample, with approximately 27 nm HfO₂ on both sides, was placed on a hotplate heated to 300 °C (just below the crystallisation temperature of HfO₂). The washer was removed from the furnace, quickly transferred to the wafer, and pressed onto the surface for 2 minutes. This was repeated on both sides of the sample. Figure 4.15(b) shows a photograph of a sample after stamp annealing, with a ring of particulates on the surface, likely picked up from the furnace. Figure 4.15(c) shows a PL image of the same sample. A faint ring is of higher PL intensity is present; however, this is likely due to the luminescence of dirt particles, rather than any crystallisation of the HfO₂ film.

As will be demonstrated in section 5.3.2, it takes several minutes for samples to heat up enough for crystallisation to occur and improve carrier lifetime. It is likely that with the stamp annealing approach, the washer cools down too quickly to have any significant impact on the film crystallinity. This stamp method was also attempted using a soldering iron; however, this again yielded no successful results. Similarly, this could be due to temperature limitations, or potentially metal contamination.



Figure 4.15: (*a*) A photograph of the ceramic washer used for the stamp annealing process, placed atop a Si wafer cut to approximately 1 x1 cm. (*b*) A photograph of a sample after the stamp annealing process, with a ring of particulates on the surface, left by the washer. (*c*) A PL image of the same sample.

4.7.3 Heat-gun annealing

A final attempt at localised annealing was made through the application of a heatgun. This approach was designed to replicate the conditions of an annealing furnace in a very localised area, with hot air being the heat transfer mechanism. In this case, a DURATOOL 240 V Hot Air Rework Station was used, with a small circular nozzle, in order to minimise the spot size. A schematic of the experimental setup can be seen in Figure 4.16(a). The heat gun was turned up to 500 °C, and kept at a constant temperature for 30 min, with the air flow at lowest possible setting, to align with the relatively low gas flows in a tube furnace.

Figure 4.16(b) shows a photograph of a sample after the heat gun annealing process. A dark spot can be seen in the centre of the sample, at the point which would have been just below the nozzle of the heat gun. This could possibly be dirt, similar to the stamp annealing process, which was burnt onto the sample.

Filmetrics measurements of the film thickness were taken at five points across a sample after annealing, as shown by the red crosses in Figure 4.16(b). The sample was then dipped in a 10% HF solution for 1 min, and the measurements were repeated. The results of this can be seen in Figure 4.16(c).

As expected, after 1 min in HF the HfO₂ film is substantially thinner, indicating that the film did not crystallise. However, at measurement point 5, which was the location underneath the heat gun nozzle, the film appears to be around 7 nm thicker than the rest of the sample. It is a possibility that the film was beginning the crystallise, and thus had a slightly slower etch rate. However, it is also possible that this is instead related to the dark spot, indicating some kind of deposit, left on the surface after the heat gun process, which may have interfered with the etching.



Figure 4.16: (a) A schematic of a localised annealing setup, composed of a heat gun with a small nozzle, positioned over a double sided HfO_2 Si sample on a hotplate (turned off). (b) A photograph of a sample after the annealing process, with the red crosses depicting Filmetrics measurement points. (c) Filmetrics data of the sample in (b) before and after immersion in a 10% HF solution for 1 min.

These initial investigations into localised annealing show a promising route to a simplified wafer patterning process, utilising the controllable etch resistance of HfO₂ films to eliminate the need for photolithography in device fabrication. Future work on this topic should focus on optimising localised annealing processes, to produce clear and consistent results. If this approach were to become industrialised, it would require high resolution and flexibility in patterning options. As such, laser annealing would be the most practical route to take. However, the stamp annealing and heat gun processes are much simpler, and are more likely to produce verifiable results in the short term.

4.8 Contributions

The content of this chapter has been published [150] and parts of the text have been included verbatim. The reported results include experimental contributions from Brendan Healy and Edris Khorani in the form of AFM measurements, and the fabrication and imaging of lifetime control samples, respectively.

Chapter 5 Mechanisms of Silicon Surface Passivation by HfO₂ Thin Films

This chapter studies the mechanisms underpinning effective surface passivation of silicon with hafnium oxide thin films grown via atomic layer deposition (ALD). Plasmaenhanced ALD with O₂ plasma and a tetrakis(dimethylamido)hafnium (TDMAH) precursor was used to deposit 12 nm thick HfO₂ films at 200 °C on high-lifetime 5 Ωcm *n*-type Czochralski silicon wafers. The passivation was activated by post-deposition annealing, with 30 min in air at 475 °C found to be the most effective. High-resolution grazing incidence X-ray diffraction measurements revealed the film crystallised between 325 and 375 °C, and this coincided with the onset of good passivation. Once crystallised, the level of passivation continued to increase with higher annealing temperatures, exhibiting a peak at 475 °C and yielding surface recombination velocities of < 5 cm s⁻¹ at 5 \times 10¹⁴ cm⁻³ injection. A steady decrease in effective lifetime was then observed for activation temperatures >475 °C. By superacid re-passivation, it was demonstrated that this reduction in lifetime was not due to a decrease in the bulk lifetime, but rather due to changes in the passivating films themselves. Kelvin probe measurements showed the films are negatively charged. Corona charging experiments showed the charge magnitude is of order 10¹² gcm⁻² and that the reduced passivation above 475 °C was mainly due to a loss of chemical passivation. This study therefore demonstrates the development of highly charged HfO₂ films and quantifies their benefits as a standalone passivating film for silicon based solar cells.

5.1 Motivation

High-quality surface passivation plays an essential role in the operation of high efficiency silicon photovoltaic cells. Passivation is achieved by deposition or growth of a dielectric thin film, which suppresses surface recombination by terminating dangling bonds (chemical passivation) and/or by repelling carriers away from surfaces by a built-in charge (field effect passivation). A variety of such films have been researched [33] and from the perspective of commercial silicon photovoltaics, Al₂O₃ grown by atomic layer deposition (ALD) and SiN_x grown by plasma enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD) are the most commonly used at present.

Hafnium oxide (HfO₂) is a dielectric that has been extensively researched by the electronics industry for applications in transistors and capacitors [132, 133]. It has also been investigated for applications as a protective barrier layer, demonstrating resistance to oxidation, copper corrosion, and general weathering [27, 29, 30]. HfO₂ has the potential to become a useful passivation layer for photovoltaics as it can be grown by established ALD processes and can have either positive or negative charge polarity [20-26]. The benefits of HfO₂ as a passivation layer are especially apparent for ultra-thin films below 5 nm, where it has been shown to outperform Al₂O₃ [71]. This advantage suggests a potential application for HfO₂ films in passivating contact structures.

In common with most ALD-based passivation schemes, a post-deposition anneal is required to "activate" the passivation by HfO₂. Previous investigations have been conducted on both the deposition parameters, including precursors, deposition temperatures and cycles [20-22], as well as the post-deposition annealing conditions [21-23] for HfO₂. Most studies find HfO₂ passivation to give a surface recombination velocity (SRV) of 3–5 cm/s [21, 23], though some studies have claimed as low as 1.2 cm/s [22]. Most passivation studies have been performed on float-zone (FZ) silicon substrates, which have been shown to degrade at the temperatures necessary to activate the HfO₂ passivation [151]. This work instead uses Czochralski (Cz) silicon,

which is the material of choice for the photovoltaics industry. Importantly, this study includes a room temperature superacid re-passivation process after HfO₂ passivation. This enables the separation of changes in surface recombination from those in bulk recombination, which has not done in previous studies.

The aim of this chapter is to establish the mechanisms of the activation process necessary to achieve good levels of passivation from HfO₂ thin films. Therefore, charge carrier lifetime investigations are complimented by with high-resolution X-ray diffraction (XRD), Kelvin probe, and corona charging, which provides an in-depth understanding of the physical and electrical characteristics of the HfO₂ films. These investigations give insight into the post-deposition treatments necessary to maximise the overall HfO₂ passivation quality, distinguishing between the contributions of chemical and field-effect passivation.

5.2 Experimental details

This section reports specific details detailing to the apparatus and experimental processes utilised within this chapter. For general information relating to methodology and theory, please refer to Chapter 3.

5.2.1 Sample fabrication

Lifetime samples were fabricated from chemically etched 120 µm thick 5 Ω cm *n*-type Cz-Si (100)-orientation wafers, cut into 5 × 5 cm squares. Lifetime optimisation investigations were performed on the same batch of wafers to minimise variations between batches. A separate batch of samples was used for the corona charging measurements and these samples were nominally identical except for being 150 µm thick. The samples used for the XRD measurements were thicker, mirror polished silicon substrates. Before ALD, all samples were first subjected to a rigorous cleaning and etching process developed previously [89]. This involves submerging the samples in a "standard clean 1" (SC1) solution (500 ml de-ionised (DI) H₂O, 100 ml NH₄OH

(30%), 100 ml H₂O₂ (30%)) for 10 min, followed by a "standard clean 2" (SC2) solution (500 ml DI H₂O, 100 ml HCl (37%), 100 ml H₂O₂ (30%)) for 10 min. Both solutions were heated to 80 °C, with the H₂O₂ being added once the solutions were up to temperature. Between these two steps, the samples were immersed in a 25% tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) solution for 10 min, again heated to 80 °C. A de-ionized (DI) water rinse and 60 s dip in a 1% HF solution (490 ml DI H₂O, 10 ml 50% HF) were conducted before each cleaning and etching step.

Literature suggests that the surface pre-treatment applied immediately before deposition can have an influence on resulting film quality [22, 24, 25, 88]. Figure 5.1 shows a comparison between samples that have undergone three different surface pre-treatments: a 2% HF dip for 10 s, a 2% HF dip followed by a 30 s DI water rinse, or a 10 s 1% HF 1% HCl dip. Lifetime measurements were taken immediately following the pre-treatment, and again after HfO₂ deposition and annealing. In this case, all explored pre-treatments result in a similar level of performance. As such, a 2% HF dip was used, in line with previously developed processes [89]. Once samples pulled dry, they were immediately placed onto the ALD stage.



Figure 5.1: Lifetime curves for 6 wafers, immediately after cleaning (diamonds), with either a final 2% HF dip, a 1% HF 1% HCl dip, or a DI water rinse. Lifetimes of the same samples, once coated with HfO₂ annealed at 475 °C for 30 minutes, are also shown (circles).
A Veeco Fiji G2 system was used for the plasma-enhanced ALD of HfO₂ at 200 °C with an O₂ plasma and tetrakis(dimethylamido)hafnium (TDMAH) used as the co-reactant and precursor, respectively. Argon was used as the inert purge gas. TDMAH is pulsed into the chamber for 0.25 s, followed by a 6 s pulse of O₂ plasma at 300 W. A 5 s purge is conducted before and after each step. For all samples, 100 process cycles were performed per side, which was later confirmed by X-ray reflectivity (XRR) to give a film thickness of ~12 nm. For some experiments, Al₂O₃ passivation was used for control purposes, which was also deposited at 200 °C by plasma enhanced ALD. The precursors used for Al₂O₃ were trimethylaluminium (TMA) and O₂ plasma, with argon again used as the purge gas. For this recipe the TMA was pulsed into the chamber for 0.06 s, followed by a 6 s pulse of O₂ plasma at 300 W, with a 4 s purge after each precursor. 160 cycles of this process were completed, resulting in a film thickness of ~20 nm.

After ALD, samples were annealed *ex situ* in a quartz tube furnace with the times chosen in the range 2 to 60 min and the temperatures up to 625 °C. The ambient was air unless otherwise specified.

5.2.2 Characterisation

The effective lifetime of the coated and annealed samples was measured by transient photoconductance decay using a Sinton WCT-120 lifetime tester. Lifetimes were assumed to be accurate to \pm 10% guided by the work of Blum *et al.* [114]. This was then used to calculate SRV according to:

$$SRV = \frac{W}{2} \left(\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} - \frac{1}{\tau_{bulk}} \right), \tag{31}$$

where *W* is the substrate thickness, τ_{eff} is the effective lifetime, and τ_{bulk} is the bulk lifetime. It is assumed that there is no other bulk recombination and thus τ_{bulk} is the intrinsic lifetime ($\tau_{intrinsic}$), which is taken from Ref. [152]. Consequently, these values of SRV should be regarded as upper limits. The recombination parameter, J_0 , is also calculated, using the Sinton Instruments Lifetime Software (version 4.5.2), through application of a similar approach to Kane and Swanson [153]. Single-sided J_0 values are reported, which are half of the extracted J_0 values.

To isolate potential bulk and surface degradation effects, certain samples were stripped of their HfO₂ passivation and re-passivated with a temporary superacid scheme [89, 154, 155]. This is known to provide very good surface passivation (SRV <1 cm/s) without modifying the sample's bulk lifetime due to temperature or hydrogenation effects. HfO₂ films were stripped by immersion in a 10% HF solution until the surface became hydrophobic, then cleaned and etched once again as described previously. The samples were then dipped in a solution of bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)amide (TFSA) in pentane (2 mg/ml) for 1 min to create the temporary surface passivation before lifetime measurements were made. TFSA and pentane (purity \geq 95.0% and >99%, respectively) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich.

Grazing incidence XRD (GI-XRD) was carried out on annealed, HfO₂-coated, mirrorpolished wafers using a 3rd generation Panalytical Empyrean XRD Diffractometer, equipped with multicore (iCore, iCore) optics and a Pixcel3D detector under Cu K_{α 1/2} radiation. Peaks were fitted using the Panalytical XRD crystallography data analysis software HighScore Plus and verified using GSAS-II [156]. Film thickness was obtained by analysing XRR data with Panalytical's AMAS software, and this was confirmed by a Filmetrics F40 reflectometry measurement tool.

Contact potential difference (CPD) and surface photovoltage (SPV) were measured using a KP Technology SKP5050 Kelvin probe system, with a 2 mm diameter goldplated tip, following the method of Baikie *et al.* [116]. An effective work function was calculated from the CPD using a gold reference sample and the SPV was measured by cycling through 50 data points in the dark and 50 data points under illumination, taken every 0.5 s. SPV was determined as the difference between the averaged dark and light values. Corona charging was used to investigate the magnitude of bulk charge within the HfO₂ films. Positive charge was deposited onto the surface of the HfO₂ layer through use of a custom-built setup composed of a needle positioned 7 cm above the sample and held at approximately 7 kV for 5 s on each side of the sample. Charge deposition was calibrated *via* a Kelvin probe method proposed by Bonilla *et al.* [122, 157].

5.3 Optimisation of activation annealing conditions

This section presents the results of a study to optimise the post-ALD activation conditions for HfO₂ surface passivation, including annealing ambient, time, and temperature.

5.3.1 Annealing ambient

Figure 5.2 shows results for optimisation of annealing ambient. In Figure 5.2(a), effective lifetime curves are shown for HfO₂ and Al₂O₃ annealed at 475 °C in different ambients (air, N₂ and Ar). Two curves are shown for each condition to give an indication of process reproducibility. Annealing in air gave the best results for both HfO₂ and Al₂O₃; N₂ and Ar annealing resulted in marginally worse performance for Al₂O₃ and considerably worse performance for HfO₂. This can also be seen from the comparison of lifetime values, extracted at a fixed carrier density of 5×10^{14} cm⁻³, seen in Figure 5.2(b). Based on these results, air was used as the post-deposition annealing ambient for the rest of this study.

5.3.2 Annealing time

The effect of annealing time on measured lifetime for HfO_2 annealed at 475 °C in air for different times is shown in Figure 5.3. The effective lifetime values (and hence the passivation levels) initially increase with time up to 25 min and, after this time, no further improvements occur. There is no obvious degradation in the measured lifetimes at longer annealing times, indicating there is a broad temporal process



window for thermal activation. Based upon these results, subsequent experiments in this chapter used an annealing time of 30 min.

Figure 5.2: (a) Lifetime curves for 120 μ m thick 5 Ω cm n-type Cz-Si wafers coated with HfO₂ and Al₂O₃ films annealed in various ambients at 475 °C for 30 minutes. (b) Effective lifetimes at an excess carrier density of 5 × 10¹⁴ cm⁻³ for each annealing time in (a).



Figure 5.3: (a) Lifetime curves for $120 \,\mu$ m thick $5 \,\Omega$ cm n-type Cz-Si wafers coated with ~ $12 \,$ nm HfO₂ films annealed at 475 °C for different lengths of time. (b) Effective lifetimes at an excess carrier density of 5 × $10^{14} \,$ cm⁻³ for each annealing time in (a), with the dashed curve providing a guide to the eye.

5.3.3 Annealing temperature

Results for the temperature dependence of the activation of the HfO₂ passivation with isochronal 30 min annealing in air are shown in Figure 5.4. Effective lifetimes in

samples annealed below 300 °C were too low to measure reliably. Effective lifetime increases with temperature up to 475 °C, then decreases at higher temperatures. The lifetime curves are plotted systematically increasing up to 475 °C in Figure 5.4(a) and systematically decreasing at higher temperatures up to 625 °C in Figure 5.4(b). SRV values extracted at an excess carrier density of 5×10^{14} cm⁻³ are shown in Figure 5.4(d), with the minimum value of 4.1 cm/s determined at 475 °C. This value is significantly lower than initial investigations into HfO₂ passivation [25], but is in line with more recently published results by Cui *et al.* and Tomer *et al.* who achieved SRV values of 3.3 cm/s and 5 cm/s, respectively [21, 23]. Direct comparison between literature SRV values is not always possible due to the influence of doping concentration [158], but these comparisons have been made between Si wafers with similar resistivities (in the 1-5 Ω cm range). J_0 values are also plotted in Figure 5.4(d), with a value of 37.1 fA/cm² at 475 °C and a minimum of 28.4 fA/cm² at 500 °C. There is a lack of direct reporting of J₀ values for HfO₂ passivated surfaces in the literature, but one recent paper reports values an order of magnitude higher than what is reported in this chapter [146].

5.4 Distinguishing between surface and bulk effects

As the effective lifetime is determined by competing bulk and surface effects, it is important to ascertain whether bulk or surface (or both) effects are responsible for the activation temperature dependence shown in Figure 5.4. This balance was not considered in prior studies of HfO₂ passivation [21-24], so it has not yet been proven that there is a peak temperature for HfO₂ passivation activation.

5.4.1 Superacid re-passivation

By removing the HfO₂ passivation and re-passivating the samples with a temporary superacid-based passivation scheme it is possible to measure the effective lifetime consistently with the same surface recombination level to deduce information on the bulk lifetime. Figure 5.5(a) compares the lifetime curves of samples coated with HfO₂ and the same samples when re-passivated with the superacid-based approach after



Figure 5.4: (a) Lifetime curves for ~12 nm (100 cycles) of ALD deposited HfO_2 films on 120 µm 5 Ω cm ntype Cz-Si wafers, annealed at various temperatures (300-475 °C) for 30 min. (b) Lifetime curves of the same type of samples annealed at higher temperatures (500-625 °C) for 30 min. (c) Effective lifetimes at an excess carrier density of 5 × 10¹⁴ cm⁻³ for each annealing time (d) Upper limit SRV values calculated using equation (31) at an excess carrier density of 5 × 10¹⁴ cm⁻³, and single sided J₀ values [153] plotted as a function of activation temperature.

being subjected to activation anneals at three different temperatures: 325 °C, 475 °C, and 625 °C. Effective lifetimes are higher with superacid passivation since this approach provides a short-term SRV <1 cm/s [89, 154, 155] which is better than the investigated HfO₂ layers. The difference in injection dependence between the HfO₂ and superacid curves is likely caused by the lower concentration of fixed charges in the superacid passivation [88, 155]. The injection dependence of the superacid passivated samples is relatively consistent, irrespective of the thermal history of the sample. Figure 5.5(b) shows a comparison in effective lifetime between HfO_2 passivated and superacid passivated samples, extracted at an excess carrier density of 5 × 10¹⁴ cm⁻³. With superacid-passivation, no reduction in effective lifetime was found to occur above 475 °C, which demonstrates that the reduction in effective lifetime at higher activation temperatures with HfO_2 is not due to bulk lifetime degradation.

In fact, there is a slight increase in effective lifetime for higher annealing temperatures which may be due to thermal deactivation of recombination centres within the silicon bulk [159, 160]. This shows that the cause of the decline in effective lifetimes at higher temperatures shown in Figure 5.4 is not related to the bulk of the material, but rather due to a decline in passivation from the HfO₂ films.



Figure 5.5: (a) Lifetime curves for select HfO_2 passivated samples (circles) activated at the temperatures shown, together with lifetime curves for the same samples after HfO_2 removal and superacid repassivation (diamonds). The intrinsic limit of Niewelt et al. [152] is also plotted. (b) Comparison between effective lifetimes measured on 120 µm thick 5 Ω cm n-type Cz-Si samples passivated with ~12 nm (100 cycles) of ALD-deposited HfO_2 versus a TFSA superacid solution, taken at an excess carrier density of 5×10^{14} cm⁻³.

Comparing this work to literature, a similar trend in annealing temperature dependence can be seen in the work of Cheng *et al.* who also used Cz-Si in their investigations and found a peak in effective lifetime at 450 °C [24]. Other works, however, have demonstrated peaks in HfO₂ passivation at significantly lower

temperatures. Gougam *et al.* found their lifetimes to peak at 400 °C and Cui *et al.* reached a minimum SRV value at 350 °C [21, 22]. Importantly, these papers used FZ-Si in their investigations, which has been shown to often be prone to degradation above these temperatures [89, 161]. As such, the temperature dependence of the activation of HfO₂ passivation shown in publications using FZ-Si may have been influenced by the effect of bulk degradation. Consequently, it is likely that studies using FZ-Si underestimate the activation temperature required to optimize passivation from HfO₂ films.

5.5 Physical characteristics

It is possible that physical changes within the structure of the HfO₂ films during postdeposition annealing may influence the chemical or field-effect passivation, through changes in, for example, energetically favourable chemical bonds or dielectric constant.

5.5.1 Film crystallinity

GI-XRD measurements were taken to investigate any potential correlation between the passivation quality and film crystallinity of the HfO₂ films. Figure 5.6 shows the XRD spectra for ~12 nm HfO₂ films annealed with the same conditions used in the initial annealing temperature study Figure 5.4. The main crystallographic planes have been indexed based upon monoclinic HfO₂ [142]. A crystallisation stage was identified between 325 °C and 375 °C, at which point the films transition from a mostly amorphous state to a distinct crystallised structure. Notably, there is no significant change in peak intensity or peak position within the films annealed above 375 °C, whereas effective lifetimes continue to improve up to 475 °C and degrade at higher temperatures. It is therefore inferred that, once the film has initially crystallised, the passivation quality is not directly related to the HfO₂ film crystallinity. This is not unexpected as it has been established that, in general, crystallinity is not necessary to activate the passivation of dielectric films. Al₂O₃, for example, provides excellent passivation whilst in an amorphous state [162]. Furthermore, titanium dioxide (TiO₂) provides decreased passivation quality with higher annealing temperatures, as the film transitions from an anatase to rutile phase [163, 164].



Figure 5.6: GI-XRD measurements, using Cu $K_{\alpha 1/2}$, taken from polished silicon wafers coated with ~ 12 nm (100 cycles) of hafnium oxide grown via ALD, annealing in air for 30 min at temperatures ranging from as-deposited (200 °C) to 625 °C. The main crystallographic planes present are labelled at the top. Spectra are vertically offset for clarity.

5.6 Electrical characteristics

Measurement of certain electrical characteristics, such as effective work function and dielectric charge, can reveal how the contributions of chemical and field-effect passivation mechanisms change with annealing temperature.

5.6.1 Contact potential difference

Kelvin probe measurements can be used to determine the work function of a material [165], which is important when considering factors like conductivity and charge carrier tunnelling probability. For complex structures including dielectric layers, an 'effective' work function can be used to extract information about the charge in the dielectric layer [117].

The relation between activation annealing temperature and the effective work function of ~12 nm HfO₂ films deposited on silicon can be seen in Figure 5.7(a). At low annealing temperatures the effective work function of the HfO₂ films is around 4.6 eV. This remains relatively constant until the temperature reaches 375 °C, where the effective work function begins to increase up to 5.1 eV at 450 °C. The effective work function then remains relatively stable for all higher annealing temperatures investigated. Interestingly, the initial turning point roughly corresponds to the crystallisation of the HfO₂ films, as determined via XRD, whereas the second turning point at 450 °C is close to the 475 °C annealing temperature which produces the best effective lifetimes. From this, a potential link can be inferred between the observed enhancement in measured lifetime and the effective work function, which may result from varying charge within the dielectric layer [117]. It is also possible that the initial shift in effective work function relates to changes within the physical structure of the HfO₂ layer as it crystallises, which impact the dielectric constant. The plateau in effective work function at higher annealing temperatures suggests that the decrease in effective lifetime occurs due to a different mechanism than changes in the crystallinity or effective work function, and thus is likely chemical in nature.

5.6.2 Surface photovoltage

To investigate the surface charge polarity of the HfO₂ films, SPV was used, which is determined by measuring the difference in CPD in the dark compared to under illumination. An example of this can be seen in Figure 5.7(b), where the shaded regions



Figure 5.7: (a) Effective work functions of ~12 nm HfO_2 films deposited on 120 µm thick 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si wafers and annealed for 30 min at different temperatures, as determined from Kelvin probe measurements, with the dashed curve providing a guide to the eye. (b) Contact potential different (CPD) data measured under dark and light conditions for an ALD HfO_2 film annealed at 475 °C, an ALD AI_2O_3 film annealed at 460 °C, and a PECVD SiN film.

represent data points measured in the dark, and non-shaded regions measured under illumination. For all annealing temperatures, the SPV of the HfO₂ films was negative. To support these results, the CPD response of the HfO₂ was directly compared to Al₂O₃ (known to have a negative charge) and SiN_x (known to have a positive charge) [166]. These results match those of Aubriet *et al.* [67]. Literature shows evidence for either positive [21, 26] or negative [24, 25] fixed charges in HfO₂ films, though the exact mechanisms through which a certain charge polarity is achieved is currently unknown. Suggestions have been made that incorporation of Cl or N₂ may produce a negative charge polarity [20, 23]. It is important to note that a range of different hafnium-containing precursors have been used to create HfO₂ films by ALD, including TDMAH [24], tetrakis(methylethylamide)hafnium (TEMAH) [21-23, 167], HfCl₄ [20], and trimethylhafnium [25], and this may explain variations in charge polarities reported.

5.6.3 Field-effect vs chemical passivation

To assess the magnitude of charge in our HfO₂ films, positive corona charging of the surface was used to neutralise the negative fixed charge. As net charge is neutralised, field-effect passivation decreases, and thus effective lifetime decreases [167]. As further charge is deposited onto the surface of the passivating layer, the field-effect passivation and hence effective lifetime increases again. The amount of corona charge deposited onto the surface, Q_{corona} , that is required to reach the minimum effective lifetime, τ_{min} , provides an indication of the amount of charge initially present. Since, at the minimum lifetime value, the field-effect is neutralised and only chemical passivation remains, we use τ_{min} as a measure of the level of chemical passivation given by the film. It has been assumed that the capture cross-sections for carrier recombination are not influenced by factors such as recrystallisation and, as such, remain consistent across measurements.

Examples of corona charge curves for ~12 nm thick samples of HfO₂, annealed at different temperatures for 30 min in air, can be seen in Figure 5.8. A clear minimum value can be seen for each curve, at which point the data for Q_{corona} and τ_{min} are extracted. In all cases, the effective lifetime rises again as positive charge continues to be applied, as field-effect passivation of positive polarity increases. The recovery in lifetime indicates that the charge leakage is minimal over the timescales considered.

The applied positive corona charge to neutralize the negative charge within the HfO₂ layer, plotted in Figure 5.9(a), shows a significant increase between 300 and 425 °C. The implied level of charge in the films then begins to plateau around 2×10^{12} qcm⁻², before gradually decreasing, as the annealing temperature increases. This level of charge is broadly consistent with some previous studies, where negative HfO₂ is found to be on the order of 10^{11} - 10^{12} qcm⁻² [20, 23-25]. Based upon the trends observed in Figure 5.6, Figure 5.7(a), and Figure 5.9(a), it is possible that the crystallisation has an influence on the effective charge density within the film and, by extension, the effective work function.



Figure 5.8: Corona charging curves showing effective lifetime, extracted at an excess carrier density of 1×10^{15} cm⁻³, of ~12 nm HfO₂ passivated 150 µm 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si samples as positive corona charge is increased, at a range of selected activation temperatures.

The minimum lifetime reached for each temperature is shown in Figure 5.9(b), which provides an indication of the annealing temperature dependence of chemical passivation. The trend is broadly consistent with the trend in lifetime values shown in Figure 5.4(c), with lifetimes increasing and then decreasing as annealing temperature increases. Figure 5.9(b) shows that chemical passivation peaks around 425 °C. Cheng *et al.* also found a similar temperature dependence of chemical passivation, with their density of interface states (D_{it}) reaching a minimum at 450 °C [24]. This trend suggests that chemical passivation quality, especially when considering the bulk lifetime of the wafers used in this study was found to increase with annealing temperature.

Using the values for Q_{corona} and τ_{min} as a guideline, the lifetime curves from Figure 5.4(a) and (b) were modelled. Given the injection range of these curves, it was not possible to extract exact values of Q_f and D_{it} . However, it was possible to quantify the relative changes in these parameters between high and low lifetime curves. The passivation enhancement between 325 °C and 475 °C can be attributed to a 75 % decrease in D_{it} and a 100 % increase in Q_f . Between 475 °C and 625 °C, D_{it} returns towards its initial value, whereas the relative decrease in Q_f is only 10 %. This

simulation supports this work's claim that passivation enhancement is a contribution of both chemical and field-effect mechanisms, and the decrease in passivation quality at higher temperatures is chemical in nature.



Figure 5.9: (a) The positive corona charge required to minimize the effective lifetime (i.e. neutralize the negative field-effect passivation), as a function of activation temperature. (b) The minimum lifetime reached during corona charging as a function of annealing temperature, which is indicative of the level of chemical passivation. The dashed curves in (a) and (b) provide a guide to the eye.

5.7 Conclusions

This chapter has studied the mechanisms underpinning the post-deposition activation annealing conditions for HfO₂ films on Si deposited *via* ALD, determining a preferred annealing time of 30 min, annealing ambient of air (rather than Ar or N₂), and a distinct temperature dependence. Effective lifetime peaks at an annealing temperature of 475 °C, with a minimum SRV value of 4.1 cm/s and corresponding single sided *J*₀ value of 37.1 fA/cm². Above this temperature, effective lifetime steadily decreases which, through use of room temperature superacid re-passivation, has been shown not to be due to bulk lifetime degradation.

GI-XRD revealed a distinct crystallised monoclinic HfO₂ structure in all HfO₂ films annealed above 375 °C, with crystallisation occurring between 325 and 375 °C. This temperature range coincides with an initial increase in measured lifetime, with further lifetime variations not corresponding to changes in film crystallinity. Kelvin probe measurements indicated a potential relationship between initial passivation enhancement and a positive effective work function shift between 375 and 450 °C. Through a combination of SPV measurements and positive corona charging, it was determined that the HfO₂ films have a negative charge polarity. The maximum charge density was observed after 425 °C annealing and was on the order of 2 × 10¹² qcm⁻².

Analysis of the corona charging results highlighted a significant change in negative charge density within the HfO₂ layer as it crystallises, with the charge density reaching its peak around the optimal annealing temperatures for best lifetime values. This was followed by a gradual decrease in negative charge as lifetime decreases at higher annealing temperatures. Investigations into chemical passivation indicated a very similar trend between chemical passivation and effective lifetime as functions of annealing temperature. Overall, the results suggest a combined contribution of chemical and field-effect mechanisms is responsible for passivation enhancement, with similar relative changes in D_{it} and Q_f . The decrease in passivation quality at higher temperatures is likely dominated by chemical factors.

In conjunction with the well-known properties of HfO₂ (e.g. electrically insulating, high dielectric constant, and chemically resistant), this work has demonstrated that thin HfO₂ layers can provide a very high level of passivation. Understanding of passivation mechanisms in HfO₂ enables further investigation into enhancement of passivation quality and ultimately incorporation of HfO₂ into various photovoltaic architectures.

5.8 Future Work: Passivation enhancement

Through distinguishing between the contributions of chemical and field-effect passivation mechanisms, it becomes simpler to investigate potential methods for enhancing the passivation quality. For example, to prevent passivation degradation occurring at higher annealing temperatures, it is necessary to focus on improving the chemical passivation provided by the HfO₂ films.

Since, for these HfO₂ films, the initial increase in passivation quality, at lower temperatures, is influenced by both chemical and field-effect passivation, there is the potential to improve this by either increasing the charge within the dielectric layer, or by improving the chemical passivation. This section demonstrates preliminary investigations into this concept, attempting to focus on the former of these approaches, though there has also been some work reported on the latter option [168].

5.8.1 Annealing Ambient

As shown in Table 2.1, there is no obvious cause for variations in charge polarity of HfO₂ films. Some literature suggests that inclusion of Cl or N₂ in the process will result in an increase in negative charges within the film [20, 23]. To investigate whether the charge of HfO₂ films can be controlled by introducing elements through ambient anneals, a quartz tube furnace was used to anneal HfO₂ films in various ambients, at 475 °C for 30 min. The effective work function and lifetime of the samples was measured, before being subjected to positive corona charging. The results of this study can be seen in Figure 5.10.

Initial effective lifetime values, as seen in Figure 5.10(a) show a similar trend to those in Figure 5.2, as would be expected. After corona charging, a similar trend can be seen in the minimum lifetime values in Figure 5.10(b), although relative changes are much smaller. Since field-effect is neutralised at the minimum point, this would indicate that annealing in air provides the best chemical passivation, followed by N₂ and then Ar.

Focusing on the change in charge within the dielectric layer, as seen in Figure 5.10(c), it is apparent that air provides the highest level of charge, at approximately 1×10^{12} qcm⁻². N₂ and Ar both produce a similar amount of around 6×10^{11} qcm⁻². However, this variation in charge is relatively small, and would fall within the bounds of uncertainty for this experimental setup. It is, therefore, still possible that all three ambients provide similar levels of charge. This is supported by the effective work

function measurements in Figure 5.10(d), which are indicative of dielectric charge, and show very little change, regardless of annealing ambient.

In this particular case, it is apparent that varying the annealing ambient does not provide a route to increasing the dielectric charge to any significant degree, though may somewhat influence the chemical passivation. These results are likely dependent upon the hafnium precursor used in the deposition process.



Figure 5.10: Comparison of HfO₂ films annealed in air, N₂, and Ar ambients. (a) Initial effective lifetime values, extracted at 1×10^{15} cm⁻³. (b) Minimum lifetime values, extract at 1×10^{15} cm⁻³, achieved from corona charging. (c) Corona charge corresponding to the values in (b). (d) Effective work function values, measured before corona charging.

5.9 Contributions

The content of this chapter has been published [70] and parts of the text have been included verbatim. The reported results include experimental contributions from Sophie Pain in the form of superacid deposition.

Chapter 6 The Potential of HfO₂ Thin Films as Passivating Contacts

This chapter investigates the potential of nanometre-scale HfO₂ films deposited by atomic layer deposition for passivating contacts to silicon focusing on variations in film thickness. A peak in passivation quality as assessed by lifetime measurements, is reported for 2.5 nm thick films annealed at 475 °C, for which a surface recombination velocity <1 cm/s is determined. For samples <2.5 nm thick, there is a marked decrease in passivation quality. X-ray diffraction highlights a change from crystallised monoclinic HfO₂ to amorphous, as film thickness decreases from 10 nm to 2.5 nm. An initial investigation into a passivating contact structure utilizing HfO₂ reveals a strong annealing temperature dependence, with the lowest resistance achieved below 375 °C, followed by a decrease in performance as temperature increases towards the optimal temperature for passivation (475 °C). Limitations in the existing contact structure are discussed.

6.1 Motivation

Many cell architectures that currently dominate the silicon PV market are limited by recombination losses due to direct metal/Si interfaces at the electrode. However, these losses can potentially be mitigated by the inclusion of a passivating interlayer between the Si and metal, preventing recombination in the contacted region without significant reduction in contact conductance [13, 169-172]. Such interlayer structures are referred to as passivating contacts.

The most promising passivating contact structures for silicon solar cells thus far have been amorphous silicon (a-Si) heterojunction (HJT), tunnel oxide passivated contact (TOPCon), and polysilicon on oxide (POLO) architectures [13, 42, 173]. Where dielectric films have been used, existing literature has focused on SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ due to their established performance as passivating layers, and their respective positive and negative fixed charges [174-178]. In the case of SiO₂, pinholes that are produced at high temperatures enable the material to be utilised for both electron and hole extraction [15, 16]. However, the band off-sets of SiO₂ strongly indicate electronfavourability, which is reflected in the higher performance as an electron-selective layer, rather than hole-selective [19]. A hole-selective contact that can match the performance of existing electron-selective contacts is yet to be produced.

Hafnium oxide (HfO₂) is a dielectric material with existing application in transistors and capacitors [132, 133], and has shown promise in recent years in the area of passivating layers for silicon photovoltaics [21, 22, 24, 70]. Literature demonstrates that HfO₂ passivating films perform particularly well at ultra-thin thicknesses, below 3 nm, outperforming Al₂O₃ layers of a similar thickness [71]. This is especially useful for passivating contacts, as dielectric layers inherently have high resistance and so must be kept very thin to facilitate charge carrier transport mechanisms. The mechanisms involved for charge carrier transport are still under debate, but two main explanations are quantum tunnelling and/or pinholes [179]. As discussed in section 2.2.1, The probability of charge carrier tunnelling increases as film thickness decreases [48]. Consequently, the thinner the film, the higher the probability of charge tunnelling and hence the greater charge carrier transport can be.

Interestingly, HfO₂ can be either positive or negatively charged. There is currently no consensus on the mechanisms that result in charge polarity, though there have been some suggestions that the choice of precursor or annealing ambient may have an impact [20, 23]. Table 2.1 provides a review of existing literature where HfO₂ fixed charge is reported, alongside the deposition technique, post-deposition treatment, and measurement approach used. The charge of a dielectric layer plays an important

role in determining the selectivity of a passivating contact. Since HfO₂ can have either charge polarity, it lends itself to potential applications in both electron and hole selective contacts. Previous literature has shown that whilst the ratio of band off-sets for negatively charged HfO₂ indicates electron favourability, the potential barrier for hole transport is lower than in both Al₂O₃ and SiO₂ [19].

This chapter further investigates the characteristics of negatively charged ultra-thin HfO₂ layers, focusing of thickness dependence, through photoconductance decay lifetime, x-ray diffraction (XRD), and Kelvin probe measurements. This is reported alongside an initial study into an Au/*n*Si/HfO₂/Al contact structure, containing a negatively charged HfO₂ layer, through the Expanded Cox and Strack method (ECSM). Potential limitations within the contact structure and the HfO₂ layer itself are discussed.

6.2 Experimental Details

This section reports specific details relating to the apparatus and experimental processes utilised within this chapter. For general information relating to methodology and theory, please refer to Chapter 3.

6.2.1 Dielectric layer deposition

5 x 5 cm samples were fabricated from 150 μ m thick, 5 Ω cm, *n*-type or *p*-type Cz-Si (100) wafers. These samples were first cleaned with an established process [89], involving 10 min in each of the following solutions, heated to 80 °C: RCA1 (DI H₂O, NH₄OH (30%), and H₂O₂ (30%) in a 5:1:1 ratio), tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH (25%)), and RCA2 (DI H₂O, HCI (37%), and H₂O₂ (30%) in a 5:1:1 ratio). Before each cleaning and etching step, a DI water rinse and 60 s HF (1%) dip was conducted. The cleaning process was concluded with submersion in either a 1% HF/1% HCI solution (for XRD and lifetime measurements) or 2% HF solution (otherwise) until the

samples became hydrophobic (approximately 10 s). No water rinse was performed prior to film deposition.

HfO₂ films were grown *via* plasma-enhanced ALD (PE-ALD) using a Veeco Fiji G2 system, with tetrakis(dimethylamido)hafnium (TDMAH) and O₂ plasma as the precursor and co-reactant, respectively. Argon was used as the inert purge gas. The TDMAH precursor, heated to 75 °C, was pulsed into the chamber for 0.25 s, followed by a 6 s pulse of O₂ plasma at 300 W. A 5 s purge was conducted before and after each step. The growth rate, for a deposition temperature of 200 °C, is approximately 1 Å/cycle (as reported by the supplier [180], and verified in previous work with this apparatus [71]). This growth rate is used when referring to estimated film thickness in this work. The samples were then either left as deposited, or annealed ex-situ in air in a quartz tube furnace for 30 min at 475 °C.

6.2.2 Film characterisation

Photoconductance decay charge carrier lifetime measurements of double-sided samples (Figure 6.1(a)) were performed at room temperature, using a Sinton Instruments WCT-120PL lifetime tester (software version 5.74). The measurements were conducted in a transient mode and averaged over five flashes.

Film crystallinity was investigated using grazing incidence X-ray diffraction (GI-XRD). These measurements require using thicker, mirror polished Si wafers, as depicted in Figure 6.1(b). Measurements were conducted using a 3^{rd} generation Malvern Panalytical Empyrean XRD Diffractometer, with multicore optics (iCore, iCore), and a Pixcel3D detector, under Cu K_{\alpha1/2} radiation. An incidence angle of 0.5° was used for all measurements. 2 θ measurements were taken in a range of 15°–70°, with a step size of 0.3°. For samples coated with 10 cycles HfO₂, the step size was reduced to 0.2° in an attempt to improve the signal to noise ratio and improve detection of the ultrathin film. Data were fitted using the Malvern Panalytical data analysis software HighScore Plus.



Figure 6.1: Schematics of the various sample structures considered in these investigations. These images are designed as visual aids and are not to scale. (a) Double sided HfO₂ films on textured n-type Si for lifetime measurements. (b) Single sided HfO₂ on mirror polished Si for XRD measurements. (c) Single sided HfO₂ on textured n-type Si for Kelvin probe measurements. (d) Full area rear metal contacts and patterned front metal contacts for optimisation of the rear contact structure. (e) A completed sample with full area rear contact, front side HfO₂ layer, and patterned front contact.

6.2.3 Contact fabrication

Photolithography was performed using an AZ2035 photoresist (MicroChemicals), spin-coated at 5000 rpm for 50 s, with a 5 s ramp step, and soft baked at 110 °C for 60 s. Samples were then exposed to UV light through a photomask consisting of rows of circles, which varied in size from 1.4–2.4 mm in diameter. UV exposure was conducted using a Suss MicroTec BA8 Gen3 mask aligner in hard-contact mode, with an equivalent dose of 120 mJ/cm². This was then followed by a hard bake at 110 °C for 90 s, and development in an MF-319 (MICROPOSIT) solution for 35 s.

200 nm Al or 100 nm Au metal contacts were deposited using a Scientific Vacuum Systems Ltd electron-beam (e-beam) evaporation system. The exposed Si was etched *in-situ* using an integrated ion beam gun to remove any native oxide before the deposition of the full-area rear contact. Metal lift-off was then performed by leaving samples in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) overnight.

The IV characteristics of direct metal-Si contacts, as depicted in Figure 6.1(d), for *n*and *p*-type wafers with Al and Au can be seen in Figure 6.2. Figure 6.2(a) shows the IV curve of an *n*-type sample with a full area Al rear contact and 2.4 mm diameter Al front contact (labelled Al/*n*Si/Al). The initial IV data produces a curved plot, rather



Figure 6.2: Current-voltage characteristics of various direct metal-Si contact structures (corresponding to structure (d) in Figure 6.1), with full area rear contacts and mm-scale circular front contacts. (a) Al/nSi/Al, with a 2.4 mm diameter front contact, before and after a 30 s sintering step at 400 °C in air. (b) Al/pSi/Al, with a 2.4 mm diameter front contact, after successive sintering steps. (c) Au/nSi/Au, un-sintered, for various front diode sizes. (d) Au/pSi/Au, un-sintered, for various front diode sizes.

than linear, indicating a non-ohmic contact. Sintering for 30 s at 400 °C begins to straighten the curve but results in a reduced current. The equivalent structure on p-type Si (Al/pSi/Al) initially produces a negligible current flow after deposition, implying a bad contact structure. This can be improved significantly through sintering, as demonstrated in Figure 6.2(b); however, the current values are still substantially lower than the Al/nSi/Al structure and deviate from ideal ohmic linearity.

Using Au results in similar current values for both *n*- and *p*-type samples, being higher than achieved for the Al/*p*Si/Al structure, but lower than the Al/*n*Si/Al structure, as seen in Figure 6.2(c) and (d). Having direct metal-Si rear contacts that behave similarly for both wafer types is beneficial when making comparisons between the effectiveness of different metal-dielectric-Si front contacts, as the effects of the rear contact can be considered consistent throughout. The IV curves are also relatively ohmic, though not completely ideal. This deviation from an ideal ohmic response may be due to the growth of a native oxide during the photolithography process. Importantly, not requiring a sintering step reduces the processing complexity and thermal budget of the sample development. Based upon these results, all sample structures considered in the rest of this work include a full area Au rear contact.

Current-voltage (IV) measurements were conducted using a Wentworth probe station with an Agilent B1500A Parameter Analyser. Figure 6.1(d) and (e) show the sample structures considered. The resultant IV data was analysed using the Expanded Cox and Strack Method (ECSM) as discussed in section 3.3.6 [126-128].

6.3 Characterisation of ultra-thin HfO₂ films

This section investigates the structural changes within HfO₂ films as the thickness is varied, and the effect that this has on the passivation quality.

6.3.1 Passivation potential

In order to demonstrate the effectiveness of ultra-thin HfO₂ films as passivation layers, Figure 6.3(a) shows the effective lifetime curves of samples with HfO₂ layers of varying thickness, deposited on *n*-type Si wafers and annealed for 30 min at 475 °C, structured as in Figure 6.1(a). Figure 6.3(b) shows effective lifetime values for each of these samples, extracted at an excess carrier density of 10¹⁵ cm⁻³. A clear trend can be seen, with the effective lifetime increasing as film thickness decreases from approximately 10 nm to 2.5 nm. However, the passivation quality then rapidly decreases for thinner films, with the effective lifetime dropping by an order of magnitude. These results are in line with previous investigations, which found that passivation peaks at a HfO₂ film thickness between 2.2–3.3 nm, achieving surface recombination values (SRVs) as low as 2.5 cm/s [71]. The effective lifetimes determined here for ~2.5 nm (25 cycles) of HfO₂ correspond to an SRV of 0.6 cm/s, the lowest SRV to date, and competitive with more conventional Al₂O₃ passivation [88]. J₀ values are also plotted in this figure, as well as in Figure 6.4. Whilst SRV values often require an assumption of bulk lifetime, or intrinsic limit, J₀ is less reliant upon these assumptions, and is typically less injection-dependent [181-183]. J₀ values are particularly useful for considering the performance of a structure when incorporated into a full cell, rather than the individual performance of the layer/interface itself.



Figure 6.3: (a) Measured effective lifetime curves for different HfO_2 films (10–100 cycles, corresponding to 1-10 nm estimated thickness), deposited via PE-ALD, on 150 µm 5 Ωcm n-type Cz-Si (100) wafers, annealed in air at 475 °C for 30 min. The intrinsic lifetime limit of Niewelt et al. [152] is also plotted. (b) Single-side J₀ values, and effective lifetimes, extracted at an excess carrier density of 1 × 10¹⁵ cm⁻³, for each film thickness in (a). Error bars correspond to the relative variation in measured values experienced between samples.

Figure 6.4 shows a comparison between the annealing temperature dependence of effective lifetimes for 'thin' and 'thick' HfO₂ films, with estimated thicknesses of 1 nm (10 cycles) and 10 nm (100 cycles), respectively. Notably, the relation between annealing temperature and effective lifetime remains consistent, regardless of film

thickness, with optimal results found around 450 °C [70, 71]. This implies a promising outlook on the application of HfO_2 films in passivating contacts processed with a moderate thermal budget – if effective diode structures can be produced using 1–2.5 nm thick HfO_2 layers, annealed around 450 °C.



Figure 6.4: (a) Effective lifetimes and (b) single-sided J_0 values extracted at an excess carrier density of 1×10^{15} cm⁻³ of HfO₂ films deposited via PE-ALD, on 150 µm 5 Ω cm n-type Cz-Si (100) wafers, annealed in air for 30 min at temperatures ranging from 350–625 °C. A comparison is made between 'thick' (~10 nm/100 cycles) and 'thin' (~1 nm/10 cycles) HfO₂ films. Effective lifetime data has been previously published in Refs [70, 71]. A discussion on extracting J_0 from the region around 1×10^{15} cm⁻³ can be found in Ref.[183].

6.3.2 Film crystallinity

All films for XRD analysis, as seen in Figure 6.5, were annealed at 475 °C, above the crystallisation temperature window previously observed for 100 cycles HfO₂ [70]. For 50-100 cycles of HfO₂ annealed at this temperature, the peaks present correspond to monoclinic HfO₂ [142], consistent with results reported in previous chapters. The main diffraction peaks corresponding to the monoclinic phase occur at $2\theta = 15-45$ °, but with decreasing cycle number (and layer thickness), these peaks become broader and less distinct. By 25 cycles of HfO₂, no clear peaks are evident in this region. Instead, there is a low intensity 'hump' between $2\theta = 25-35$ °, the position of which coincides with a similar feature observed for amorphous ALD-grown HfO₂ in previous chapters [70]. The features seen in the 2 θ range of 50°—60° can be attributed to the (311) plane

of the underlying c-Si (100) substrate [184]. Note that though no overlayer peaks could be detected with this set-up, for ~1 nm, this does not necessarily imply that no HfO_2 is present on the surface, as the presence of HfO_2 has been verified *via* XPS [71].

The change in the XRD pattern for ~2.5 nm (25 cycles) of HfO₂ likely indicates that the films are now amorphous. An alternative explanation may be that the film is in a mixed state, where there are regions of both amorphous and crystallised material, but GI-XRD is not able to detect this. Indeed, there are reports of HfO₂ thin films (<4 nm) appearing amorphous by XRD yet being determined as crystalline by other approaches [185]. However, etching studies conducted for HfO₂ films of these thicknesses, based on the results in Chapter 4, suggests the XRD measurements have accurately determined the transition from amorphous to crystalline, with films <5 nm etching rapidly in HF, and films >5 nm maintaining their passivation quality [186].



Figure 6.5: GI-XRD measurements, using Cu $K_{\alpha 1/2}$, taken from polished silicon wafers coated with 10-100 cycles (corresponding to ~1-10 nm) of HfO₂ grown by ALD and annealed in air for 30 min at 475 °C. The main crystallographic planes present are labelled at the top. Patterns are vertically offset for clarity. To allow comparison, all patterns have been normalised to their most intense peak. The sharp peaks at 20 = 25° and 33° in the 10 cycles HfO₂ pattern are thought to be artefacts, amplified by the normalisation process.

6.4 Contact optimisation

To maximise c-Si solar cell efficiency, passivation quality needs to be maximised and J_0 minimised [178], with good passivating contacts/interlayers generally having J_0 values of «10 fA/cm² [178, 187]. However, J_0 is not the only metric under consideration, as contact resistivity (ρ_c) must also be minimised for good cell efficiencies [178]. Although ~2.5 nm (25 cycles) HfO₂ gave the most promising passivation, for contact measurements the HfO₂ should be kept as thin as possible to maximise charge carrier transport, according to equation (5). Prior computational studies show that contact resistivity for HfO₂ is only competitive when the films are ≤1.4 nm thick [19]. Thus ~1 nm (10 cycles) HfO₂ was used as a starting point for passivating contact experiments.

Figure 6.6 compares AI and Au front contacts on top of ~1 nm (10 cycles) of asdeposited HfO_2 , for *n*- and *p*-type Si wafers, with full area Au rear contacts, as determined in Figure 6.2. A depiction of this sample structure can be seen in Figure 6.1(e). In all cases, the front contacts remained un-sintered, to avoid damaging the Au rear contacts.

The samples with the strongest diode response were the *n*- and *p*-type Au/Si/HfO₂/Al structures, in Figure 6.6(a) and (b) respectively. The *n*-type variant resulted in higher current values than the *p*-type and had a clearer relation between current and contact size, with smaller diodes resulting in reduced current, as is necessary for the application of the ECSM. However, the shape of these diode curves is not ideal, with an initial current increase, before the forward threshold voltage (at approximately 1.5 V), indicating non-negligible shunting. This shunt could possibly be a result of the e-beam evaporation process, whereby the Al may be driven down to the Si surface, creating a direct Al-*n*Si contact.

In the case of both *n*- and *p*-type wafers, the current values for the Au/Si/HfO₂/Au samples are lower than their Au/Si/HfO₂/Al counterparts, though both still produce a

clear relation between current and contact size, as seen in Figure 6.6(c) and (d). Again, the current values are higher in the *n*-type variant than the *p*-type. The shunt resistance is also less apparent in these structures, though this is difficult to determine due to the shape of the IV curves. In the case of the Au/*p*Si/HfO₂/Au sample structure Figure 6.6(d), there is no consistent threshold voltage across the different contact sizes. Based upon these results, further investigations focus on the use of *n*-type wafers with an Au/Si/HfO₂/Al sample structure.



Figure 6.6: Current-voltage characteristics of various metal-HfO₂-Si contact structures, with 1 nm (10 cycles) of as-deposited HfO₂, full area Au rear contacts and mm-scale circular front contacts. Sample structures include: (a) Au/nSi/HfO₂/Al, (b) Au/pSi/HfO₂/Al, (c) Au/nSi/HfO₂/Au, and (d) Au/pSi/HfO₂/Au.

6.5 Variations of the HfO₂ layer

In this section some of the deposition and post-deposition processing conditions of the HfO₂ dielectric layer are varied in order to investigate the effects on the current-

voltage characteristics of the overall structure. Optimal conditions for passivation do not necessarily align with the optimal conditions for conduction.

6.5.1 Film thickness

Figure 6.7(a) shows various IV measurements for different contact sizes, taken on a sample with a ~1 nm (10 cycle) as-deposited HfO_2 layer. Six different contact sizes were considered, with three measurements taken for each contact size. In general, the samples show an approximate diode response, with current decreasing as contact size decreases, which is the required behaviour to apply the ECSM. However, the existence of some form of shunting, notable below the forward threshold voltage at 1.5 V, complicates the situation. This shunt appears to be more pronounced for larger contact sizes and has a negligible impact on the reverse bias measurements. Additionally, the results are relatively inconsistent between contacts of the same geometry, with some contacts producing considerably different IV curve characteristics, for example the blue curve in Figure 6.7(a). Overall, this data is not ideal for the application of the ECSM.

It is still possible to extract contact resistivity values through the ECSM by selecting consistent IV data across the six different contact sizes; however, these values should rather be considered as an estimate than as an exact value. The result of these calculations, for varying HfO₂ film thickness can be seen in Figure 6.7(b). Contact resistivity values are recorded in the order of 1 Ω cm² which, at first glance, would suggest poor performance from the HfO₂ sample structures. However, the difference between 0 cycles of HfO₂ – *i.e.*, Al directly on Si (structure d in Figure 6.1) – and 10 cycles HfO₂ (structure e in Figure 6.1) is on the order of only 100 m Ω cm². This indicates that the limiting factor in these measurements is more likely the metallisation than the HfO₂ layer itself. Achieving a contact resistivity a full area contact structure can have where no significant power conversion efficiency (PCE) losses occur [13, 19]. The

potential of the HfO₂ layer may become more apparent if included in a better performing contact structure.

The contact resistivity increases substantially with thicker HfO_2 layers, with the value at ~2 nm (20 cycles) an order of magnitude higher than at ~1 nm (10 cycles). By ~3 nm (30 cycles) current values were indistinguishable from the measurement noise of the experimental setup, and so an approximation of contact resistivity was not possible.

Overall, these results would suggest that ultra-thin (<2 nm) as-deposited HfO₂ films show some promise as interlayers in contact structures, though more investigation into the surrounding contact structure is required, to improve contact resistivity values, and to investigate the possible origin of the shunt resistance.



Figure 6.7: (a) Repeated current-voltage measurements, with various contact sizes, for an Au/nSi/HfO₂/Al contact structure (Figure 6.1(e)), with ~ 1nm (10 cycles) of as-deposited HfO₂ (no activation anneal). The arrows highlight an example of IV characteristics that do not fit the typical diode response. (b) Approximate contact resistivity measurements, calculated from applying the ECSM to select IV data. These values are intended as a guide and should not be used for direct comparison, due to the unsuitability if the approach.

6.5.2 Annealing Temperature

Figure 6.8 shows a plot of conductance (defined as the inverse of resistance), calculated above the forward threshold voltage, against the annealing temperature of a ~1 nm (10 cycle) HfO_2 layer (before contact deposition), with each colour representing a different contact size. Since the contact resistivity values extracted from this data through the ECSM cannot be reported to a high degree of accuracy, it was necessary to use a different metric to compare between samples that resulted in similar levels of performance.

Lower temperature anneals result in higher conductance, with a peak in performance occurring between 275–325 °C. There is then a downward shift in the data, corresponding to an increase in resistance, which then plateaus around 475 °C. This shift in resistance is unlikely to be due to crystallisation of the material, despite the temperature range aligning with the previously determined crystallisation region for thicker HfO₂ films [70], as these ultra-thin films (~1 nm) appear to remain amorphous at these temperatures, demonstrated through the XRD results in Figure 6.5.



Figure 6.8: A comparison between sample conductance (1/R) and HfO_2 annealing temperature, for an Au/nSi/HfO₂/Al sample structure (Figure 6.1 (e)), with ~1 nm (10 cycles) of HfO_2 . Different contact sizes are represented by different coloured data points. The dashed line provides a guide for the eye.

Additionally, the lower temperature samples show a clear relation between resistance and contact size, with larger contacts resulting in lower resistance. This trend is lost for samples annealed above 375 °C, indicating that more complex mechanisms of carrier transport may become involved in this higher temperature region. The loss of a current to contact size dependence is seen in all contact structures considered in this study, once the HfO₂ layer is annealed at temperatures above 375 °C. This can be seen in Figure 6.9.

From these data, it can be concluded that samples annealed at lower temperatures, (<375 °C) create better performing contact structures than those annealed at higher temperatures. This conflicts with the passivating performance of HfO_2 films, in which it has been shown that higher annealing temperatures (~450 °C) are necessary for high quality passivation [70].



Figure 6.9: Current-voltage characteristics of various mental-HfO₂-Si contact structures, with 1 nm (10 cycles) of HfO₂, annealed at 475 °C in air for 30 min, full area Au rear contacts and mm-scale circular front contacts. Sample structures include: (a) Au/nSi/HfO₂/Au, (b) Au/pSi/HfO₂/Au, (c) Au/nSi/HfO₂/Al, and (d) Au/pSi/HfO₂/Al.

6.6 Enhancing carrier transport

As discussed in section 2.2.1, tunnelling is not the only possible form of carrier transport mechanism. The formation of pinhole structures within some materials, such as SiO_x /poly-Si, can improve conductance by enabling multiple methods of carrier transport [15, 16]. It has been demonstrated in Chapter 4 that stacks of Al_2O_3 and HfO_2 on Si produce potential pinhole structures. There is a possibility that these pinholes may be beneficial for carrier transport, and thus this material stack makes a good candidate to investigate for application as a passivating contact interlayer.

6.6.1 Thin stacks

As reported in this chapter, conductance is highest when films are as thin as possible (~1 nm), however, passivation quality is significantly reduced at this ultra-thin film thickness. The passivation quality of HfO_2 films is maximised at ~2.5 nm. This section investigates whether combining an Al_2O_3 layer with a HfO_2 layer may introduce pinholes that would allow conductance to increase at a total film ($Al_2O_3 + HfO_2$) thickness of 2-3 nm (20-25 cycles).

Figure 6.10(a) compares the effective lifetimes of three different dielectric structures: HfO₂, Al₂O₃, and an Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stack, all totalling 25 ALD process cycles. It can be seen that the stacked material results in passivation equivalent to a single layer Al₂O₃ film, despite there only being 5 cycles of Al₂O₃ at the interlayer. This is likely due to the passivation from Al₂O₃ mainly being influenced by the dielectric charge that remains in the surface region.

Figure 6.10(b) shows the IV characteristics of a dielectric stack with 5 cycles of Al_2O_3 and 15 cycles of HfO_2 , totalling 20 cycles. Unfortunately, the current values obtained for this structure are of the same order of the values obtained for the 20 cycle HfO_2 structure in Figure 6.7(b). This implies that there is no improvement in conductance, and thus no enhancement of carrier transport via pinholes. However, it should be noted that the stacked structure was annealed at 475 °C, as opposed to the HfO_2 structure in Figure 6.7(b) that was kept in its as-deposited state, thus this is not a direct comparison. It does appear that the inclusion of a 5 cycle Al_2O_3 interlayer somewhat improves the behaviour of the structure, in terms of reliability of IV curves, when compared to the data of annealed HfO_2 structures in Figure 6.9.



Figure 6.10: (a) Lifetime curves of three difference dielectric stacks, all 2-3 nm thick (25 cycles). The ratio of Al_2O_3 to HfO_2 is varied, with a fully HfO_2 film (red) being compared to a fully Al_2O_3 film (yellow) and a stack with 20 cycles of HfO_2 and 5 cycles of Al_2O_3 at the interface (blue). (b) IV measurements of a sample with 5 cycles of Al_2O_3 and 15 cycles of HfO_2 , totally 20 cycles (~2 nm), in a Si/ Al_2O_3 / HfO_2 stack.

6.6.2 Micro-PERC

Thin stacks of Al₂O₃ and HfO₂ do not appear to produce pinhole transport mechanisms. It may be the case that pinholes are not formed in structures with such thin films, or in these ratio of thicknesses. Thus far such pinholes have only been demonstrated in stacked structures almost 50 nm thick. It may also be the case that the structure of the pinholes themselves may not facilitate carrier transport. However, it is still possible to utilise these pinholes in another way.

As depicted in Figure 4.7, when a Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ structure is etched in a TMAH solution, etch pits are formed in the Si substrate, with channels the shape and width of the etch pit left in the dielectric layers above. If a metal is then deposited over the top of this structure, then some metal may be deposited in channels which make contact with the Si surface. This essentially creates a passivated surface with micro-scale regions of direct metal-Si contact. This structure is similar to the rear design of a PERC cell, though produced in a self-forming manner without the need for patterned etching or laser ablation. The regions of direct metal-Si contact are also much smaller in scale. Hence, this structure has been coined 'micro-PERC'. A schematic of the process can be seen in Figure 6.11.



Figure 6.11: A schematic of the production of a micro-PERC structure. (a) Initial pinhole formation, where the exact form of these pinholes is still unknown. (b) The intentional expansion of pinholes through immersion in an etching solution. (c) Metal deposition, potentially aided with a heat treatment to allow metal through the channels to the Si surface.

For this study, the contact structure was changed from Au rear and Al front, as in the previous sections, to Al on both the front and rear. This was done so that the structure could be sintered at 250 °C for 30 min in order to aid the movement of the metal towards the Si surface. Figure 6.12 shows the resulting IV measurements from such structures, with each curve being an average of up to 9 measurements for the 0 min sample, or 27 measurements otherwise.

From Figure 6.12(a) it can be seen that without TMAH treatment there is negligible conductance in the structure, as would be expected with almost 50 nm of insulating dielectric. However, with immersion in a 25% TMAH solution for 30 min (prior to metallisation and sintering), an electrical response can be detected, as shown through the measured IV curves in Figure 6.12(b). With continued immersion in the TMAH solution from 30-90 min the current decreases by approximately 50% (Figure 6.12(b)-(d)). It is possible that prolonged exposure to the TMAH solution damages the stacked structure, such as in the case of HF etching where the Al₂O₃ layer is undermined. It
has been reported that undermining in stacked passivating interlayer structures can have a negative influence on the conductance [188]. Faster immersion times, or a lower TMAH concentration may potentially result in even higher conductance. It should be noted that, for the lifetime control case study in section 4.5.1, the impact of TMAH etching has been investigated and found negligible with these stacked structures for concentrations as high as 2%. However, it is likely that higher concentrations of TMAH would have a more significant impact.



Figure 6.12: IV measurements of a structure with ~20 nm Al_2O_3 and ~25 nm HfO_2 dielectric interlayers after immersion in a 25% TMAH solution heated to 80 C for (a) 0 min, (b) 30 min, (c) 60 min, and (d) 90 min.

Whilst current values are still very low (~10³ x smaller than typical passivating contact structures), this method provides a promising and exciting new route to the formation of passivating contact structures. Further work should focus on optimising the process

parameters, including film thickness, annealing temperature, contact structure, sintering temperature and time, etching solution and concentration, and immersion time.

6.7 Conclusion

This chapter has studied the thickness dependence of HfO₂ films, highlighting a peak in passivation performance around 2.5 nm thick, for films annealed at 475 °C. XRD measurements suggest that between 10 nm and 2.5 nm thickness HfO₂ films shift from a crystallised monoclinic structure to amorphous, when annealed at temperatures around 475 °C. The lack of crystallinity at this temperature, in conjunction with the good passivation performance, contradicts prior reports suggesting that HfO₂ passivation may rely on a crystallised film [70].

Alongside the material characterisation of HfO₂, a preliminary study was conducted into the application of thin HfO₂ layers in passivating contacts. Front and rear contacts were optimised, using a simple architecture and low-temperature processing, finding the best performance with an Au/*n*Si/HfO₂/Al sample structure. The thickness dependence of contact resistivity was estimated using the ECSM, though the nonideal IV characteristics of these samples limits the accuracy of this approach. Potential causes of the apparent shunt in the diode structure are discussed, with some indications this may be due to metal implantation from the high energy e-beam process, resulting in a one-directional shunt.

The annealing temperature dependence of Au/*n*Si/HfO₂/Al samples were investigated through conductance measurements, finding that resistance is lowest for samples annealed below 375 °C. For higher temperature anneals, the resistance increases and the relation between current values and contact size is lost, indicating a change in carrier transport mechanisms. This shift in performance is consistent with the crystallisation region of HfO₂, however, as demonstrated by XRD, the ultra-thin HfO₂ layers should remain amorphous. This suggests that there are other factors

influencing the material within this temperature region, such as a change in dielectric charge. The temperature dependence of the sample contact performance and passivation are in direct conflict with each other, as passivation has been shown to peak around 475 °C, which is significantly higher than the optimal temperature range for the contact performance.

HfO₂ has been established to have excellent passivation, particularly at the sub-10 nm scale, which would make it a promising candidate for applications in passivating contact structures. This chapter provides a preliminary exploration of the topic, highlighting changes in performance resulting from HfO₂ film thickness and annealing temperature. Further work is required on optimising the contact structure, to achieve ideal diode performance. This may require increasing the complexity of the contact architecture and thermal budget.

Investigations have been made into the incorporation of HfO₂ layers into stacked structures, including the development of a novel contact structure that utilizes the pinhole formation within, and etching characteristics of, Si/Al₂O₃/HfO₂ stacks to allow carrier transport through thicker dielectric films.

6.8 Contributions

The content of this chapter has been published [186] and parts of the text have been included verbatim. The reported results include experimental contributions from Sophie Pain and Anup Yadav in the form of sample fabrication and measurements for lifetime and XRD studies.

Chapter 7 Conclusion

7.1 Key findings

This work has focused on investigating various physical and electrical properties of HfO₂ thin films, grown *via* ALD, for potential application as passivating interlayers in PV device structures. Particular attention was paid to maximising the passivation quality through optimisation of the post-deposition conditions. Various material parameters were studied which enabled the separation of surface and bulk contributions, as well as chemical and field-effect passivation mechanisms. The conductive performance of the thin films was then analysed in a simple, low-thermal budget, passivating contact structure. Additionally, the robustness of the HfO₂ thin films was investigated through testing the wet chemical etch resistance. The results of this were then used for the purposes of lifetime control in a THz modulation device, and in the formation of a novel contact structure for PV devices. The key findings were as follows:

In **Chapter 4**, a relation between the etch rate of HfO₂ in HF and the HfO₂ film crystallinity was determined, with amorphous films etching quickly, fully crystallised films not etching within the time-frame considered, and an intermediate stage around the crystallisation region where films etch slowly. A difference in performance was discovered between HfO₂ films deposited directly on Si and stacks with an Al₂O₃ interlayer between the HfO₂ and Si. The reduced etch resistance for annealed stacked samples was determined to be due to the formation of pinholes within the structure, causing undermining of the dielectric layers. A comparison between different measurement approaches was made. It was found that either a change in film thickness or film density was recorded during etching, depending on whether a Filmetrics or X-ray reflectometry system was used, respectively. The benefits of using

Conclusion

HfO₂ as a protective barrier layer was demonstrated through the production of lifetime control samples, where the rear Al₂O₃ passivation layer was protected during the patterning of the sample front.

In **Chapter 5**, the post-deposition annealing conditions were varied in order to maximise passivation quality. A peak in performance was found around 475 °C, were SRVs reach a minimum value <5 cm/s. This annealing temperature dependence was distinguished from any bulk-degradation in the Si through application of a room-temperature superacid re-passivation technique. This is the first time such a technique has been utilised in this context. The chemical and field-effect passivation mechanisms were investigated, with degradation of the chemical passivation determined to be the cause of the decrease in lifetime at higher temperatures.

In **Chapter 6**, the thickness dependence of the passivation quality was investigated, with lifetimes found to be increasing with decreasing thickness. A minimum SRV of 0.6 cm/s was measured at 2.5 nm, which is the lowest reported value for HfO₂, and is competitive with previously reported Al₂O₃ SRVs. An annealing temperature dependence was found for the conductance of HfO₂ layers in a passivating contact structure, with the conductance decreasing for temperatures >350 °C. This directly conflicts with the optimal temperatures for HfO₂ passivation. Additionally, contact resistivity/ conductance appeared to be severely limited by the contact structure used. The pinhole formation discovered in Chapter 4 was then utilised to develop a novel passivating contact structure, by incorporating HfO₂ into a stack with Al₂O₃. The pinholes were intentionally widened with an etching solution so that micro-scale regions of direct metal-Si contact could be formed, whilst leaving the rest of the Si surface passivated with the dielectric stack.

These findings demonstrate the effectiveness of HfO₂ as a passivating layer, producing SRVs that compete with leading commercial dielectric layers. The potential of single layer HfO₂ as a passivating interlayer is limited, due to the conflicting annealing temperature dependence of the passivation and conductance. However,

when the unique etching characteristics of HfO₂ films are considered, this creates numerous possibilities for the fields of photovoltaics and electronics, including the development of a unique passivating contact structure, and protective barrier layers for complex device fabrication.

7.2 Research outlook

As mentioned, this research opens up various new routes to utilise HfO₂ in device fabrication. This research can be furthered through the continued investigation of etching mechanics and material parameters, as briefly described in the following sections.

7.2.1 Protective barrier layers

In order for the full potential of HfO₂ thin films as protective barrier layers to be realised, further investigations should be made into the integrity of the etch resistance for various stacked materials. It has already been demonstrated that HfO₂ is able to substantially increase the longevity of Al₂O₃ layers in Si processing solutions. Should this behaviour also be demonstrated for other commonly used materials, such as SiO_x or SiN_x, it would greatly increase the flexibility of device fabrication processes. In particular, it would make single side etching possible without the need for specialist equipment that is often only available in industry and large-scale laboratories.

7.2.2 Wafer patterning

Brief attempts were made in this work to locally anneal HfO₂ thin films. If a localised heating process could be used to crystalise specific regions of a HfO₂ layer, a patterned wafer could be produced through a simple HF dip. This is possible because of the varying etch rates of HfO₂ films, with crystallised monoclinic HfO₂ demonstrating incredibly strong etch resistance, and amorphous HfO₂ etching very quickly. In particular, laser annealing would allow for high flexibility in pattern design, as well as pattern resolution. The localised annealing of HfO₂ films *via* a laser process

has been previously demonstrated, though the resultant film had a cubic structure [82]. If a monoclinic variation could be produced, where the passivation and etching characteristics are well understood, it would greatly reduce the time and cost of patterning processes. Current wafer patterning is mostly done with lithography, which is a relatively slow and costly processes, and is not easily translated to an industrial scale. By comparison, laser annealing processes are generally quite fast and simple, as is a room-temperature HF dip, thus making this a potentially more viable approach for industrial-scale patterning.

7.2.3 Micro-PERC

This work has reported the development of a novel dielectric stack structure for passivating contact formation. This structure could potentially provide a lower temperature approach to passivating contacts, as it does not require high-temperature processes (>800 °C for current SiO_x/poly-Si architectures) to form the pinholes that are critical for carrier transport. However, a significant amount of research still needs to be conducted to determine whether such a structure is actually viable. Measured current values are still very low for this design, as parameters have not yet been optimised. Further work should focus on varying material and process parameters, such as film thickness, etching solution concentration, contact materials, and heat treatments. With optimisation of these variables, the performance of the design should improve, and it can then be compared to existing cell architectures.

7.2.4 Zirconium

Whilst HfO₂ is an incredibly interesting material, with promising applications in electronics and photovoltaics, Hafnium is, unfortunately, quite limited. Particularly for the PV sector, where global energy generation is now above 1 TW and growing rapidly, material availability can be a very limiting factor. Zirconium is a material that is very chemically similar to Hafnium. In fact, they are often naturally found together and must be separated when mined through complex and costly processes. This is

part of what makes Hafnium so limited and expensive. However, Zirconium is far more abundant, and much cheaper. Since the two materials are so chemically similar, it is possible that monoclinic zirconium oxide (ZrO₂) could behave very similarly to monoclinic HfO₂. If so, ZrO₂ could potentially become a replacement or a dopant, reducing the material consumption of Hafnium, without major loss of material properties. If similar levels of passivation and etch resistance could be demonstrated, it would provide a more viable and sustainable route to the implementation of the processes reported in this work at an industrial scale.

References

- [1] S. Rahmstorf, G. Foster, and N. Cahill, "Global temperature evolution: recent trends and some pitfalls," *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 12, no. 5, p. 054001, 2017, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/aa6825.
- [2] G. Foster and S. Rahmstorf, "Global temperature evolution 1979-2010," *Environmental Research Letters,* vol. 6, no. 4, p. 044022, 2011, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/6/4/044022.
- [3] G. H. Schleser, "The Response of CO2 Evolution from Soils to Global Temperature Changes," *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung A,* vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 287-291, 2014, doi: 10.1515/zna-1982-0316.
- [4] O. E. Sala, F. S. Chapin, J. J. Armesto, E. Berlow, R. Dirzo, E. Huber-Sanwald, L. F. Huenneke, R. B. Jackson, A. Kinzig, R. Leemans, D. M. Lodge, H. A. Mooney, M. Oesterheld, N. L. Roff, M. T. Sykes, B. H. Walker, M. Walker, and D. H. Wall, "Global Biodiversity Scenarios for the Year 2100," *Science*, vol. 287, no. 5459, pp. 1770-1774, 2000, doi: 10.1126/science.287.5459.1770.
- [5] N. W. Arnell, J. A. Lowe, A. J. Challinor, and T. J. Osborn, "Global and regional impacts of climate change at different levels of global temperature increase," *Climate Change*, vol. 155, pp. 377-391, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s10584-019-02464-z.
- [6] J. Lelieveld, K. Klingmüller, A. Pozzer, R. T. Burnett, A. Haines, and V. Ramanathan, "Effects of fossil fuel and total anthropogenic emission removal on public health and climate," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 116, no. 15, pp. 7192-7197, 2019, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1819989116.
- [7] C. A. Horowitz, "Paris Agreement," *International Legal Materials,* vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 740-755, 2016, doi: 10.1017/S0020782900004253.
- [8] IRENA, "Renewable Energy Statistics 2022," ed. Abu Dhabi: The International Renewable Energy Agency, 2022.
- [9] D. Feldman, V. Ramasamy, R. Fu, A. Ramdas, J. Desai, and R. Margolis, "U.S. Solar Photovoltaic System and Energy Storage Cost Benchmark: Q1 2020," 2020.
- [10] D. Sica, O. Malandrino, S. Supino, M. Testa, and M. C. Lucchetti, "Management of end-of-life photovoltaic panels as a step towards a circular economy," *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 2934-2945, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.10.039.
- [11] Y. Xu, J. Li, Q. Tan, A. L. Peters, and C. Yang, "Global status of recyling waste solar panels: A review," *Waste Management*, vol. 75, pp. 450-458, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.wasman.2018.01.036.
- [12] "International Technology Roadmap for Photovoltaic (ITRPV) 2022," vol. 14, 2023.
- [13] T. G. Allen, J. Bullock, X. Yang, A. Javey, and S. De Wolf, "Passivating contacts for crystalline silicon solar cells," *Nature Energy*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 914-928, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41560-019-0463-6.
- [14] NREL, "Best Research-Cell Efficiencies," ed, 2023.
- [15] D. Tetzlaff, J. Krügener, Y. Larionova, S. Reiter, T. M., R. Peibst, U. Höhne, J.-D. Kähler, and T. Wietler, "Evolution of Oxide Disruptions: The (W)hole Story About poly-Si / c-Si Passivating Contacts," in *IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference*, Portland, OR, USA, 2016, vol. 43: IEEE, pp. 0221-0224, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2016.7749582.
- [16] R. Peibst, U. Römer, Y. Larionova, M. Rienäcker, A. Merkle, N. Folchert, S. Reiter, M. Turcu, B. Min, J. Krügener, D. Tetzlaff, E. Bugiel, T. Weitler, and R. Brendel, "Working prinicple of carrier selective poly-Si/c-Si junctions: Is tunelling the whole story?,"

Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells, vol. 158, no. 1, pp. 60-67, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2016.05.045.

- [17] D. K. Ghosh, S. Bose, G. Das, S. Acharyya, A. Nandi, S. Mukopadhyay, and A. Sengupta, "Funamentals, present status and future perspective of TOPCon solar cells: A comprehensive review," *Surfaces and Interfaces*, vol. 30, p. 101917, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.surfin.2022.101917).
- [18] J. Schmidt, R. Peibst, and R. Brendel, "Surface passivation of crystalline silicon solar cells: Present and future," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 187, pp. 39-54, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.06.047.
- [19] E. Khorani, C. A. Messmer, S. L. Pain, T. Niewelt, B. F. M. Healy, A. Wratten, M. Walker, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Electronic Band Offset Determination of Oxides Grown by Atomic Layer Deposition on Silicon," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, 2023.
- [20] R. Sreenivasan, P. C. McIntyre, H. Kim, and K. C. Saraswat, "Effect of impurities on the fixed charge of nanoscale HfO₂ films grown by atomic layer deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 89, no. 11, p. 112903, 2006, doi: 10.1063/1.2348735.
- [21] J. Cui, Y. Wan, Y. Cui, Y. Chen, P. Verlinden, and A. Cuevas, "Highly effective electronic passivation of silicon surfaces by atomic layer deposited hafnium oxide," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 110, no. 2, p. 021602, 2017, doi: 10.1063/1.4973988.
- [22] A. B. Gougam, B. Rajab, and A. Bin Afif, "Investigation of c-Si surface passivation using thermal ALD deposited HfO₂ films," *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, vol. 95, pp. 42-47, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.mssp.2019.02.012.
- [23] S. Tomer, M. Devi, A. Kumar, S. Laxmi, C. M. S. Rauthan, and V. Vandana, "Silicon Surface Passivation by Atomic Layer Deposited Hafnium Oxide Films: Trap States Investigation Using Constant Voltage Stress Studies," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1614-1623, 2020, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.3022686.
- [24] X. Cheng, P. Repo, H. Halvard, A. P. Perros, E. S. Marstein, M. Di Sabatino, and H. Savin, "Surface Passivation Properties of HfO₂ Thin Film on n-Type Crystalline Si," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 479-485, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2016.2645399.
- [25] F. Lin, B. Hoex, Y. H. Koh, J. Lin, and A. G. Aberle, "Low-Temperature Surface Passivation of Moderately Doped Crystalline Silicon by Atomic-Layer-Deposited Hafnium Oxide Films," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, vol. 2, pp. N11-N14, 2012, doi: 10.1149/2.026301jss.
- [26] J. Wang, S. Sadegh Mottaghian, and M. Farrokh Baroughi, "Passivation properties of atomic-layer-deposited hafnium and aluminum oxides on Si surfaces," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 342-348, 2012, doi: 10.1109/TED.2011.2176943.
- [27] M. Fadel, O. A. Azim M., O. A. Omer, and R. R. Basily, "A study of some optical properties of hafnium dioxide (HfO₂) thin films and their applications," *Applied Physics A: Materials Science & Processing*, vol. 66, pp. 335-343, 1998, doi: 10.1007/s003390050675.
- [28] D. K. Shah, D. KD, A. Umar, H. Algadi, M. Akhtar, and O.-B. Yang, "Influence of efficient thickness of antireflection coating layer of HfO₂ for crystalline silicon solar cell," *Inorganics*, vol. 10, no. 10, p. 171, 2022, doi: 10.3390/inorganics10100171.
- [29] K. Mergia, V. Liedtke, T. Speliotis, G. Apostolopoulos, and S. Messoloras, "Thermo-Mechanical Behaviour of HfO₂ Coatings for Aerospace Applications," *Advanced Materials Research*, vol. 59, pp. 87-91, 2008, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.59.87.
- [30] J. S. Daubert, G. T. Hill, H. N. Gotsch, A. P. Gremaud, J. S. Ovental, P. S. Williams, C. J. Oldham, and G. N. Parsons, "Corrosion Protection of Copper Using Al₂O₃, TiO₂, ZnO,

HfO₂, and ZrO₂ Atomic Layer Deposition," *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 4192-4201, 2017, doi: 10.1021/acsami.6b13571.

- [31] G. Rizzoni and J. Kearns, "Semiconductors and Diodes," in *Fundamentals of Electrical Engineering*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2009.
- [32] Z. Zhang and J. T. Yates Jr., "Band Bending in Semiconductors: Chemical and Physical Consequences at Surfaces and Interfaces," *Chemical Reviews*, vol. 112, no. 10, pp. 5520-5551, 2012, doi: 10.1021/cr3000626.
- [33] R. S. Bonilla, B. Hoex, P. Hamer, and P. R. Wilshaw, "Dielectric surface passivation for silicon solar cells: A review," *Physica Status Solidi (A) Applications and Materials Science*, vol. 214, p. 1700293, 2017, doi: 10.1002/pssa.201700293.
- [34] W. T. R. W. Shockley and W. T. Read Jr, "Statistics of the recombination of holes and electrons," *Physical Review*, vol. 87, no. 5, p. 835, 1952, doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.87.835.
- [35] R. N. Hall, "Electron-hole recombination in germanium," *Physical Review,* vol. 87, no. 2, p. 387, 1952, doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.87.387.
- [36] D. J. Fitzgerald and A. S. Grove, "Surface recombination in semiconductors," *Surface Science*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 347-369, 1968, doi: 10.1016/0039-6028(68)90182-9.
- [37] A. G. Aberle, S. W. Glunz, and W. Warta, "Impact of illumination level and oxide parameters on Shockley-Read-Hall recombination at the Si-SiO₂ interface," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 71, no. 9, pp. 4422-4431, 1992, doi: 10.1063/1.350782.
- [38] D. Matsakis, A. Coster, B. Laster, and R. Sime, "A renaming proposal: "The Auger-Meitner effect"," *Physics Today*, vol. 72, no. 9, p. 10, 2019, doi: 10.1063/PT.3.4281.
- [39] A. Richter, S. W. Glunz, F. Werner, J. Schmidt, and A. Cuevas, "Improved quantitative description of Auger recombination in crystalline silicon," *Physical Review B*, vol. 86, no. 16, p. 165202, 2012, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.86.165202.
- [40] A. Blakers, "Development of the PERC Solar Cell," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics,* vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 629-635, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2019.2899460.
- [41] T. Dullweber and J. Schmidt, "Industrial Silicon Solar Cells Applying the Passivated Emitter and Rear Cell (PERC) Concept - A Review," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1366-1381, 2016, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2016.2571627.
- [42] F. Feldmann, M. Bivour, C. Reichel, H. Steinkemper, M. Hermle, and S. W. Glunz, "Tunnel oxide passivated contacts as an alternative to partial rear contacts," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 131, pp. 46-50, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2014.06.015.
- [43] D. Chen, Y. Chen, Z. Wang, J. Gong, C. Liu, Y. Zou, Y. He, Y. Wang, L. Yuan, W. Lin, R. Xia, L. Yin, X. Zhang, G. Xu, Y. Yang, H. Shen, Z. Feng, P. P. Altermatt, and P. J. Verlinden, "24.58% total area efficiency of sceen-printed, large area industrial silicon solar cells with the tunnel oxide passivated contacts (i-TOPCon) design," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, p. 110258, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2019.110258.
- [44] S. De Wolf, A. Descoeudres, Z. C. Holman, and C. Ballif, "High-efficiency Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cells: A Review," *Green*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 7-24, 2012, doi: 10.1515/green-2011-0018.
- Y. Liu, Y. Li, Y. Wu, G. Yang, L. Mazzarella, P. Procel-Maya, A. C. Tamboli, K. Weber, M. Boccard, O. Isabella, X. Yang, and B. Sun, "High-Efficiency Silicon Heterjunction Solar Cells: Materials, Devices and Applications," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, vol. 142, p. 100579, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.mser.2020.100579.
- [46] J. L. Bryan, T. J. Silverman, M. G. Deceglie, M. Mahaffey, P. Firth, and Z. C. Holman, "Systematic operating temperature differences between Al-BSF, PERC, and PERTwith-optimized-rear-reflector solar mini-modules due to rear reflectance," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 293-300, 2021, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2021.3127447.

- [47] C. Messmer, B. S. Goraya, S. Nold, P. S. C. Schulze, V. Sittinger, J. Schön, J. C. Goldschmidt, M. Bivour, S. W. Glunz, and M. Hermle, "The race for the best silicon bottom cell: Efficiency and cost evaluation of perovskite-silicon tandem solar cells," *Progress in Photovoltaics*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 744-759, 2020, doi: 10.1002/pip.3372.
- [48] H. C. de Graaff and J. G. de Groot, "the SIS tunnel emitter: A theory for emitters with thin interface layers," *IEEE Transactions of Electron Devices,* vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 1771-1776, 1979, doi: 10.1109/T-ED.1979.19684.
- [49] H. Kim, A. Chloe, S. B. Ha, G. M. Narejo, S. W. Koo, J. S. Han, W. Chung, J. Y. Kim, J. Yang, and S. I. In, "Quantum dots, passivation layer and cocatalysts for enhanced photoelectrochemical hydrogen production," *ChemSusChem*, vol. 16, no. 3, p. e202201925, 2023, doi: doi.org/10.1002/cssc.202201925.
- [50] Z. Xing, F. Ren, H. Wu, L. Wu, X. Wang, J. Wang, D. Wan, G. Zhang, and C. Jiang, "Enhanced PEC performance of nanoporous Si photoelectrodes by covering HfO₂ and TiO₂ passivation layers," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 43901, 2017, doi: 10.1038/srep43901.
- [51] G. S. Frankel, J. D. Vienna, J. Lian, J. R. Scully, S. Gin, J. V. Ryan, J. Wang, S. H. Kim, W. Windl, and J. Du, "A comparative review of the aqueous corrosion of glasses, crystalline cermaics, and metals," *npj Materials Degradation*, vol. 2, p. 15, 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41529-018-0037-2.
- [52] T. L. Metroke, R. L. Parkhill, and E. T. Knobbe, "Passivation of metal alloys using solgel-derived materials - a review," *Progress in Organic Coatings*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 233-238, 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0300-9440(01)00134-5.
- [53] U. Schmid and G. Krotz, "Investigation on different passivation technologies for thin film sensors on ceramic substrates," *SENSORS*, vol. 1, pp. 617-622, 2002, doi: 10.1109/ICSENS.2002.1037172.
- [54] R. F. Mehl, W. C. Ellis, and E. Marburg, "The Growth of Metal Crystals," in *The Solidification of Metals and Alloys*, 1951: The American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, pp. 24-51.
- [55] C. C. Silva, H. W. Leite Alves, and L. M. R. Scolfaro, "Frequency Dependence of the Dielectric Constants and of the Reflectivity of HfO₂ and ZrO₂ fom First-Principles Calculations," in *AIP*, 2007, vol. 893, no. 1, p. 311, doi: 10.1063/1.2729892.
- [56] X. Zhao and D. Vanderbilt, "First-principles study of structural, vibrational, and lattice dielectric properties of hafnium oxide," *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics*, vol. 65, no. 23, p. 233106, 2002, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.65.233106.
- [57] K. M. Kim, J. S. Jang, S. G. Yoon, J. Y. Yun, and N. K. Chung, "Structural, optical and electrical properties of HfO₂ thin films deposited at low-temperature using plasmaenhanced atomic layer deposition," *Materials*, vol. 13, no. 9, 2020, doi: 10.3390/MA13092008.
- [58] H. Kattelus, M. Ylilammi, J. Salmi, T. Ranta-Aho, E. Nykanen, and I. Suni, "Electrical properties of tantalum based composite oxide films," *Materials Research Society Symposium Proceedings*, vol. 284, pp. 511-516, 1993, doi: 10.1557/proc-284-511.
- [59] M. Ritala, M. Leskelä, L. Niinistö, T. Prohaska, G. Friedbacher, and M. Grasserbauer, "Development of crystallinity and morphology in hafnium dioxide thin films grown by atomic layer epitaxy," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 250, no. 1-2, pp. 72-80, 1994, doi: 10.1016/0040-6090(94)90168-6.
- [60] D. M. Hausmann and R. G. Gordon, "Surface morphology and crystallinity control in the atomic layer deposition (ALD) of hafnium and zirconium oxide thin films," *Journal* of Crystal Growth, vol. 249, no. 1-2, pp. 251-261, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0022-0248(02)02133-4.

- [61] J. Aarik, A. Aidla, H. Mändar, V. Sammelselg, and T. Uustare, "Texture development in nanocrystalline hafnium dioxide thin films grown by atomic layer deposition," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 220, no. 1-2, pp. 105-113, 2000, doi: 10.1016/s0022-0248(00)00831-9.
- [62] J. Aarik, "Atomic Layer Deposition of Titanium, Zirconium and Hafnium Dioxides: Growth Mechanisms and Properties of Thin Films," *Tartu University Press*, 2007.
- [63] J. Aarik, A. Aidla, A. A. Kiisler, T. Uustare, and V. Sammelselg, "Influence of substrate temperature on atomic layer growth and properties of HfO₂ thin films," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 340, no. 1-2, pp. 110-116, 1999, doi: 10.1016/s0040-6090(98)01356-x.
- [64] K. Kukli, J. Aarik, M. Ritala, T. Uustare, T. Sajavaara, J. Lu, J. Sundqvist, A. Aidla, L. Pung, A. Hårsta, and M. Leskelä, "Effect of selected atomic layer deposition parameters on the structure and dielectric properties of hafnium oxide films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 96, no. 9, pp. 5298-5307, 2004, doi: 10.1063/1.1796513.
- [65] X. Y. Zhang, C. H. Hsu, S. Y. Lien, W. Y. Wu, S. L. Ou, S. Y. Chen, W. Huang, W.-Z. Zhu, F. B. Xiong, and S. Zhang, "Temperature-Dependent HfO₂/Si Interface Structural Evolution and its Mechanism," *Nanoscale Research Letters*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 83, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s11671-019-2915-0.
- [66] R. Lo Nigro, E. Schilirò, G. Mannino, S. Di Franco, and F. Roccaforte, "Comparison between thermal and plasma enhanced atomic layer deposition processes for the growth of HfO₂ dielectric layers," *Journal of Crystal Growth*, vol. 539, p. 125624, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2020.125624.
- [67] V. Aubriet, K. Courouble, M. Gros-Jean, and Ł. Borowik, "Correlative analysis of embedded silicon interface passivation by Kelvin probe force microscopy and corona oxide characterization of semiconductor," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 92, no. 8, p. 083905, 2021, doi: 10.1063/5.0052885.
- [68] J. Gope, Vandana, N. Batra, J. Panigrahi, R. Signh, K. K. Maurya, R. Srivastava, and P. K. Singh, "Silicon surface passivation using thin HfO₂ films by atomic layer deposition," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 357, no. A, pp. 635-642, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2015.09.020.
- [69] R. Singh, Vandana, J. Panigrahi, and P. K. Singh, "Plasma assisted atomic layer deposited hafnium oxide films for silicon surface passivation," *RSC Advances*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 97720-97727, 2016, doi: 10.1039/C6RA19442G.
- [70] A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, D. Walker, A. B. Renz, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Mechanisms of Silicon Surface Passivation by Negatively Charged Hafnium Oxide Thin Films," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 40-47, 2023, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2022.3227624.
- [71] S. L. Pain, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, A. Wratten, G. J. Paez Fajardo, B. P. Winfield, R. S. Bonilla, M. Walker, L. F. J. Piper, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Electronic Characteristics of Ultra-Thin Passivation Layers for Silicon Photovoltaics," *Advanced Materials Interfaces*, vol. 9, no. 28, p. 2201339, 2022, doi: 10.1002/admi.202201339.
- [72] C. T. Kuo, R. Kwor, and K. M. Jones, "Study of sputtered HfO₂ thin films on silicon," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 213, no. 2, pp. 257-264, 1992, doi: 10.1016/0040-6090(92)90291-I.
- [73] H. Grüger, C. Kunath, E. Kurth, S. Sorge, W. Pufe, and T. Pechstein, "High quality rf sputtered metal oxides (Ta₂O₅, HfO₂) and their properties after annealing," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 447, pp. 509-515, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.tsf.2003.07.013.
- [74] J. Chen, W. J. Yoo, D. S. H. Chan, and D. L. Kwong, "Effects of Annealing and Ar Ion Bombardment on the Removal of HfO₂ Gate Dielectric," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. F18, 2004, doi: 10.1149/1.1642577.

- [75] M. Seo, S. K. Kim, K. M. Kim, T. Park, J. H. Kim, C. S. Hwang, and H. J. Cho, "Crystallization and wet etching charateristics of atomic layer deposited HfO₂ films usng Hf([N(CH₃)(C₂H₅)]₃[OC(CH₃)₃]) precursors and O₃ oxidant," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 1, no. 5, p. 211, 2006, doi: 10.1149/1.2209270.
- [76] K. L. Saenger, H. F. Okorn-Schmidt, and C. P. D'Emic, "A Selective Etching Process for Chemically Inert High-k Metal Oxides," *MRS Proceedings*, vol. 745, pp. 391-396, 2002, doi: 10.1557/PROC-745-N3.9.
- [77] V. Lowalekar and S. Raghavan, "Etching of Zirconium Oxide, Hafnium Oxide, and Hafnium Silicates in Dilute Hydrofluoric Acid Solutions," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 1149-1156, 2004, doi: 10.1557/JMR.2004.0149.
- [78] Y. Lee, J. W. DuMont, and S. M. George, "Atomic Layer Etching of HfO₂ Using Sequential, Self-Limiting Thermal Reactions with Sn(acac)2 and HF," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. N5013-N5022, 2015, doi: 10.1149/2.0041506jss.
- [79] J. A. Murdzek and S. M. George, "Thermal Atomic Layer Etching of Amorphous and Crystalline Hafnium Oxide, Zirconium Oxide, and Hafnium Zirconium Oxide," in 2019 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Application (VLSI-TSA), 2019: IEEE, pp. 1-2, doi: 10.1109/VLSI-TSA.2019.8804645.
- [80] J. Larkin, R. Henley, D. C. Bell, T. Cohen-Karni, J. K. Rosenstein, and M. Wanunu, "Slow DNA Transport through Nanopores in Hafnium Oxide Membranes," ACS Nano, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 10121-10128, 2013, doi: 10.1021/nn404326f.
- [81] J. Larkin, R. Henley, D. C. Bell, T. Cohen-Karni, J. K. Rosenstein, and M. Wanunu, "Slow DNA Transport through Nanopores in Hafnium Oxide Membranes - Supporting Information," ACS Nano, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 10121-10128, 2013, doi: 10.1021/nn404326f.
- [82] T. Tabata, "Nucleation and crystal growth in HfO₂ thin films by UV nanosecond pulsed laser annealing," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 015509, 2020, doi: 10.7567/1882-0786/ab5ce2.
- [83] W. Kern, "The Evolution of Silicon Wafer Cleaning Technology," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society,* vol. 137, no. 6, p. 1887, 1990, doi: 10.1149/1.2086825.
- [84] K. Reinhardt and W. Kern, *Handbook of silicon wafer cleaning technology*. William Andrew Publishing, 2018.
- [85] W. Kern and D. A. Puotinen, "Interview with W. Kern," *RCA Rev*, vol. 31, pp. 187-206, 1970.
- [86] T. Liu, K. Yang, Z. Zhang, L. Yan, B. Huang, H. Li, C. Zhang, X. Jiang, and H. Yan, "Hydrofluoric acid-based etching effect on surface pit, crack, and scratch and laser damage site of fused silica optics," *Optics Express*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 10705-10728, 2019, doi: 10.1364/OE.27.010705.
- [87] D. M. Knotter, "Etching Mechanisms of Vitreous Silicon Dioxide in HF-Based Solutions," *Journal of the Americal Chemical Society*, vol. 122, no. 18, pp. 4345-4351, 2000, doi: 10.1021/ja993803z.
- [88] N. E. Grant, A. I. Pointon, R. Jefferies, D. Hiller, Y. Han, R. Beanland, M. Walker, and J. D. Murphy, "Atomic level termination for passivation and functionalisation of silicon surfaces," *Nanoscale*, vol. 12, no. 33, pp. 17332-17341, 2020, doi: 10.1039/d0nr03860a.
- [89] N. E. Grant, T. Niewelt, N. R. Wilson, E. C. Wheeler-Jones, J. Bullock, M. Al-Amin, M. C. Schubert, A. C. Van Veen, A. Javey, and J. D. Murphy, "Superacid-Treated Silicon Surfaces: Extending the Limit of Carrier Lifetime for Photovoltaic Applications," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 1574-1583, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2017.2751511.

- [90] M. Moreno, D. Murias, J. Martínez, C. Reyes-Betanzo, A. Torres, R. Ambrosio, P. Rosales, P. Roca i Cabarrocas, and M. Escobar, "A comparative study of wet and dry texturing processes of c-Si wafers for the fabrication of solar cells," *Solar Energy*, vol. 101, pp. 182-191, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2014.01.004.
- [91] M. M. Rahman, S. C. Ghosh, M. K. Basher, M. A. S. Haque, and K. S. Hossain, "Effects of pretexturization chemical processing on the optical and morphological properties of solar-grade monocrystalline silicon wafers," *AIP Advances*, vol. 10, no. 12, p. 125307, 2020, doi: 10.1063/5.0033604.
- [92] R. W. Johnson, A. Hultqvist, and S. F. Bent, "A brief review of atomic layer deposition: From fundamentals to applications," *Materials Today*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 236-246, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.mattod.2014.04.026.
- [93] H. C. M. Knoops, S. E. Potts, A. A. Bol, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Atomic Layer Deposition," in *Handbook of Crystal Growth (second edition)*: Elsevier, 2015, pp. 1101-1134.
- [94] R. L. Puurunen, "A short history of atomic layer deposition: Tuomo Suntola's atomic layer epitaxy," *Chemical Vapor Deposition*, vol. 20, no. 10-12, pp. 332-344, 2014, doi: 10.1002/cvde.201402012.
- [95] C. W. Wiegand, R. Faust, A. Meinhardt, R. H. Blick, R. Zierold, and K. Nielsch, "Understanding the Growth Mechanisms of Multilayered Systems in Atomic Layer Deposition Process," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 1971-1979, 2018, doi: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.7b05128.
- [96] A. Bashir, T. I. Awan, A. Tehseen, M. B. Tahir, and M. Ijaz, "Interfaces and surfaces," in *Chemistry of Nanomaterials*: Elsevier, 2020, pp. 51-87.
- [97] K. Reichelt and X. Jiang, "The Preparation of Thin Films by Physical Vapour Deposition Methods," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 191, no. 1, pp. 91-126, 1990, doi: 10.1016/0040-6090(90)90277-K.
- [98] X. Zhang and K. Hoshino, "Fundamentals of nano/microfabrication and scale effect," in *Molecular Sensors and Nanodevices*: Elsevier, 2019, pp. 43-111.
- [99] H. Tanaka, "Epitaxial Growth of Oxide Films and Nanostructures," in *Handbook of Crystal Growth*: Elsevier, 2015, pp. 555-604.
- [100] J. P. Singh, R. Bhardwaj, A. Sharma, B. Kaur, S. O. Won, S. Gautam, and K. H. Chae, "Fabrication of Magnetic Tunnel Junctions," in *Advanced Applications in Manufacturing Engineering*: Elsevier, 2019, pp. 53-77.
- [101] L. F. Thompson, "An Introduction to Lithography," in *Introduction to Microlithography*, vol. 219: American Chemical Society, 1983, ch. 1, pp. 1-13.
- [102] Filmetrics Inc., "Taking the Mystery Out of Thin-Film Measurement," California, USA, 2012.
- [103] T. Young, "The Bakerian Lecture: Experiments and Calculations Relative to Physical Optics," Abstracts if the Papers Printed in the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, vol. 1, pp. 131-132, 1832, doi: 10.1098/rspl.1800.0076.
- [104] R. Starke and G. A. H. Schober, "Why history matters: *Ab initio* rederivation of Fresnel equations confirms microscopic theory of refractive index," *Optik*, vol. 157, pp. 275-286, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijleo.2017.11.026.
- [105] J. D. Jackson, *Classical Electrodynamics* (Classical Electrodynamics). Wiley, 1999.
- [106] M. A. B. Whitaker, "Improved treatment of Fresnel equations," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, vol. 12, no. 3, p. 297, 1979, doi: 10.1088/0305-4470/12/3/005.
- [107] M. Quinten, "Spectral Reflectance and Transmittance of a Layer Stack," in *A Practical Guide to Optical Metrology for Thin Films*: Wiley, 2012.
- [108] A. Adams, "Thin Film Thickness Measuring Method," United States of America Patent Appl. 193,902, 1990.

- [109] A. A. Bunaciu, E. G. Udristioiu, and H. Y. Aboul-Enein, "X-Ray Diffraction: Instrumentation and Applications," *Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 289-299, 2015, doi: 10.1080/10408347.2014.949616.
- [110] L. D. Whittig and W. R. Allardice, "X-Ray Diffraction Techniques," in *Methods of Soil Analysis*, A. Klute Ed.: Soil Science Society of America, 1986, ch. 5, pp. 331-362.
- [111] H. Stanjek and W. Häusler, "Basics of X-ray Diffraction," *Hyperfine Interactions,* vol. 154, 1, pp. 107-119, 2004, doi: 10.1023/B:HYPE.0000032028.60546.38.
- [112] B. E. Warren, "X-Ray Diffraction Methods," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 375-384, 1941, doi: 10.1063/1.1712915.
- [113] S. Rein, "Lifetime Measurement Techniques," in *Lifetime Spectroscopy*: Springer, 2005.
- [114] A. L. Blum, J. S. Swirhun, R. A. Sinton, F. Yan, S. Herasimenka, T. Roth, K. Lauer, J. Haunschild, B. Lim, K. Bothe, Z. Hameiri, B. Seipel, R. Xiong, M. Dhamrin, and J. D. Murphy, "Interlaboratory Study of Eddy-Current Measurement of Excess-Carrier Recombination Lifetime," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 525-531, 2014, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2013.2284375.
- [115] KPTechnology, "Scanning Kelvin probe with surface photovoltage system manual," 2020.
- [116] I. D. Baikie, S. Mackenzie, P. J. Z. Estrup, and J. A. Meyer, "Noise and the Kelvin method," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 62, no. 5, pp. 1326-1332, 1991, doi: 10.1063/1.1142494.
- [117] R. S. Bonilla, "Modelling of Kelvin probe surface voltage and photovoltage in dielectric-semiconductor interfaces," *Materials Research Express*, vol. 9, no. 8, p. 085901, 2022, doi: 10.1088/2053-1591/ac84c8.
- [118] D. K. Schroder, "Surface voltage and surface photovoltage: history, theory and applications," *Measurement Science and Technology*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. R16-R31, 2001, doi: 10.1088/0957-0233/12/3/202.
- [119] J. Sinkkonen, S. Novikov, and A. Varpula, "Characterization of surface states by SPVtransient," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 255, no. 3, pp. 662-664, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2008.07.008.
- [120] B. L. Henson, "A derivation of Warburg's law for point to plane coronas," *Journal of Applied Physics,* vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 3921-3923, 1981, doi: 10.1063/1.329241.
- [121] R. S. Bonilla, C. Reichel, M. Hermle, P. Hamer, and P. R. Wilshaw, "Long term stability of c-Si surface passivation using corona charged SiO₂," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 412, no. 7, pp. 657-667, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2017.03.204.
- [122] R. S. Bonilla, N. Jennison, D. Clayton-Warwick, K. A. Collett, L. Rands, and P. R. Wilshaw, "Corona Charge in SiO₂: Kinetics and Surface Passivation for High Efficiency Silicon Solar Cells," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 92, pp. 326-335, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2016.07.090.
- [123] G. Dingemans, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Influence of the Deposition Temperature on the c-Si Surface Passivation by Al₂O₃ Films Synthesized by ALD and PECVD," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 13, no. 3, p. H76, 2009, doi: 10.1149/1.3276040.
- [124] B. Hoex, J. Schmidt, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Crystalline silicon surface passivation by the negative-charge-dielectric Al₂O₃," in *IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists*, 2008, vol. 33: IEEE, pp. 1-4, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2008.4922635.
- [125] M. Wilson, J. Lagowski, L. Jastrzebski, A. Savtchouk, and V. Faifer, "COCOS (corona oxide characterization of semiconductor) non-contact metrology for gate dielectrics," in *American Institute of Physics*, 2001, vol. 550, no. 1, pp. 220-225, doi: 10.1063/1.1354401.

- [126] R. H. Cox and H. Strack, "Ohmic contacts for GaAs devices," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1213-1214, 1967, doi: 10.1016/0038-1101(67)90063-9.
- [127] B. van Wijngaarden, J. Yang, and J. Schmitz, "Inaccuracies in contact resistivity from the Cox-Strack method: A review," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 246, p. 111909, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2022.111909.
- [128] W. Wang, H. Lin, Z. Yang, Z. Wang, J. Wang, L. Zhang, M. Liao, Y. Zeng, P. Gao, B. Yan, and J. Ye, "An Expanded Cox and Strack Method for Precise Extraction of Specific Contact Resistance of Transition Metal Oxide/*n*-silicon Heterojunction," *IEEE Journal* of Photovoltaics, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 1113-1120, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2019.2917386.
- [129] S. K. Cheung, "Extraction of Schottky diode parameters from forward current-voltage characteristics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 49, no. 2, p. 85, 1986, doi: 10.1063/1.97359.
- [130] J. H. Choi, Y. Mao, and J. P. Chang, "Development of hafnium based high-k materials—A review," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports,* vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 97-136, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.mser.2010.12.001.
- [131] V. A. Gritsenko, T. V. Perevalov, and D. R. Islamov, "Electronic properties of hafnium oxide: A contribution from defects and traps," *Physics Reports*, vol. 613, pp. 1-20, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.physrep.2015.11.002.
- [132] H. Mulaosmanovic, E. T. Breyer, S. Dünkel, S. Beyer, T. Mikolajick, and S. Slesazeck, "Ferroelectric field-effect transistors based on HfO₂: A Review," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 32, no. 50, p. 502002, 2021, doi: 10.1088/1361-6528/ac189f.
- [133] M. Pešić, F. Fengler, L. Larcher, A. Padovani, T. Schenk, E. D. Grimley, X. Sang, J. M. LeBeau, S. Slesazeck, U. Schroeder, and T. Mikolajick, "Physical Mechanisms behind the Field-Cycling Behaviour of HfO₂-Based Ferroelectric Capacitors," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 26, no. 25, pp. 4601-4612, 2016, doi: 10.1002/adfm.201600590.
- [134] J. M. Khoshman, A. Khan, and M. E. Kordesch, "Amorphous hafnium oxide thin films for antireflection optical coatings," *Surface and Coatings Technology*, vol. 202, no. 11, pp. 2500-2502, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.surfcoat.2007.07.095.
- [135] S. M. George and Y. Lee, "Prospects for Thermal Atomic Layer Etching Using Sequential, Self-Limiting Flourination and Ligand-Exchange Reactions," ACS Nano, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 4889–4894, 2016, doi: 10.1021/acsnano.6b02991.
- [136] K. J. Kanarik, T. Lill, E. A. Hudson, S. Sriraman, S. Tan, J. Marks, V. Vahedi, and R. A. Gottscho, "Overview of atomic layer etching in the semiconductor industry," *journal of Vacuum Science & Technology*, vol. 33, p. 020802, 2015, doi: 10.1116/1.4913379.
- [137] A. Fischer, A. Routzahn, S. M. George, and T. Lill, "Thermal atomic layer etching: A review," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology*, vol. 39, no. 3, p. 030801, 2021, doi: 10.1116/6.0000894.
- [138] I. R. Hooper, L. E. Barr, S. Saxena, E. Hendry, E. Khorani, X. Romain, T. Niewelt, A. Wratten, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Engineering the carrier lifetime and switching speed in Si-based mm-wave photomodulators," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 132, no. 23, p. 233102, 2023, doi: 10.1063/5.0128234.
- [139] K. Xu, W. Sun, Y. Shao, F. Wei, X. Zhang, and P. Li, "Recent development of PeakForce Tapping mode atomic force microscope and its applications on nanoscience," *Nanotechnology Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 605-621, 2018, doi: 10.1515/ntrev-2018-0086.
- [140] G. A. C. M. Spierings, "Wet chemical etching of silicate glasses in hydroflouric acid based solutions," *Journal of Materials Science*, vol. 28, pp. 6261-6273, 1993, doi: 10.1007/BF01352182.

- [141] G. Masmitjà, P. Ortega, I. Martin, J. Pérez, G. López, E. Calle, L. G. Gerling, C. Voz, and R. Alcubilla, "Cost-effective cleaning solutions based on H₂O/NH₃/H₂O₂ mixtures for ALD Al₂O₃ passivated IBC c-Si solar cells," in *Spanish Conference on Electron Devices*, 2017: IEEE, doi: 10.1109/CDE.2017.7905228.
- [142] C. E. Curtis, L. M. Doney, and J. R. Johnson, "Some Properties of Hafnium Oxide, Hafnium Silicate, Calcium Hafnate, and Hafnium Carbide," *Journal of the American Ceramic Society*, vol. 37, no. 10, pp. 458-465, 1954, doi: 10.1111/j.1151-2916.1954.tb13977.x.
- [143] L. M. Landsberger, S. Naseh, M. Kahrizi, and M. Paranjape, "On hillocks generated during anisotropic etching of Si in TMAH," *Journal of Microelectromechanical Systems*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 106-116, 1996, doi: 10.1109/84.506198.
- [144] P. Papet, O. Nichiporuk, A. Kaminski, Y. Rozier, J. Kraiem, J. F. Lelievre, A. Chaumartin, A. Fave, and M. Lemiti, "Pyramidal texturing of silicon solar cells with TMAH chemical anisotropic etching," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 90, no. 15, pp. 2319-2328, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2006.03.005.
- [145] K. Lancaster, S. Großer, F. Feldmann, V. Naumann, and C. Hagendorf, "Study of Pinhole Conductivity at Passivated Carrier-selected Contacts of Silicon Solar Cells," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 92, pp. 116-121, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2016.07.040.
- [146] J. Kim, M. Ju, Y. Kim, and J. Yi, "Chemical stoichiometry effect of hafnium oxide (HfO_x) for passivation layer of PERC solar cells," *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, vol. 148, p. 106833, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.mssp.2022.106833.
- [147] D. Suh, "Etch Characteristics and Morphology of Al₂O₃/TiO₂ Stacks for Silicon Surface Passivation," *Sustainability*, vol. 11, no. 14, p. 3857, 2019, doi: 10.3390/su11143857.
- [148] M. Rahm, J.-S. Li, and W. J. Padilla, "THz Wave Modulators: A Brief Review on Different Modulation Techniques," *Journal of Infrared, Millimeter, and Terahertz Waves,* vol. 37, pp. 1-27, 2012, doi: 10.1007/s10762-012-9946-2.
- [149] I. R. Hooper, N. E. Grant, L. E. Barr, S. M. Hornett, J. D. Murphy, and E. Hendry, "High efficiency photomodulators for millimeter wave and THz radiation," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 18304, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-54011-6.
- [150] A. Wratten, D. Walker, E. Khorani, B. F. M. Healy, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Hafnium oxide: a thin film dielectric with controllable etch resistance for semiconductor device fabrication," *AIP Advances*, vol. 13, p. 065113, 2023, doi: 10.1063/5.0144639.
- [151] N. E. Grant, V. P. Markevich, J. Mullins, A. R. Peaker, F. Rougieux, D. Macdonald, and J. D. Murphy, "Permanent annihilation of thermally activated defects which limit the lifetime of float-zone silicon," *Physica Status Solidi (A) Applications and Materials Science*, vol. 213, no. 11, pp. 2844-2849, 2016, doi: 10.1002/pssa.201600360.
- T. Niewelt, B. Steinhauser, A. Richter, B. Veith-Wolf, A. Fell, B. Hammann, N. E. Grant, L. Black, J. Tan, A. Youssef, J. D. Murphy, J. Schmidt, M. C. Schubert, and S. W. Glunz, "Reassessment of the intrinsic bulk recombination in crystalline silicon," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 235, p. 111467, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2021.111467.
- [153] D. E. Kane and R. M. Swanson, "Measurement of the emitter saturation current by a contactless decay method," *18th IEEE PVSC,* pp. 578-583, 1985.
- [154] A. I. Pointon, N. E. Grant, E. C. Wheeler-Jones, P. P. Altermatt, and J. D. Murphy, "Superacid-derived surface passivation for measurement of ultra-long lifetimes in silicon photovoltaic materials," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 183, pp. 164-172, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.03.028.
- [155] A. I. Pointon, N. E. Grant, S. L. Pain, J. T. White, and J. D. Murphy, "Sub-2 cm/s passivation of silicon surfaces by aprotic solutions," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 116, no. 12, p. 121601, 2020, doi: 10.1063/5.0003704.

- B. H. Toby and R. B. Von Dreele, "GSAS-II: the genesis of a modern open-source all purpose crystallogrpahy software package," *Journal of Applied Crystallography*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 544-549, 2013, doi: 10.1107/S0021889813003531.
- [157] R. S. Bonilla, F. Woodcock, and P. R. Wilshaw, "Very low surface recombination velocity in n-type c-Si using extrinsic field effect passivation," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 116, no. 5, p. 054102, 2014, doi: 10.1063/1.4892099.
- [158] K. R. McIntosh and L. E. Black, "On effective surface recombination parameters," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 116, no. 1, p. 014503, 2014, doi: 10.1063/1.4886595.
- [159] G. D. Watkins, "Intrinsic defects in silicon," *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 227-235, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S1369-8001(00)00037-8.
- [160] F. E. Rougieux, N. E. Grant, and D. Macdonald, "Thermal deactivation of lifetimelimiting grown-in point defects in n-type Czochralski silicon wafers," *Physica Status Solidi - Rapid Research Letters*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 616-618, 2013, doi: 10.1002/pssr.201308053.
- [161] N. E. Grant, V. P. Markevich, J. Mullins, A. R. Peaker, F. Rougieux, and D. Macdonald, "Thermal activation and deactivation of grown-in defects limiting the lifetime of float-zone silicon," *Physica Status Solidi - Rapid Research Letters*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 443-447, 2016, doi: 10.1002/pssr.201600080.
- [162] M. Broas, O. Kanninen, V. Vuorinen, M. Tilli, and M. Paulasto-Kröckel, "Chemically Stable Atomic-Layer-Deposited Al₂O₃ Films for Processability," ACS Omega, vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 3390-3398, 2017, doi: 10.1021/acsomega.7b00443.
- [163] I. S. Yu, Y. W. Wang, H. E. Cheng, Z. P. Yang, and C. T. Lin, "Surface Passivation and Antireflection Behavior of ALD TiO₂ on n-Type Silicon for Solar Cells," *International Journal of Photoenergy*, p. 431614, 2013, doi: 10.1155/2013/431614.
- [164] T. Matsui, M. Bivour, P. F. Ndione, R. S. Bonilla, and M. Hermle, "Origin of the tunable carrier selectivity of atomic-layer-deposited TiO_x nanolayers in crystalline silicon solar cells," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 209, p. 110461, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110461.
- [165] W. Melitz, J. Shen, A. C. Kummel, and S. Lee, "Kelvin probe force microscopy and its application," *Surface Science Reports*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 1-27, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.surfrep.2010.10.001.
- [166] R. Hezel and K. Jaeger, "Low-Temperature Surface Passivation of Silicon for Solar Cells," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 136, no. 2, p. 518, 1989, doi: 10.1149/1.2096673.
- [167] G. Dingemans and W. M. M. Kessels, "Aluminum Oxide and Other ALD Materials for Si Surface Passivation," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 293-301, 2011, doi: 10.1149/1.3633680.
- [168] S. L. Pain, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, A. Wratten, M. Walker, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Stable chemical enhancement of passivating nanolayer structures grown by atomic layer deposition on silicon," *Nanoscale*, 2023.
- [169] M. Hermle, F. Feldmann, M. Bivour, J. C. Goldschmidt, and S. W. Glunz, "Passivating contacts and tandem concepts: Approaches for the highest silicon-based solar cell efficiencies," *Applied Physics Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. 021305, 2020, doi: 10.1063/1.5139202.
- [170] R. V. K. Chavali, S. De Wolf, and M. A. Alam, "Device physics underlying silicon heterojunction and passivating-contact solar cells: A review," *Progress in Photovoltaics*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 241-260, 2018, doi: 10.1002/pip.2959.
- [171] C. Yu, S. Xu, J. Yao, and S. Han, "Recent Advances in and New Perspectives on Crystalline Silicon Solar Cells with Carrier-Selective Passivation Contacts," *Crystals*, vol. 8, no. 11, p. 430, 2018, doi: 10.3390/cryst8110430.
- [172] B. Min, M. Müller, H. Wagner, G. Fischer, R. Brendel, P. P. Altermatt, and H. Neuhaus, "A Roadmap Toward 24% Efficient PERC Solar Cells in Industrial Mass Production,"

IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 1541 - 1550, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2017.2749007.

- [173] F. Haase, C. Hollemann, S. Schäfer, A. Merkle, M. Rienäcker, J. Krügener, R. Brendel, and R. Peibst, "Laser contact openings for local poly-Si-metal contacts enabling 26.1%-efficient POLO-IBS solar cells," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 186, pp. 184-193, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.06.020.
- [174] Z. Xin, Z. P. Ling, P. Wang, J. Ge, C. Ke, K. B. Choi, A. G. Aberle, and R. Stangl, "Ultrathin atomic layer deposited aluminium oxide tunnel layer passivated hole-selective contacts for silicon solar cells," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 191, pp. 164-174, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.11.011.
- [175] G. Kaur, Z. Xin, R. Sridharan, A. Danner, and R. Stangl, "Engineering aluminium oxide/polysilicon hole selective passivated contacts for high efficiency solar cells," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 218, p. 110758, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110758.
- [176] D. L. Young, K. Chen, S. Theingi, V. LaSalvia, D. Diercks, H. Guthrey, W. Nemeth, M. Page, and P. Stradins, "Reactive ion etched, self-aligned, selective area poly-Si/SiO₂ passivated contacts," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 217, p. 110621, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110621.
- [177] Y. Y. Huang, Y. W. Ok, K. Madani, W. Choi, A. Upadhyaya, V. Upadhyaya, B. Rounsaville, V. Chandrasekaran, and A. Rohatgi, "~23% rear side poly-si/SiO₂ passivated silicon solar cell with optimized ion-implanted boron emitter and screen-printed contacts," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 230, p. 111183, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2021.11183.
- [178] J. Melskens, B. W. H. Van De Loo, B. Macco, L. E. Black, S. Smit, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Passivating Contacts for Crystalline Silicon Solar Cells: From Concepts and Materials to Prospects," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 373-388, 2018, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2018.2797106.
- [179] A. Campa, F. Smole, N. Folchert, T. Wietler, B. Min, R. Brendel, and M. Topic, "Detailed Analysis and Understanding of the Transport Mechanism of Poly-Si-Based Carrier Selective Junctions," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 1575-1582, 2019, doi: 10.1109/jphotov2019.2943610.
- [180] Ultratech/Cambridge Nanotech, "Fiji HfO₂ Thermal and Plasma," 2015.
- [181] A. Cuevas, "The Recombination Parameter J₀," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 55, pp. 53-62, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2014.08.073.
- [182] R. Eberle, A. Fell, T. Niewelt, Schindlet, and M. C. Schubert, "Analysis of temperature dependent surface recombination properties," in *SiliconPV*, 2019, vol. 2147: AIP Conf. Proc., p. 140001, doi: 10.1063/1.5123888.
- [183] B. Hammann, B. Steinhauser, A. Fell, R. Post, T. Niewelt, W. Kwapil, A. Wolf, A. Richter, H. Höffler, and M. C. Schubert, "Quantifying Surface Recombination Improvements in Determination and Simulation of the Surface Recombination Parameter J_{0s}," *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 535-546, 2023, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2023.3265859.
- [184] B. O. Cho, J. P. Chang, J. H. Min, S. H. Moon, Y. W. Kim, and I. Levin, "Material characteristics of electrically tunable zirconium oxide thin films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 745-749, 2003, doi: 10.1063/1.1525044.
- [185] P. S. Lysaght, J. C. Woicik, M. A. Sahiner, B. H. Lee, and R. Jammy, "Incipient amorphous-to-crystalline transition in HfO₂ as a function of thickness scaling and anneal temperature," *Journal of non-crystalline solids*, vol. 354, no. 2-9, pp. 399-403, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2007.07.050.
- [186] A. Wratten, S. L. Pain, A. Yadav, E. Khorani, T. Niewelt, L. Black, G. Bartholazzi, D. Walker, N. E. Grant, and J. D. Murphy, "Exploring hafnium oxide's potential for

passivating contacts for silicon solar cells," *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells,* vol. 259, p. 112457, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2023.112457.

- [187] F. Feldmann, G. Nogay, J.-I. Polzin, B. Steinhauser, A. Richter, A. Fell, C. Schmiga, M. Hermle, and S. W. Glunz, "A Study on the Charge Carrier Transport of Passivating Contacts," *IEEE J. Photovolt.*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 1503-1509, 2018, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2018.2870735.
- [188] C. L. Anderson, W. Nemeth, H. Guthrey, C.-S. Jiang, M. R. Page, S. Agrarwal, and P. Stradins, "Nanopinhole Passivating Contact Si Solar Cells Fabricated with Metal-Assisted Chemical Etching," *Advanced Energy Materials*, vol. 13, no. 11, p. 2203579, 2023, doi: 10.1002/aenm.202203579.